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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Year ended August 31,

(in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005 % Increase

Net sales $ 7,555,924 $ 6,592,697 15
Net earnings 356,347 285,781 25
Diluted earnings per share 2.89 2.32 * 25
Net working capital 962,486 808,975 19
Cash dividends per share 0.17 0.12 * 42
Cash dividends paid 20,212 13,652 48
Average diluted shares 

outstanding 123,459,069 123,380,174 —
Stockholders’ equity 1,220,104 899,561 36
Stockholders’ equity per share 10.35 7.74 * 34
Total assets 2,898,868 2,332,922 24

*Adjusted for May 2006 stock split.

TONNAGES SHIPPED

(short tons in thousands) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Domestic steel mill rebar shipments 1,102 944 1,014 1,007 971
Domestic steel mill structural and 

other shipments 1,390 1,322 1,387 1,277 1,200
CMCZ shipments 1,250 1,092 1,082 — —
Total mill tons shipped 3,742 3,358 3,483 2,284 2,171
Fab plant rebar shipments 1,092 890 829 611 521
Fab plant structural, joist 

and post shipments 553 452 421 365 425
Total fabrication tons shipped 1,645 1,342 1,250 976 946
Domestic scrap metal tons 

processed and shipped 3,697 3,331 3,411 2,811 2,568

Commercial Metals Company and subsidiaries manufacture, recycle

and market steel and metal products, related materials and services

through a network including steel minimills, steel fabrication and 

processing plants, construction-related product warehouses, a copper

tube mill, metal recycling facilities and marketing and distribution

offices in the United States and in strategic overseas markets. 
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In fiscal 2006, Commercial Metals Company’s
steel mills shipped 3.7 million tons; our copper
tube mill shipped 65.7 million pounds; our 
steel fabrication plants shipped 1.6 million tons;
our recycling plants processed 3.7 million tons 
of scrap metal; and our Marketing & Distribution
segment bought and sold several million more
tons of metals and raw materials.

Clearly, demand for our products this year was
high. And we believe it’s going to remain high for
years to come. And that’s just one of the reasons
we’re confident. This year’s report will detail the
great year we had and the reasons why we
believe there are more excellent years ahead.
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For the year ended August 31, 2006, your Company reported
record annual net earnings per diluted share of $2.89 and
record net earnings of $356 million on net sales of $7.6

billion. This compares with net earnings per diluted share
of $2.32 and net earnings of $286 million on net sales of
$6.6 billion last year. The current year included a pre-tax
LIFO expense of $77.9 million ($0.41 per diluted share)
compared with a pre-tax LIFO expense of $19.3 million
($0.10 per diluted share) in the previous year. The LIFO

inventory reserve grew to $189.3 million. The prior year
included pre-tax income of $20.1 million resulting from the
settlement of business interruption claims for transformer
failures at the Texas and South Carolina steel minimills.
The effective tax rate for fiscal 2006 decreased to 33.9%

because of a segment shift in operating income plus the
repatriation of certain unremitted foreign earnings. The net
income return on beginning equity was 40%.

What a sensational year! The stars were aligned in fiscal
2006. All five business segments had a great year with
domestic mills (both steel and copper tube), the Polish
steel operation and recycling especially outstanding. Market
conditions were very favorable, in particular non-residential
construction in the U.S. and Central Europe. But our execution
also was excellent. And, just as surely, our long-enacted
strategy of vertical integration and diversification, the very

strategy which has helped us profitably withstand more
challenging market conditions, has placed us in a position
to reap maximum benefits from positive circumstances as
well, which we have demonstrated over the past three
years. Moreover, we again managed well the pricing volatility
in our markets. International markets were impacted, by
varying degrees, to lower steel prices in the first half of fiscal
2006. However, there was a strong recovery during the second
half of the year, although some markets (notably China)
experienced declining prices during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2006. We increased our business both globally and
regionally within the U.S. We grew through acquisitions as
well as brownfield and greenfield investments. We expanded
via product and geographic diversification.

Some specific objectives that were achieved include:
1) Successfully commissioning the new continuous caster

at Seguin, Texas; 
2) A significant turnaround at CMCZ, including key 

organizational changes;
3) An excellent start up for the mega-shredder and rebar fab

shop at CMCZ, as well as melt shop improvements; and
4) Successfully branding “CMC” across the Company.
There were no real disappointments in fiscal 2006.

Because of the rising steel prices, our fabrication businesses
did sustain some margin squeeze. When prices stabilize or

TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS



[ 4 ]

fall, the margins will again improve significantly. Most of our
businesses are at or near full capacity as currently configured.

The theme of this year’s annual report is why CMC has
tremendous confidence in its future. 

Domestic Mills In fiscal 2006, we far exceeded the excellent
performance of fiscal 2005 and set numerous sales, production
and shipment records while we benefited from record high
metal spreads. End-user demand generally was good, but it
is important to note that our inventory management was
excellent in a steel market in which many buyers were
reducing their own inventories during a good part of the
year. Segment adjusted operating profit of $301 million in
fiscal 2006 was 29% above the $233 million recorded
in fiscal 2005. This year’s increase in the LIFO reserve
was $28.8 million compared with $8.2 million last year.
Last year included as well the income from the business
interruption claims.

Within the segment, net sales for the four domestic steel
mills jumped 18% to an historic high $1.4 billion. The
record adjusted operating profit of $264 million this year
compared with $228 million the prior year. In addition to
many production and shipment records, our safety performance
was outstanding. Pre-tax LIFO expense was $15.5 million
versus an expense of $7.7 million one year ago. On a year-

to-year basis, tonnage melted was up 7% to 2.32 million
tons; tonnage rolled was 2.20 million tons, 9% above last
year; and shipments increased 10% to 2.49 million tons. Our
average total mill selling price was $40 above last year at
$513 per ton, while the average scrap purchase cost rose by
$20 per ton. The FIFO metal margin based on scrap utilized
increased $24 per ton to $299 per ton. Meanwhile, supplies
and other input costs rose almost across the board. The net
result, though, was considerably higher profitability.

The copper tube mill recorded an adjusted operating
profit of $37.0 million versus last year’s $5.1 million. The LIFO

effect was a pre-tax expense of $13.4 million compared
with a modest expense the prior year. While the average
cost of copper scrap rose 66% to $2.29 per pound, the
average sales price of our copper tube jumped even more,
by 73% to $3.35 per pound. Accordingly, the FIFO metal
margin increased from $0.64 per pound to $1.39 per
pound. The improved spread was due, in part, to an expanded
mix of higher value-added products. Sales of plumbing tube
were down, both from the slowdown in residential construction
and the high price of copper, leading buyers to postpone
purchases. Our mill did an excellent job of matching output
to order intake. For the year, copper tube production
increased 2% to 63.3 million pounds, while shipments
declined modestly to 65.7 million pounds.

2006 EARNINGS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Domestic Mills 50%
CMCZ 8%
Domestic Fabrication 16%
Recycling 16%
Marketing 10%

2006 CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES

Domestic Mills 37%
CMCZ 28%
Domestic Fabrication 21%
Recycling 10%
Marketing 4%

2006 DEPRECIATION 
AND AMORTIZATION

Domestic Mills 41%
CMCZ 28%
Domestic Fabrication 18%
Recycling 10%
Marketing 3%

2006 NET SALES

Domestic Mills 19%
CMCZ 7%
Domestic Fabrication 22%
Recycling 16%
Marketing 36%
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CMCZ The Polish steel mill and related operations showed
a tremendous turnaround with excellent results by year end
after a relatively slow start. For the year, the segment’s
adjusted operating profit was $52.8 million compared with
an essentially breakeven performance (on a 100%-owned
basis) in fiscal 2005. This year tons melted were 1.28 million,
rolled tons equaled 1.12 million, and shipments totaled 1.25

million tons. For the prior year, the numbers were 1.1 million,
871 thousand, and 1.09 million tons, respectively.
Meanwhile, the average selling price climbed to PLN 1,388

per ton from PLN 1,376 per ton, while the average scrap
purchase cost decreased to PLN 629 per ton from PLN 650

per ton. The metal spread based on raw materials consumed
rose from PLN 586 per ton to PLN 660 per ton.

The internal measures we took toward the end of fiscal
2005 to improve our scrap procurement and steel marketing
efficiency and effectiveness were extremely beneficial.

We continued to implement our basic strategy for CMCZ,
which is to follow the vertical integration model that has
been so successful for us in North America. The lead capital
project was the installation of a scrap mega-shredder on
the mill site which started up successfully during May
2006, followed by an equally successful commissioning in
July 2006 of a greenfield rebar fabrication plant at the
Zawiercie site.

Domestic Fabrication As we expected, our downstream
businesses achieved excellent results, although profitability
was impacted by the rising steel mill prices. Our primary non-
residential construction markets, both private and public,
were strong and generally improving throughout the year.

Adjusted operating profit was $96 million, compared
with the historically high $102 million in fiscal 2005. LIFO

expense this year was $20.0 million versus $6.6 million
last year. Clearly, we continued to benefit from a number of
acquisitions made over the past several years along with
organic growth. Shipments from our fab plants totaled 1.65

million tons, 23% above fiscal 2005.
Within this segment, prices were mostly higher and

volumes up almost across-the-board. All product areas –
rebar fabrication, construction-related products (CRP),
steel joist manufacturing, steel fence post fabrication, 
cellular beam fabrication, structural steel fabrication and
heat treating – contributed to the profitability.

Acquisitions during the year added to our downstream
capability in the United States: in November 2005, a rebar
fabrication facility in eastern Virginia and in July 2006 and
August 2006, new locations associated with construction-
related products in Oklahoma, Arkansas, Arizona, and California.

New CMC Branding

In fiscal 2006, the Company implemented a new global branding initiative, bringing

our ever-expanding corporate family together with one consistent, global look. In 

our new identity system, all members of the CMC family will have CMC in their names

and will share our new look, so our customers the world over will always know when

they’re doing business with CMC. We are also uniting the Company’s websites under

one domain name, cmc.com. To help launch our new logo, and in recognition of 

the importance of safety to our operations worldwide, CMC issued a hard hat with our

new logo to all employees. 



Recycling It was the third consecutive record year for CMC
Recycling (CMCR). Once again we managed through high
volatility in the ferrous and nonferrous scrap markets. On
balance, though, ferrous scrap prices were stronger, and
volume was up significantly. Nonferrous prices were at
record highs throughout the fiscal year, although consumer
demand for scrap varied; nonetheless, volume also
increased significantly.

Adjusted operating profit for fiscal 2006 was $100.0 million
on net sales of $1.36 billion compared with fiscal 2005’s
adjusted operating profit of $70.8 million on net sales of
$896.9 million. This year’s LIFO expense was $12.5 million
versus an expense of $3.0 million the prior year. 

Versus last year, the average ferrous scrap sales price
increased by 9% to $203 per ton and shipments rose 15%

to 2.15 million tons. The average nonferrous scrap sales
price for the year was approximately 52% above a year
ago, while shipments were 12% higher at 327 thousand

tons. The total volume of scrap processed, including all our
processing plants, equaled 3.70 million tons against 3.33

million tons last year.
During the fourth quarter, we acquired substantially all

the operating assets of Yonack Iron & Metal and affiliates
with locations in Texas, Oklahoma and Arkansas.

Marketing & Distribution It was another outstanding year
for this segment in fiscal 2006 following the record fiscal
2005, reflecting again broad-based, robust sales and higher
gross margins. International market conditions were mostly
favorable. While China continued to be a significant factor
in our growth and a contributor to strong markets, we were
able in all of our divisions to increase volume in existing
product lines and to diversify into new products and source
or sell in new markets. Important market areas for us
included the U.S.A., China, other Asia, Australia, Germany,
the U.K. and Central Europe.

Adjusted operating profit for this segment in fiscal 2006

equaled $69.8 million, which compared with $90.4 million
in fiscal 2005. LIFO expense was $16.6 million this year
against an expense of $1.5 million last year. Profitability
was mixed by product area, but relatively strong in most,
especially steel marketing and industrial raw materials.

Our value-added downstream and processing businesses
continued to generate good profits in the current year,
albeit lower than the previous fiscal year.

Financial Condition Our financial position remained strong.
At year end, long-term debt as a percentage of total
capitalization was 20.4%, and the ratio of total debt to
total capitalization plus short-term debt was 26.1%. Both
ratios included the debt of CMCZ which has recourse only
to the assets of CMCZ. Our working capital was $962 million,
and the current ratio was 1.8. Our coverage ratios were strong.

During the year we repurchased 3.47 million shares of
the Company’s common stock at an average price of
$22.67 per share.

Stock Split/Increased Stock Dividend On May 22, 2006,
the Company completed a two-for-one stock split in the
form of a 100% stock dividend with the distribution of the
additional shares to shareholders of record May 8, 2006. At
the time the split was announced, the Company also stated
its intent to institute a quarterly cash dividend of 6 cents
per share on the increased number of shares resulting from
the stock dividend. The board of directors subsequently
increased the quarterly cash dividend to this increased rate
of 6 cents per share. After the effect of the additional
shares resulting from the split, this new cash dividend rate
represents a 20% increase from the prior quarterly rate and
a 100% increase in the cash dividend rate over a four
month period.

Fiscal 2007 Capital Plan Capital spending for fiscal 2006

totaled $131 million, which was below plan because of the
timing of certain projects. The fiscal 2007 capital plan
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envisions expenditure of $201 million. About $50 million,
or 25%, represents carryover projects. The new plan is 
targeting improvements in raw material procurement,
supply chain management, operating efficiencies, 
product mix management, product and market development,
quality and safety enhancements, improved systems, and
further transportation capabilities. 

Near-Term Outlook Five key assumptions for fiscal 2007 are:
1) The U.S. economy will remain relatively strong, and non-

residential construction will continue to be robust;
2) China will continue with economic growth of 8-10%

per annum, and the rest of Australia/Asia will do 
well economically;

3) Non-residential construction in Poland and the 
surrounding areas will remain strong;

4) The U.S. dollar will not strengthen materially; and
5) The relatively high level of steel imports will moderate.
We are optimistic for fiscal 2007, although we must be

wary of the dampening effect of high petroleum prices on the
global economy and the decline in residential construction
in the United States. Still, the U.S. economy, in particular,
has proved to be quite resilient. Also, by the end of the year
it appeared that the issue of excess inventories in the steel
chain had run its course. The passage of the multi-year
transportation bill in the United States during August 2005

was especially favorable. We also are anticipating continued
strong steel demand in Asia and Europe, although
increased availability will have a moderating effect. The
high level of steel, ferrous scrap and nonferrous prices is a
positive omen.

Long-Term Outlook Major structural changes have occurred
in our various industry sectors, including globalization,
consolidation and rapidly growing per capita consumption
of steel and other metals in some key developing countries,
led by the explosive growth in China and other emerging
nations. It is true that production has grown as well, but we
believe that expansion going forward will be prudent, yielding
a favorable supply/demand situation.

Global infrastructure spending should be a key driver,
including the United States. We expect to see continued
upward pressure on input costs, but supply and product
prices that will adjust to enable us to maintain relatively
high metal spreads and strong shipping levels.

Succession Planning In accordance with Commercial
Metals Company’s established succession plan, we announced
on July 24, 2006, that the board of directors named Murray
R. McClean chief executive officer effective September 1,
2006. In addition, Mr. McClean was elected a director of
the Company effective immediately. Mr. McClean formerly
was president and chief operating officer. He continued in
his capacity as president in addition to his new position as
chief executive officer. Mr. Rabin continued in his role as
chairman of the board. McClean’s former position of COO

was not filled.
In January, A. Leo Howell retired as president of CMC

Howell Metal and as a member of the board of directors
after 40 years of dedicated service. Leo was the founder of
Howell Metal Company in 1966 and was instrumental in
the growth of the company. In addition, after 43 years of
service, Clyde Selig announced he was stepping down from

The Super-Cycle

Though steel has traditionally been viewed as a cyclical industry, many experts 

forecast that the industry is entering a decades-long “super-cycle” driven by the

intense demand of developing markets such as China, India, Russia and Brazil.

Demand will continue to rise and fall, but at higher levels overall.
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his position as president and chief executive officer of the
CMC Steel Group and did not stand for reelection as a
director of the board. Although Clyde will not be active in
the day-to-day activities of the CMC Steel Group, he remains
with CMC as an advisor to the CEO and continues to be
especially active with CMC Zawiercie and other CMC entities.
Both gentlemen are well respected in their respective
industries and are honored by their colleagues. As announced
then, Leo was succeeded by Jim Forkovitch and Clyde by
Russ Rinn.

Cautionary Statement This letter to stockholders contains
forward-looking statements regarding the outlook for the
Company’s financial results including net earnings, product
pricing and demand, production rates, energy expense,
raw material prices, inventory levels, and general market
conditions. These forward-looking statements generally
can be identified by phrases such as the Company or its
management “expect,” “anticipates,” “believe,” “ought,”
“should,” “likely,” “appears,” “projected,” “forecast,”
“presumes,” “will,” or other words or phrases of similar
impact. There is inherent risk and uncertainty in any forward-
looking statements. Variances will occur and some could be
materially different from management’s current opinion.
Developments that could impact the Company’s expectations
include construction activity, difficulties or delays in the
execution of construction contracts resulting in cost overruns
or contract disputes, metals pricing over which the
Company exerts little influence, increased capacity and
product availability from competing steel minimills and other
steel suppliers including import quantities and pricing, court
decisions, industry consolidation or changes in production
capacity or utilization, global factors including political and
military uncertainties, credit availability, currency fluctuations,
energy and supply prices, and decisions by governments
impacting the level of steel imports and pace of overall
economic activity, particularly China.

Stanley A. Rabin
Chairman of the Board

Murray R. McClean 
President & Chief Executive Officer

(L to R) Stanley A. Rabin, Murray R. McClean



OUR STRENGTH IN 
DEVELOPED MARKETS.
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ver the course of nine decades, CMC has established itself as a
high-quality, low-cost producer and supplier of steel and other metals and
metal-related products to customers across the United States, Europe, 
Asia, Australia and other developed markets. CMC’s vertical integration and
breadth of products position us to meet more of the metal needs of 
customers in developing countries.
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n the years ahead, demand for steel and other metals will be 
very high in developing nations, particularly China, India, Russia and
Brazil. The metal intensity – measured in kilograms per capita – of 
these markets is forecast to continue to dramatically increase for years.
CMC is well-positioned to serve these emerging markets.

THE DEMANDS OF 
A DEVELOPING WORLD.
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rom Arkansas to Zawiercie, CMC is a global company with over 
11 thousand employees in 12 nations. We offer an array of metal and
related products and services to customers worldwide. And we 
have the financial strength to expand our services through strategic 
acquisitions so we’ll be able to offer more products and services to
more customers in more countries in the years ahead.

THE POWER OF OUR  
GLOBAL PRESENCE.
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n metals as in many industries, success breeds success. CMC’s
sound management and commitment to being an efficient, high-quality,
low-cost producer and processor have led to 91 years of history and 29
years of consistent profitability and financial stability. And our leadership
remains strong and committed to meeting the challenges and seizing the
opportunities in the exciting times we are entering.

OUR PROVEN 
TRACK RECORD.
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Steel Minimills and Recycling Operations 2006 was
another outstanding year for our domestic steel minimills
and scrap operations, as new records were set for revenue,
production, shipments and net income. The strong profit
performance was due to excellent market conditions
and “returning to the basics” to achieve new levels of
performance in safety, productivity, cost management
and customer service. The year ended with strong
shipments, bookings and an excellent backlog at all
four mills, setting the stage for a solid beginning for
2007. The scrap operations enjoyed a record year for
revenues, shipments and net earnings.

CMC Steel Texas set all-time records for production,
shipments, revenues and net earnings. The construction
of the new continuous caster was completed and this
state-of-the-art machine was commissioned in the
third quarter of the year. The caster is providing
increased billet capacity and will enable the plant to
serve the needs of more demanding quality markets. The
Texas highway building program continued to provide
good business opportunities for the Seguin mill. The
plant was recognized by the Steel Manufacturer’s
Association for having an outstanding safety program
and the lowest incident rate in North America for 2005.
As the year came to a close, construction of a new

office building that will provide an enhanced working
environment for our people was completed.  

CMC Steel South Carolina set an all-time record year in
sales revenue, melt production and net earnings. Strong
demand and excellent market pricing coupled with a
passion for safety, cost management and enhanced
customer service all contributed to the strong earnings
performance. The launch of a “reliability excellence
initiative” during the year improved equipment uptime and
has set the stage for additional gains in the coming year.
A new air permit was approved for melt shop improvements
that will increase the plant’s steelmaking capacity. 

CMC Steel Arkansas turned in another solid performance,
with a significant increase in shipments and an all-
time record in revenues and net earnings. Increased
shipments and higher selling values coupled with
improved yield, reduced conversion costs and an
excellent safety performance all contributed to the
record earnings. A Process Improvement Team was
established to focus on improving operational efficiencies
and cost reductions. Several new sections were added
to the product offering during the year. A patent for a
new rail rolling method was received. CMC Rail had an
excellent year, with record revenues and net earnings.

DOMESTIC MILLS
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2006 CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES

Domestic Mills 37%
Rest of CMC 63%

2006 NET SALES

Domestic Mills 19%
Rest of CMC 81%

2006 EARNINGS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Domestic Mills 50%
Rest of CMC 50%

Steel Manufacturing 
 

Rail Salvage 

Copper Tube Manufacturing 
 

Recycling 
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CMC Steel Alabama achieved new records for revenue,
melt production, shipments and net earnings, and had
the second-best year on record for mill production.
Productivity improved significantly and the plant
achieved a higher level of consistency in all steelmaking
operations. Our continued focus on people development,
effective sourcing of raw materials and lean manufacturing
methods should provide for continued productivity
improvements and enhanced profitability in the future.
The plant was recognized by Manufacture Alabama for
its outstanding safety program and for recording the
lowest worker incident rate for the year.

Copper Tube Mill CMC Howell Metal manufactures copper
tubing for the plumbing, air conditioning and refrigeration
industries. This fully integrated copper minimill utilizes

both secondary and virgin copper in the manufacturing
process. The copper is melted, cast, extruded and
drawn into water and refrigeration tubing, and then
packaged for sale or further processed into annealed
coils or line sets.

During 2006, copper traded at $4 per pound, eclipsing
all previous records. Strong demand for building materials
created shortages of water tubing and related products
going into the summer season. Housing starts remained
uncharacteristically strong during the Fed’s interest
rate hikes. All these factors created the bull residential
market of 2006 that has been the catalyst behind
record profits at CMC Howell Metal. 

CMC Howell Metal is moving production into value-
added products to offset lost sales due to alternative
plumbing products such as PEX and CPVC plastics.

The Domestic Mills segment consists of
four steel minimills with a capacity of 
2.3 million tons and a copper tube mill
with a capacity of 80 million pounds.
Steel minimill products include structurals,
reinforcing bars, angles, channels and
beams. The copper tube mill produces
copper water tube and air conditioning 
and refrigeration tubing.
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Copper tube sales remained robust for the bulk of the year, but
began to weaken as the raw material cost reached $3 per pound.
Our focus on HVAC products has increased our customer base,
giving us an entry into markets previously unattainable with our
product mix. Our fleet of trucks offer the market unparalleled
service for copper water tube, ACR tubing, refrigeration tubing
and line sets. CMC Howell Metal can deliver smaller quantities
and multiple drop orders to satisfy the needs of customers who
are trying to minimize inventories while the base metal price
remains high and demand is softening. 

During 2006, CMC Howell Metal successfully completed the
restructuring of several key positions, including the naming of
Jim Forkovitch as president succeeding A. Leo Howell who retired.
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CMC Zawiercie (CMCZ), CMC’s steelmaking operation
in Poland, benefited in 2006 from strength in the
European economy, which grew in calendar 2006 by
more than 2.5%. Growth in emerging markets such as
Poland was greater than in the matured European
economies with a GDP growth rate of over 5%. In
addition, the 15% growth in the construction industry
contributed to healthy demand for rebar and wire rod.
Shipments grew to 1,133,000 metric tons, a hefty
increase of 14% versus last year, bringing net earnings
close to our excellent results in 2004.

CMCZ maintained its position as the second largest
steel producer in Poland and remained the largest
Polish supplier of reinforcing steel – rebar, wire rod and
merchant bars. Steelmaking operations were improved
further with an upgraded furnace, bringing additional
operational efficiencies and increased production
capacity. Our vertical integration strategy was
enhanced by the installation of our mega-shredder and
the opening of our new fab shop. 

Steel Minimill 2006 set multiple records. The installation
of a new transformer on furnace No. 1 and a fully
modernized furnace No. 3 brought the melt shop to
levels that are 25% above the old nominal 1.3 million

metric ton capacity mark. New upgrades in the bar
mill, especially the new back shear table, allow more
efficient rolling of bar products. Our finished goods
shipments were very healthy, with surprising activity in
the winter months and strong levels during the summer.
The strength in surrounding countries helped to keep
imports at relatively low levels. Apparent consumption
indicated a strong growth for this year. The price of
rebar trended upward compared to wire rod, which
grew as well, but at a much lower rate, opening the
gap between rebar and wire rod. Scrap markets
remained more stable throughout the year, avoiding
peaks and valleys though the price level is historically
relatively high. 

Forecasted growth of the Polish economy at 5% in
the coming years and the flow of EU funds for the
underdeveloped infrastructure gives us confidence
that this year began a long-term economic upturn in the
Polish and Central European economies. Seasonality
in demand will continue to be an important factor
throughout the year; however, expectations on the
overall economic trend are positive. 

We have continued to invest in our people. A new
safety awareness program will help us to improve in
this most important area. We have focused on people

CMCZ
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Processing

Steel Manufacturing

Steel Fabrication

2006 CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES

CMCZ 28%
Rest of CMC 72%

2006 NET SALES

CMCZ Mills 7%
Rest of CMC 93%

2006 EARNINGS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES

CMCZ 8%
Rest of CMC 92%
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development through internal and external training of all employees. Management
restructuring shortened decision making and streamlined our business processes. 

As in the prior year, we have allocated funds for improving our environmental
operations with a focus on dust and noise reduction. 

Our recent efforts to improve our sales area began to bear fruit during 2006. A
focus on end users, creating partnerships with key customers, extending our product
range and improving service to our customers were all important factors for our
strong domestic shipments, where we placed 70% of our production. The remaining
portion went as usual to our adjacent countries in Germany, Czech Republic and
Slovakia, as well as to other export destinations. 

Many technical and technological innovations helped us to decrease our costs.
Lower consumption of electrical power, electrodes, pig iron and other supplies
contributed to decreased operating costs of more than 5%. It is our vision to be a
low-cost steel supplier, reaping the benefits of investments in previous years. 

Recycling Recycling operations kept their strong position in the Polish scrap market
and have generated more than 30% of the mill’s scrap needs. CMCZ’s scrap yard

0

1.4

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2

CMCZ STEEL MILLS

(tons in millions)

04 05 06

Melted
Rolled 
Shipped 

1.2
1.1
0.9

1.1
1.1
0.9

1.3
1.2
1.1



[ 24 ]

operations are comprised of two main and five smaller
feeder yards. Located approximately 30 miles from the
steel mill, we operate one 2,000 horsepower shredder
in Herby and have added this year an 8,000 horsepower
mega-shredder at the mill. This installation reached its
nominal capacity in only its third month of operation,
with positive effects on our yield and consumption
figures already visible. We believe the full effect of this
installation will be felt in the coming year. Our focus is
and will remain on building a regular supply of cheap,
unprocessed material as a feed for this equipment and
for the steel minimill. 

Downstream Operations We commissioned our first rebar
fabrication plant in June 2006. In an area of about
5,000 square meters we can process up to 4,000 metric
tons of rebar operating with two shifts. Strong demand

for our value-added product filled our order books very
quickly. Consequently, the opening of a twin operation
of this kind in other growth areas in Poland is necessary.
These downstream operations mean stability for the
steel mill and serving the end customer in the 
construction industry with obvious advantages for both
supplier and offtaker.

Outlook The outlook for 2007 and future years remains
positive. The economy in Poland and adjacent markets
are expected to grow at rates above 5% per year, and with
the German economy expanding for the first time in
many years, all of Europe will benefit. Output in the 
construction sector is set to grow at even stronger rates.
Our reduced costs through many improvements and
investments, and our vertical integration in recycling and
downstream operations, will help us to achieve our goals.

CMC Zawiercie S.A. (CMCZ), located in
Zawiercie, Poland, is the second-largest
steel producer in Poland, with a capacity 
of 1.1 million tons. It manufactures rebar
and wire rod.
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Our Domestic Fabrication segment includes a wide range
of downstream, value-added and distribution operations.
Structural fabrication and the joist division made
significant strides in improving operational efficiency,
targeting cost reduction opportunities and enhancing
employee safety awareness. Fabricated rebar operations
and construction services continued to expand through
acquisition and internal growth. 

Rebar Fabrication All-time records established last year
were broken in 2006, with new benchmarks set for
revenue, shipments and net earnings. Demand and
selling values were excellent in all regions and
especially strong in the Eastern and Western regions.
Our coast-to-coast footprint in the United States was
enhanced with new and improved facilities. Renovation
of the shop in Albuquerque, New Mexico, including
installation of a new overhead crane, was completed as
the year came to a close. Construction on a new rebar
fabrication shop in Fresno, California was started,
which when completed will provide increased capacity
and improved handling and storage. Land was purchased
and preliminary work has begun on a new shop in
Orlando, Florida. Capital spending on new equipment
was initiated that will reduce the physical labor intensity

of fabrication, improve efficiency and assist in taking
safety to a new level. The year closed with strong
shipments, solid bidding activity and an excellent
backlog of good work, boding well for a strong start for
the new year.

Joist Outstanding on-time shipping performance and
excellent customer service enabled the CMC Joist 
division to register significant improvements in
bookings, production and shipments compared to the
previous year. Rising raw material costs put pressure
on net earnings, as revenue growth did not fully transfer
to the bottom line. Plant modernization projects were
completed at the Iowa and Arkansas facilities.
Consolidation of the two joist plants in South Carolina
was completed by year end, setting the stage for
improved manufacturing efficiency and shipping logistics
in the coming year. CMC Steel Products, a producer of
castellated and cellular beams, had a very successful
year, with new records for revenue, shipments and net
earnings. We continue to place a top priority on
improving facilities, reducing the labor intensity of the
work with new equipment and providing a safer work
environment. 

DOMESTIC FABRICATION
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2006 CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES

Domestic Fabrication 21%
Rest of CMC 79%

2006 NET SALES

Domestic Fabrication 22%
Rest of CMC 78%

2006 EARNINGS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Domestic Fabrication 16%
Rest of CMC 84%

Steel Fabrication 

Fence Post Manufacturing 

Heat Treating 

Cellular Beam Fabrication 

Construction-Related 
Products Warehousing

Steel Joist Plants
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Construction-Related Products (CRP) CMC Construction
Services became a coast-to-coast distributor with the
acquisition of branches in Arizona and California. In
total, six new branches were added to our distribution
network during the year. A new regional forming and
shoring yard was established in Jacksonville, Florida.
New forming and shoring products were added to the
product line during the year. Many of our showrooms
were upgraded during the year to better display products
and to enhance “walk-in” sales. The plan for growing
rental revenue yielded excellent results, and a new sales
record was established. We realigned and rebalanced
area management responsibilities to put more supervision
closer to the customer and to speed decision making
and provide an enhanced level of customer service.

Supply chain management supervision focused on the
basics of inventory management, with commendable
results for the year and goals and objectives for continuous
improvement. Revenue and net earnings were just
slightly less than the records set last year, due in part
to the impact of Gulf Coast hurricanes Katrina and Rita.
The CMC Construction Services team rebuilt the three
damaged Gulf Coast branches during the year and
provided much needed relief, aid and critical supplies
to hurricane victims in the region.

Other Value-Added Businesses CMC Impact Metals’ heat
treating and distribution business once again delivered
impressive growth. Sales revenue and shipments
recorded double-digit growth for the year. Construction

The Domestic Fabrication segment 
is comprised of rebar and structural 
fabrication plants, joist plants, a 
cellular beam fabricator, fence post 
manufacturing plants, a heat-treating 
plant and construction-related product
warehouses. Capacity exceeds 
1.6 million tons.
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started on a new heat treating plant in Alabama that
will provide enhanced service to regional customers.
The unit continues to provide the potential for significant
growth by leveraging the strengths of the Company's
steel minimills, CMC's international contacts and
excellent third-party relationships with other domestic
mills. The unit established its first OEM account in
China and completed its first shipment during the year.

The Structural division’s shipments increased versus
last year although revenues and net earnings declined.
Results for our Victoria, Texas shop were disappointing
and restructuring efforts are underway. The current
backlog for Victoria is attractive, and we believe the
turnaround efforts will bear fruit in the new year. CMC
Alamo Steel and CMC South Carolina Steel delivered

solid performances and continue to focus on improving
productivity, cost reduction and enhancing safety.
Raw material price increases and limited availability
of structural shapes had an adverse impact on the
bottom line.

CMC Southern Post enjoyed an increase in revenues
and shipments although net earnings were down slightly
compared to last year. Volume was up due to stronger
demand for fence posts and increased demand for silt
posts in the Southeastern U.S. Demand for fence posts
was strong in the West, and the Utah post plant
achieved record net earnings. Competition from foreign
post manufacturers and domestic producers continues
to put pressure on pricing in all markets.
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CMC Recycling The historic roots of the Company in
1915 were in recycling ferrous and nonferrous scrap
metals, and 2006 was the best performance in 91 years.
While we were understandably proud of previous record
results in 2004 and 2005, they pale in comparison to
this year. The new records this year for revenue, profit
and processed tons set a very high bar, but we are
confident that the necessary steps are being taken to
successfully meet the challenge going forward.

In 2006, annual revenues increased 52% to $1.4
billion and operating profits jumped 41% to $100.0
million. Processed tons of ferrous and nonferrous
scrap increased by 15% and 12%, respectively, with
ferrous tons growing to 2.1 million tons and nonferrous
tons to 327 thousand tons. Strong global economic
conditions helped create a favorable climate for the
growth we experienced throughout 2006. Explosive
growth in global demand for hard commodities fueled
significant price increases in all recycled metals categories.
Average selling prices for the year were up by 9.1% on
ferrous scrap items, while our aluminum, copper/brass
and stainless steel/nickel alloys groups enjoyed price
increases of 29.4%, 78.9% and 9.6%, respectively. 

CMC Recycling’s (CMCR) extended global participation
was enhanced by our increased strength in China and

south Asian markets. Our Beijing office more than
doubled in size this year, increasing our penetration in
the vital and growing Chinese market, and we began
direct involvement in India by hiring a sales consultant
in Chennai to market nonferrous scrap in this quickly
expanding market. We also increased business this year
with consumers in Korea, Japan and Taiwan, areas in
which we have been actively involved for several decades.

Increased market share in both domestic and export
markets was accomplished by purchasing and processing
more tons through our existing operations, as well as
by acquisition of additional scrap processing facilities.
During the fourth quarter, we finalized the purchase
of substantially all the operating assets of Yonack Iron
and Metal, Inc., giving us access to tonnages generated
at five additional facilities in North Texas, Arkansas
and Oklahoma. This acquisition immediately increased
our processed volume per month by 16 thousand tons
of ferrous scrap and 3,500 tons of nonferrous scrap, a
significant portion of which is produced by industrial scrap
generators, a supply segment which is increasingly
critical to our future growth plans.

2006 results were also aided by the continued solid
growth of our National Accounts scrap management
program. Contracts with multi-location manufacturers

RECYCLING



[ 30 ]

2006 CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES

Recycling 10%
Rest of CMC 90%

2006 NET SALES

Recycling 16%
Rest of CMC 84%

2006 EARNINGS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Recycling 16%
Rest of CMC 84%

Secondary Metals Processing

Feeder Yards



[ 31 ] Commercial Metals Company 2006 Annual Report

and metal distributors covering material generated at 45
locations were added this year to an already substantial
list of contract partners. As a result, National Accounts
contributed major increases in processed tons, revenue
and operating profits to the CMCR yearly totals. This year
also marked our initial contract to manage the scrap
recycling program of a manufacturer with international
as well as domestic facilities, pointing the way to still
greater global expansion for CMCR in the coming years.

Handling and shipping more volume and producing
outstanding financial results were not the only areas in
which CMCR excelled during 2006. We also achieved
significant improvement in our safety record, and we
continued previous years’ successes in operating and
maintaining environmentally-sound facilities. Key areas

of accomplishment were in the number of preventable
accidents, turning in a 58% improvement over last
year, as well as achieving a 78% reduction in the number
of lost work days due to job-related illness or injury.
These results are especially gratifying considering our
average workforce size was 7.6% greater than in 2005.
We have always believed that our people are our most
important asset, and addressing safety and workplace
environment issues today will pay great dividends in
the future.

Per ton operating costs were in line with last year
despite large increases in transportation, fuel and
energy costs. Much of the success in controlling costs
can be attributed to CMCR’s increased emphasis on
operating efficiencies, expanded training programs
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for both new and experienced personnel, as well as
the benefits accruing from the growth of our strategic
sourcing program. This program continues to be
instrumental in furthering the modernization of our
facilities and the securing of new, more efficient
equipment. This year we entered into national supply
agreements for such items as balers, baling wire,
storage and material handling containers, a truck and
container tracking system, and outdoor signage, and
also reduced contractual costs on our auto rental and
travel arrangements. 

All of the above clearly describes a banner 2006 for
CMC Recycling, for which we are rightfully proud. But
we are equally proud that while we were achieving this

record shattering performance, we have kept our eye
squarely on the future and have been preparing to take
full advantage of whatever growth and expansion
opportunities present themselves globally. This year’s
results will be hard to duplicate, much less surpass.
The challenges that lie ahead for 2007 are great, as we
will likely be dealing with a somewhat softer global
economy brought on by continuing high energy costs,
rising inflation and interest rates, and slower business
for the U.S. housing and automotive industries.
However, during 2006, people and programs have been
put in place to address these coming challenges and to
propel CMCR confidently toward a successful future.

The Recycling segment is one of the 
country’s largest processors of nonferrous
scrap metals and one of the largest
regional processors of ferrous scrap metals.
Nonferrous scrap processing capability
is 530 thousand tons; ferrous scrap 
processing capability is 3.0 million tons.
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Marketing & Distribution CMC’s Marketing & Distribution
segment markets steel, nonferrous semis, primary and
secondary metals, and industrial raw materials through
a network of marketing offices, processing facilities, and
other investments and joint ventures around the world.

When we closed 2005, the prevailing sentiment was
for a major correction in prices and trading volume of
our products. Still, CMC’s Marketing & Distribution segment
continued its decades long growth and profitability
with yet another record performance in terms of sales
and profitability in 2006.

Early on, the year was uninspiring for our steel 
marketing business, with high inventories in most of our
consuming markets and overproduction, mainly in
China. As inventories declined, prices recovered (save
Asia), and the economic recovery in Europe and the
robust Australian and U.S. economies allowed us record
bookings for steel imports into our markets for the
remainder of the year. China has been the major source
and is now the world’s largest exporter. Due to our strong
presence in China and our growing European and U.S.
distribution network, we took full advantage of this
trend. Within the segment, we marketed more than 3.0
million metric tons of steel sourced from non-CMC mills.

In contrast, the nonferrous metals market was 
confronted in 2006 with extraordinary price increases
of 50% for aluminum and 200 to 300% for copper and
zinc. The escalation of metal prices had a negative
impact on results for our nonferrous importing business
into the U.S. as direct costs such as import duties and
insurance rose in tandem and eroded our margins. 

Our raw materials business started the year with a
solid forward order book on a carryover from our record
2005 year, but experienced the expected easing of
volume and margins as the year progressed. 

In 2006, we continued to improve our position as a
significant importer of stainless steel to the U.S. and an
important niche player in coke, iron ore and molybdenum.
We solidified our position as the largest steel importer
into Australia and as a strong and consistently profitable
distributor and operator of steel service centers in Australia. 

Our sole capital intensive business is our service
centers in Australia. The majority of our divisions
achieved their targets without significant fixed asset
investments and a relatively small number of employees.
Therefore, our emphasis remains on developing our
human resources and ensuring that we not only retain, but
also attract the best and most creative talent available. 

MARKETING & DISTRIBUTION
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2006 CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURES

Marketing 4%
Rest of CMC 96%

2006 NET SALES

Marketing 36%
Rest of CMC 64%

2006 EARNINGS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Marketing 10%
Rest of CMC 90%
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We begin 2007 with optimism. The economic
fundamentals in the major markets are sound, yet we
expect price and demand fluctuations during the year.
Because of our strong global presence and expertise in
risk management, our ability to react quickly and
effectively to market changes, and our close relations
with our suppliers and customers, we are in an excellent
position to take full advantage of these conditions. 

CMC Cometals Operating out of four locations in the U.S.,
China, Russia and Belgium, and with the assistance of
additional agents in other industrial locations, CMC
Cometals continues to be an efficient service provider
to many producers and consumers around the world. 

During 2006, we strengthened our position as a leading
raw material supplier to a variety of industries such as
steel, aluminum, foundry, refractory, chemical, abrasive,
animal feed and ceramic. Our historical commitment to
China, Russia and other emerging markets continues
to provide us with profitable opportunities, and our
strong financial results reflect robust economic growth
in many of the countries and regions where we operate.

We are pleased to report that CMC Cometals
achieved another record year in terms of sales and the
second-best year ever in terms of margins. Demand for
most of our products remained very strong during the
year, but prices fell from the historical heights of last
year and were coupled with a volatile freight market.

The Marketing & Distribution segment is 
a physical business which markets, 
distributes and processes large volumes 
of primary and secondary metals, steels,
ores, concentrates, industrial minerals,
ferroalloys, chemicals and industrial 
products through a global network of 
marketing and distribution offices, 
processing facilities and joint ventures.
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We are working closely with many strategic suppliers
around the world, providing financing, working capital
and other services in order to ensure long-term supply. 

Our structured trade financing enables our producers
to expand and modernize their production facilities.
This results in increased quantities available for our
customers, expanding marketing rights. 

We provide a variety of services to our global customers,
such as processing, quality control, inventory control,
just-in-time deliveries, consignments and other “tailor-
made” services. Our talented marketing team has
expanded the already substantial list of products we
market and opened up new channels for our producers.

CMC Cometals’ ongoing research and development
program is complementary to our customers’ efforts
in modernizing their equipment and technologies.
This results in new raw materials and/or different
specifications for traditional materials. Our team is
successful in finding and securing reliable sources
for these. It is one additional area where the close
relationships at the technical and research levels
prove to be invaluable. 

Looking forward, we expect ongoing global tightness
in many raw materials as a result of strong growth in
many densely populated developing countries. Our order
book for 2007 is strong, suggesting that CMC Cometals
will continue to benefit from the “super-cycle” which
started for us during 2003.
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CMC Commonwealth Metals CMC Commonwealth Metals
markets specialty semi-finished nonferrous metals to
distributors and industries providing vital import and
export trade services to metal firms throughout the
world. From a supply network in over thirty countries,
we source a broad range of aluminum, copper and
stainless steel products for service centers and large
original equipment manufacturers.

This past year marked a period of unprecedented
market volatility and a rapid rise in nonferrous base
metal prices. Continuing the trend of the past few years,
the global semis metals market expanded significantly,
especially in the developing world.

While the prices and demand for our products
remain cyclical, the globalization of the metal supply
chain and the need for effective trade links fuel our
growth with outstanding business opportunities. We
built a strong marketing base in North America,
expanded CMC’s longstanding presence in China and
enhanced our expertise in trade marketing services so
that CMC Commonwealth now stands well positioned
to capitalize on future growth in global trade.

CMC Commonwealth’s broad product mix and extensive
market coverage also affords us substantial leverage to
derive synergies with other CMC divisions. These
resources enable us to bring unique competitive
advantages to our suppliers and customers, further
strengthening our brand and market position.

Based on continued growth in emerging markets
and a positive outlook for trade-related services, we
view our future prospects favorably. We count on our
commitment to organic growth of diversified niche
products, coupled with a focus on strategic markets and
services to generate superior performance in the future.

CMC Dallas Trading CMC Dallas Trading markets and
distributes steel semi-finished long and flat products,
primary aluminum and aluminum semi-finished flat
rolled and extruded products, nonferrous scrap, steel
scrap, and steel re-rolling stock into the Americas from
a diverse base of international and domestic sources.
Our customers and suppliers rely on us for a variety of

services, including professional marketing, trading,
financial, logistics and Customs compliance services.

Favorable economic conditions and adherence to our
conservative business practices propelled CMC Dallas
Trading to another record year of results, substantially
outpacing 2005.

We continue to reap ongoing benefits from strategies
implemented in the 1990’s. By streamlining our
internal systems, including the addition of top talent
in the industry, we were able to sell record volumes of
product while efficiently processing the corresponding
increase in documentation. Product specialists and
product diversification allowed us to gain success from
various product groups. Light construction and oil
field-related businesses led our record results. 

We continued to grow our share of the total U.S.
imported steel products market. We expanded 
geographically, opening a trading office in Mexico City
in June 2006. Efforts to expand our sales to the U.S.
West Coast, upper Midwest and Northeast coast were
part of our success.

While we are susceptible to business cycles, we
believe the team of professionals assembled in CMC
Dallas Trading represents the best our industry has to
offer. We enter 2007 with a record forward order book
that indicates greater results in 2007.

International Division  The International Division markets
steel and, in certain areas, raw materials and specialty
metals in close cooperation with producers and consumers.
With some selected long-term suppliers, we distribute
steel on a joint venture basis. We concentrate on three
major areas – Europe, Asia and Australia – where we
also have strategic investments in value-added steel
servicing, pickling and warehousing.

Our global presence and quick reaction to change
helped us benefit from the major supply swings in
2006, when China turned from a net importer to a net
exporter of steel. This extra supply greatly enabled us
to expand our business and develop new products,
suppliers and outlets to fuel profitability. 
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Our expertise in risk management, non-speculative
business practices, strong position in the markets and
close relations with key suppliers and buyers gives us
great confidence to further enhance our business in
the future and benefit from the ever occurring supply,
demand and price swings.

Europe Our much increased sourcing from Asia for
European and nearby markets more than compensated for
our reduced sales to Asia due to the Chinese oversupply
in the area. We managed to grow sales in all our major
markets, strengthened our presence in Southern
Europe, started to distribute steel in Central Europe,
added a sales office in India, and maintained a niche
product business in Central America and Africa. Our
joint marketing of Trinecke Zelezarny long products
reached new records in tonnage and returns. The
Europickling marketing of pickled sheets and coils
developed satisfactorily, although the main market,
Germany, was overstocked in the first part of 2006.

Our future growth will stem from further increasing
market share in our existing West European markets,
but also from expanding in Central Europe and India
with more dynamic steel demand. We are always on
the lookout for additional suitable investments to
expand our activities and add value to the industry.

Australia Our business continues to grow, and 2006
was a record year for sales and operating profit. Our
operations include steel and aluminum importing,
steel distribution and processing, and raw material
supply to the steel and foundry industries. Our business
activity is driven by infrastructure development, mining
and rural investment, housing, and to a lesser degree,
manufacturing. The outlook for these activities
remains strong. 

During 2006, we sold our heat treatment facility, as it
no longer fit our growth strategy in Australia. However,
we continue to supply import feed to this business.

CMC Australia is the largest importer of steel, servicing
all distributors and some end users. We operate warehouse
facilities at the ports of Melbourne and Newcastle, and
during 2007, port facilities will be expanded to Brisbane

and Perth. Our strategy is to broaden our product base
and grow by delivering a competitive supply and service
package to both suppliers and customers. We offer steel
mills a well structured supply channel to Australia.

Our domestic steel distribution business, CMC Coil
Steels, grew in 2006. We are a marketing channel for
BlueScope Steel in the Australian market, and we
value the support from this important supplier. We
opened a new world class coil processing facility in
Sydney and added a new cut to length line in Brisbane.
We expanded our steel distribution business in long
products, we opened in several regional locations and
we made one bolt on acquisition in South Australia.

Australia is a stable, mature market, and CMC is well-
positioned for further growth and to take advantage of
the ongoing commodity super cycle.

Asia Asia is a critical market to CMC’s Marketing &
Distribution segment. We look at Asia across three
geographic regions, but also transact inter-Asia trade
within the three regions:

• China is our largest area of activity and several
CMC divisions conduct business in China.
Commencing in 2007, we will be merging all CMC
China business into a new company recently
approved by the Chinese authorities. This company
will allow CMC to expand our distribution activities
in China while we continue to grow two way trade
with China.

• Northern Asia (Korea, Japan and Taiwan) continues
to be a source of steel products, but are mature
markets. We will look to invest capital in faster
growing markets where CMC can add value.

• S.E. Asia is growing in importance for CMC, and
we have increased our business in Indonesia,
Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam. We are constantly
evaluating investment opportunities in this region,
which is overshadowed by the focus on China.

Combined, the CMC International Division has excellent
global coverage in our core steel business. Our division
cooperates with other CMC segments seeking to expand
globally by harnessing our synergies and expertise. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries

(dollars in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005 2004 2003

Operations

Net sales $ 7,555,924 $ 6,592,697 $ 4,768,327 $ 2,875,885
Net earnings 356,347 285,781 132,021 18,904
Income taxes 187,937 157,996 65,055 11,490
Earnings before income taxes 554,493 443,033 211,947 30,394
Interest expense 29,569 31,187 28,104 15,338
Depreciation and amortization 85,378 76,610 71,044 61,203
EBITDA* 659,231 551,575 296,224 106,935
EBITDA/interest expense 22.3 17.7 10.5 7.0
Effective tax rate 33.9% 35.7% 30.7% 37.8%

Balance Sheet Information

Cash and cash equivalents 180,719 119,404 123,559 75,058
Accounts receivable 1,134,823 829,192 607,005 397,490
Inventories 762,635 706,951 645,484 310,816
Total current assets 2,144,792 1,700,917 1,424,232 852,266
Property, plant and equipment

Original cost 1,335,614 1,200,742 1,090,530 962,470
Net of depreciation and amortization 588,686 505,584 451,490 373,628
Capital expenditures 131,235 110,214 51,889 49,792

Total assets 2,898,868 2,332,922 1,988,046 1,283,255
Commercial paper – – – –
Notes payable 60,000 – 530 –
Total current liabilities 1,182,305 891,942 783,477 452,841
Net working capital 962,486 808,975 640,755 399,425
Current ratio 1.8 1.9 1.8 1.9
Acid test ratio 1.1 1.1 0.9 1.1
Long-term debt** 322,086 386,741 393,368 254,997
Long-term debt as a percent 

of total capitalization*** 20.4% 29.0% 36.4% 31.6%
Total debt/total capitalization

plus short-term debt*** 26.1% 29.5% 37.6% 33.6%
Long-term deferred income tax liability 34,550 45,629 50,433 44,418
Total stockholders’ equity 1,220,104 899,561 660,627 506,933
Total capitalization*** 1,576,740 1,331,930 1,118,661 806,348
Return on beginning stockholders’ equity 39.6% 43.3% 26.0% 3.8%
Stockholders’ equity per share**** 10.35 7.74 5.64 4.53

Share Information

Diluted earnings per share**** 2.89 2.32 1.11 0.17
Stock dividends/splits per share 100% 100% – –
Cash dividends per share of common stock**** 0.17 0.12 0.09 0.08
Total cash dividends paid 20,212 13,652 9,764 9,039
Average diluted common shares**** 123,459,069 123,380,174 119,377,356 114,422,380

Other Data

Number of employees at year-end 11,773 10,882 10,668 7,778
Stockholders of record at year-end 3,486 2,985 2,686 2,640

* EBITDA = earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
** Excluding current portion

*** Total capitalization = total long-term debt + deferred income taxes + total stockholders’ equity 
**** Restated for stock splits
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2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

$ 2,479,941 $ 2,470,133 $ 2,661,420 $ 2,251,442 $ 2,367,569 $ 2,258,388 $ 2,322,363
40,525 23,772 44,590 46,974 42,714 38,605 46,024
22,613 14,643 26,070 27,829 25,355 22,350 26,897
63,138 38,415 70,660 74,803 68,069 60,955 72,921
18,708 27,608 27,319 19,650 18,055 14,637 15,822
61,579 67,272 66,583 52,054 47,460 43,720 41,599

143,425 133,295 164,562 146,507 133,584 119,312 130,342
7.7 4.8 6.0 7.5 7.4 8.2 8.2

35.8% 38.1% 36.9% 37.2% 37.2% 36.7% 36.9%

124,397 56,021 20,057 44,665 30,985 32,998 24,260
350,885 297,611 352,203 297,664 318,655 289,735 294,611
268,040 223,859 270,368 247,154 257,231 220,644 186,201
806,649 632,991 702,405 643,376 673,500 585,276 539,483

921,779 896,896 856,128 804,247 680,401 570,604 506,969
378,155 395,851 407,512 402,272 318,462 247,261 222,710

47,223 53,022 69,627 141,752 119,915 70,955 47,982
1,247,373 1,095,604 1,170,092 1,079,074 1,002,617 839,061 766,756

– – 79,000 10,000 40,000 – –
– 3,793 13,466 4,382 60,809 – –

427,544 359,178 438,231 357,648 426,063 278,144 264,073
379,105 273,813 264,174 285,728 247,437 307,132 275,410

1.9 1.8 1.6 1.8 1.6 2.1 2.0
1.1 1.0 0.8 1.0 0.8 1.2 1.2

255,969 251,638 261,884 265,590 173,789 185,211 146,506

32.8% 35.5% 36.8% 37.6% 30.1% 33.0% 29.1%

33.9% 37.6% 44.7% 39.6% 41.5% 34.4% 30.7%
32,813 30,405 31,131 23,263 21,376 20,834 21,044

501,306 433,094 418,805 418,312 381,389 354,872 335,133
794,988 718,817 711,821 707,165 576,554 560,917 502,683

9.4% 5.7% 10.7% 12.3% 12.0% 11.5% 15.2%
4.39 4.14 3.98 3.63 3.27 3.01 2.78

0.36 0.23 0.39 0.40 0.36 0.32 0.38
100% – – – – – –
0.07 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.07 0.06

7,521 6,780 7,304 7,540 7,717 7,777 7,246
113,101,164 105,283,952 114,000,680 117,012,320 120,966,288 121,757,816 122,209,264

7,659 7,956 8,379 7,630 7,376 7,103 6,681
2,271 2,526 2,691 2,550 2,672 2,674 2,593
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Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations contains “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act,
Section 21E of the Exchange Act and the private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, with respect to our financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and business,
and our expectations or beliefs concerning future events,
including net earnings, product pricing and demand, production
rates, energy expense, insurance expense, interest rates,
inventory levels, acquisitions and general market conditions.
These forward-looking statements can generally be identified
by phrases such as we or our management “expects,” “antic-
ipates,” “believes,” “plans to,” “ought,” “could,” “will,”
“should,” “likely,” “appears,” “projects,” “forecasts” or
other similar words or phrases. There is inherent risk and
uncertainty in any forward-looking statements. Variances will
occur and some could be materially different from our current
opinion. Developments that could impact our expectations
include the following:

• construction activity;
• decisions by governments affecting the level of steel

imports, including tariffs and duties;
• litigation claims and settlements;
• difficulties or delays in the execution of construction

contracts resulting in cost overruns or contract disputes;
• metals pricing over which we exert little influence;
• increased capacity and product availability from competing

steel minimills and other steel suppliers including
import quantities and pricing;

• court decisions;
• industry consolidation or changes in production capacity

or utilization;
• global factors including credit availability;
• currency fluctuations;
• scrap metal, energy, insurance and supply prices; and
• the pace of overall economic activity.
See the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this annual

report for a more complete discussion of these risks and
uncertainties and for other risks and uncertainties. These
factors and the other risk factors described in this annual
report are not necessarily all of the important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed in any of our forward-looking statements. Other
unknown or unpredictable factors also could harm our
results. Consequently, we cannot assure you that the actual

results or developments we anticipate will be realized or,
even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected
consequences to, or effects on, us. Given these uncertainties, we
caution prospective investors not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to
publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation should be read in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying
notes contained in this annual report.

We manufacture, recycle, market and distribute steel and
metal products through a network of over 150 locations in
the United States and internationally.

Our segment reporting includes five reportable segments:
domestic mills, CMC Zawiercie (CMCZ), domestic fabrication,
recycling and marketing and distribution. The domestic mills
segment includes the Company’s domestic steel minimills
(including the scrap processing facilities which directly support
these mills) and the copper tube minimill. The copper tube
minimill is aggregated with the Company’s steel minimills
because it has similar economic characteristics. The CMCZ
minimill and related operations in Poland have been presented
as a separate segment because the economic characteristics
of their markets and the regulatory environment in which they
operate are different from the Company’s domestic minimills.
The domestic fabrication segment consists of the Company’s rebar
and joist fabrication operations, fence post manufacturing
plants, construction-related and other products facilities. The
recycling segment consists of the CMC Recycling division’s
scrap processing and sales operations primarily in Texas,
Florida and the southern United States. Marketing and distribution
includes both domestic and international operations for the
sales, distribution and processing of both ferrous and nonferrous
metals and other industrial products. The segment’s activities
consist only of physical transactions and not speculation.

DOMESTIC MILLS OPERATIONS 

We conduct our domestic mills operations through a network of: 
• steel mills, commonly referred to as “minimills,” that

produce reinforcing bar, angles, flats, rounds, fence post
sections and other shapes;

• scrap processing facilities that directly support these
minimills; and 

• a copper tube minimill. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 

OF OPERATIONS

Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries
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CMCZ OPERATIONS 

We conduct our CMCZ operations through: 
• a rolling mill that produces primarily reinforcing bar and

some merchant products; 
• a rolling mill that produces primarily wire rod; 
• our scrap processing facilities that directly support the

CMCZ minimill; and
• steel fabrication plant primarily for reinforcing bar.

DOMESTIC FABRICATION OPERATIONS 

We conduct our domestic fabrication operations through a
network of: 

• steel fabrication and processing plants that bend, weld, cut,
fabricate, distribute and place steel, primarily reinforcing
bar and angles;

• warehouses that sell or rent products for the installation
of concrete; 

• plants that produce special sections for floors and ceiling
support; 

• plants that produce steel fence posts; 
• plants that treat steel with heat to strengthen and provide

flexibility; and
• a railroad rail salvage company. 

RECYCLING OPERATIONS 

We conduct our recycling operations through metal processing
plants located in the states of Texas, Oklahoma, Kansas,
Louisiana, Arkansas, Missouri, Georgia, Tennessee, Florida,
South Carolina, and North Carolina. 

MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS 

We market and distribute steel, copper and aluminum coil,
sheet and tubing, ores, metal concentrates, industrial minerals,
ferroalloys and chemicals through our network of marketing
and distribution offices, processing facilities and joint ventures
around the world. Our customers use these products in a
variety of industries.

You should read this management’s discussion and analysis
in connection with your review of our consolidated audited
financial statements and the accompanying footnotes.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

The following are important accounting policies, estimates
and assumptions that you should understand as you review
our financial statements. We apply these accounting policies
and make these estimates and assumptions to prepare financial
statements under accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (GAAP). Our use of these accounting
policies, estimates and assumptions affects our results of

operations and our reported amounts of assets and liabilities.
Where we have used estimates or assumptions, actual results
could differ significantly from our estimates.

Revenue Recognition We recognize sales when title passes to
the customer either when goods are shipped or when they are
received based on the terms of the sale. When we estimate that
a contract with one of our customers will result in a loss, we
accrue the entire loss as soon as it is probable and estimable.

Contingencies We make accruals as needed for litigation,
administrative proceedings, government investigations
(including environmental matters), and contract disputes.
We base our environmental liabilities on estimates regarding
the number of sites for which we will be responsible, the scope
and cost of work to be performed at each site, the portion of
costs that we expect we will share with other parties and the
timing of the remediation. Where timing of expenditures can
be reliably estimated, we discount amounts to reflect our
cost of capital over time. We record these and other contingent
liabilities when they are probable and when we can reasonably
estimate the amount of loss. Where timing and amounts cannot
be precisely estimated, we estimate a range, and we recognize
the low end of the range without discounting. Also, see Note
11, Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated
financial statements.

Inventory Cost We determine inventory cost for most domestic
inventories by the last-in, first-out method, or LIFO. Beginning
fiscal 2005, we refined our method of estimating our interim
LIFO reserve by using quantities and costs at quarter end
and recording the resulting LIFO expense in its entirety. At
the end of each quarter in 2004, we estimated both inventory
quantities and costs that we expected at the end of the fiscal
year for the LIFO calculations, and we recorded an amount
on a pro-rata basis. These estimates could vary substantially
from the actual year-end results, causing an adjustment to
cost of goods sold in our fourth quarter. See Note 15, Quarterly
Financial Data, to the consolidated financial statements. We
record all inventories at the lower of their cost or market value.

Property, Plant and Equipment Our domestic mills, CMCZ,
domestic fabrication and recycling businesses are capital
intensive. We evaluate the value of these assets and other
long-lived assets whenever a change in circumstances indicates
that their carrying value may not be recoverable. Some of the
estimated values for assets that we currently use in our operations
utilize judgments and assumptions of future undiscounted
cash flows that the assets will produce. If these assets were
for sale, our estimates of their values could be significantly
different because of market conditions, specific transaction
terms and a buyer’s different viewpoint of future cash flows.
Also, we depreciate property, plant and equipment on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
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assets. Depreciable lives are based on our estimate of the
assets’ economically useful lives and are evaluated annually. To
the extent that an asset’s actual life differs from our estimate,
there could be an impact on depreciation expense or a
gain/loss on the disposal of the asset in a later period. We
expense major maintenance costs as incurred.

Other Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to
our consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended August 31,

(in millions except share data) 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $7,556 $6,593 $4,768

Net earnings 356.3 285.8 132.0

Per diluted share 2.89 2.32 1.11

EBITDA 659.2 551.6 296.2

International net sales 2,753 2,716 1,778

As % of total sales 36% 41% 37%

LIFO* effect on net earnings expense 50.6 12.5 48.6

Per diluted share 0.41 0.10 0.41

*Last in, first out inventory valuation method. 

In the table above, we have included a financial statement
measure that was not derived in accordance with GAAP. We
use EBITDA (earnings before interest expense, income taxes,
depreciation and amortization) as a non-GAAP performance
measure. In calculating EBITDA, we exclude our largest
recurring non-cash charge, depreciation and amortization.
EBITDA provides a core operational performance measurement
that compares results without the need to adjust for federal,
state and local taxes which have considerable variation
between domestic jurisdictions. Tax regulations in international
operations add additional complexity. Also, we exclude interest
cost in our calculation of EBITDA. The results are, therefore,
without consideration of financing alternatives of capital
employed. We use EBITDA as one guideline to assess our
unleveraged performance return on our investments. EBITDA
is also the target benchmark for our long-term cash incentive
performance plan for management. Reconciliations to net
earnings are provided below for the year ended August 31:

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004

Net earnings $ 356.3 $ 285.8 $ 132.0

Interest expense 29.6 31.2 28.1

Income taxes 187.9 158.0 65.1

Depreciation and amortization 85.4 76.6 71.0

EBITDA $ 659.2 $ 551.6 $ 296.2

EBITDA does not include interest expense, income taxes and
depreciation and amortization. Because we have borrowed
money in order to partially finance our operations, interest

expense is a necessary element of our costs and our ability to
generate revenues. Because we use capital assets, depreciation
and amortization are also necessary elements of our costs.
Also, the payment of income taxes is a necessary element of
our operations. Therefore, any measures that exclude these
elements have material limitations. To compensate for these
limitations, we believe that it is appropriate to consider both
net earnings determined under GAAP, as well as EBITDA, to
evaluate our performance. Also, we separately analyze any
significant fluctuations in interest expense, depreciation and
amortization and income taxes.

The following events had a significant financial impact
during our fiscal year ended August 31, 2006 as compared
to our 2005 fiscal year:

1. We reported our highest net sales and net earnings ever
for the third straight year. 

2. Increased selling prices, margins and volumes resulted
in significantly higher adjusted operating profits in our
Domestic Mills, CMCZ and Recycling segments.

3. Increased sales prices at our copper tube mill offset the
dramatic jump in the cost of copper scrap, giving significantly
greater metal spreads and record adjusted operating profits.

4. Sales price gains at CMCZ exceeded the increase in the
cost of scrap and together with volume increases allowed the
operation to go from break-even in 2005 to $52.8 million
adjusted operating profit in 2006.

5. Domestic Fabrication had a 23% increase in volume, but
the cost of steel was up considerably resulting in some margin
squeeze and a slight decrease in adjusted operating profit.

6. We had successful start ups of the new continuous caster
at the Texas mill and the new scrap mega-shredder at the
CMCZ mill.

7. A 14% volume increase, strong ferrous prices and histor-
ically high nonferrous prices helped our Recycling segment to
achieve a record adjusted operating profit.

8. We recorded a $50.6 million after-tax LIFO expense
($0.41 per diluted share) compared to $12.5 million LIFO
expense ($0.10 per diluted share) in 2005.

9. Our overall effective tax rate decreased to 33.9% as
compared to 35.7% in 2005 due to shifts in profitability
among tax jurisdictions, the manufacturing deduction and
tax repatriation benefit.
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In 2006, our net earnings reached all-time record levels as a
result of the combination of higher selling prices, margins
and volume in most of our segments. Non ferrous selling
prices and margins reached historically high levels. These
positive factors more than offset increased purchase prices
and other input costs. We continued to benefit from favorable
market conditions for most of our businesses and achieved
excellent performance in all of our segments. Strong global
expansion has helped, and the improved economic situation in
Central and Western Europe has helped our Polish operations
achieve much improved net earnings. Our net earnings in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 exceeded those for any previous
fiscal quarter that we have ever reported.

SEGMENTS 

Unless otherwise indicated, all dollars below are before
minority interests and income taxes. Financial results for our
reportable segments are consistent with the basis and manner
in which we internally disaggregate financial information for
making operating decisions. See Note 14, Business Segments,
to the consolidated financial statements.

We use adjusted operating profit (loss) to compare and
evaluate the financial performance of our segments.
Adjusted operating profit is the sum of our earnings before
income taxes, minority interests and financing costs.
Adjusted operating profit is equal to earnings before income
taxes for our domestic mills and domestic fabrication seg-
ments because these segments require minimal outside
financing. The following table shows net sales and adjusted
operating profit (loss) by business segment:

Year ended August 31,
(in millions) 2006 2005 2004

Net sales:

Domestic mills $1,600 $1,298 $1,109

CMCZ* 574 478 427

Domestic fabrication 1,772 1,474 1,047

Recycling 1,360 897 774

Marketing and distribution 2,954 2,926 1,882

Corporate and eliminations (704) (480) (471)

Adjusted operating profit (loss):

Domestic mills 301.1 232.8 94.9

CMCZ* 52.8 (0.2) 69.3

Domestic fabrication 96.0 101.9 (3.4)

Recycling 100.0 70.8 67.9

Marketing and distribution 69.8 90.4 39.4

Corporate and eliminations (32.4) (17.5) (26.4)

* Dollars are before minority interests. 

LIFO Impact on Adjusted Operating Profit LIFO is an inventory
costing method that assumes the most recent inventory
purchases or goods manufactured are sold first. This results
in current sales prices offset against current inventory costs.
In periods of rising prices it has the effect of eliminating
inflationary profits from net income. In periods of declining
prices it has the effect of eliminating deflationary losses from
net income. In either case the goal is to reflect economic
profit. The table below reflects LIFO income or (expense)
representing decreases or (increases) in the LIFO inventory
reserve. CMCZ is not included in this table as it uses FIFO
valuation exclusively for its inventory:

Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
August 31, August 31,

2006 2005 2006 2005

Domestic mills $ (3,722) $11,948 $(28,833) $ (8,155)

Domestic fabrication (1,086) 2,491 (19,972) (6,562)

Recycling 2,139 (23) (12,505) (3,033)

Marketing and distribution (13,536) 2,235 (16,585) (1,526)

Consolidated increase

(decrease) to adjusted 

profit before tax $(16,205) $16,651 $(77,895) $(19,276)

2006 COMPARED TO 2005

Domestic Mills We include our four domestic steel minimills
and our copper tube minimill in our domestic mills segment.
In 2006, our domestic mills segment set another all-time
annual record for adjusted operating profits. Higher selling
prices, metal margins and volumes at our domestic steel
mills in 2006 as compared to 2005 helped net sales and
adjusted operating profit continue to grow. Metal margins (the
difference between the average selling price and cost of scrap
consumed) for the segment increased in 2006 as compared
to 2005 because increases in selling prices at our domestic
steel mills more than offset the increases in scrap purchase
and other input costs. In addition, historically high sales
prices and metal margins helped our copper tube minimill
achieve record adjusted operating profit. The high prices of
steel and copper scrap caused LIFO expense for 2006 to be at
a very high $28.8 million as compared to $8.2 million in 2005.

Within the segment adjusted operating profit for our four
domestic steel minimills was $264.1 million for the year
ended August 31, 2006 as compared to $227.7 million for
2005. This $36.4 million increase in adjusted operating
profit is even more remarkable considering 2005 contained
$20.1 million of insurance recoveries. Selling prices and
metal margins increased in 2006 as compared to 2005 due
to continued strong global demand for steel. Volumes
shipped were also up at all four mills compared to 2005.
Average scrap purchase costs were higher than last year as
the world demand for ferrous scrap also remained strong. Our
overall metal margins increased, resulting in higher total
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adjusted operating profits for the four steel minimills in 2006
as compared to 2005. The table below reflects domestic
steel and ferrous scrap prices per ton for the year ended
August 31:

Increase
2006 2005 $ %

Average mill selling 

price (finished goods) $530 $489 $41 8%

Average mill selling 

price (total sales) 513 473 40 8%

Average cost of ferrous 

scrap consumed 214 199 15 8%

Average FIFO metal margin 299 274 25 9%

Average ferrous scrap 

purchase price 191 171 20 12%

The table below reflects our domestic steel minimills’ operating
statistics for the year ended August 31:

Increase
(short tons in thousands) 2006 2005 Amount %

Tons melted 2,324 2,173 151 7%

Tons rolled 2,198 2,024 174 9%

Tons shipped 2,492 2,266 226 10%

Overall, our domestic steel minimills recorded $15.5 million
LIFO expense in 2006 as compared to $7.7 million in 2005.
Our utility expenses increased by $25.8 million (36%) in
2006 as compared to 2005. Electricity increased by $16.2
million (34%) and natural gas costs increased by $9.6 million
(41%) due primarily to higher rates. Year-over-year costs
for ferroalloys, graphite electrodes and other supplies
increased, while transportation rates rose significantly. We
had a successful startup of the new continuous caster at the
Texas mill during the fourth quarter of 2006.

Our copper tube minimill’s adjusted operating profit was a
record $37.0 million for the year ended August 31, 2006 as
compared to $5.1 million for 2005. The record adjusted
operating profit was achieved on volume slightly less than 2005,
but much higher selling prices and metal margins. The decline
in housing starts coupled with the extraordinary high price of
copper reduced the demand for copper plumbing tube across
the U.S. Our sales of plumbing tube were lower, but sales of
high value-added products increased disproportionately. We
matched production and inventory levels to coincide with
order intake levels. We were able to increase the average selling
price for the year to $3.35 per pound, an historical high, and
metal spreads widened significantly to $1.39 per pound, up
from $0.64 per pound, more than offsetting the dramatic
jump in the cost of copper scrap. The table below reflects our
copper tube minimill’s prices per pound and operating statistics
for the year ended August 31:

Increase (Decrease)
(pounds in millions) 2006 2005 Amount %

Pounds shipped 65.7 66.6 (.9) (1)%

Pounds produced 63.3 62.0 1.3 2%

Average selling price $3.35 $1.94 $1.41 73%

Average scrap purchase cost $2.29 $1.38 $0.91 66%

Average FIFO metal margin $1.39 $0.64 $0.75 117%

Our copper tube minimill recorded $13.4 million LIFO expense
for the year ended August 31, 2006 as compared to $0.4
million in 2005.

CMCZ The table below reflects CMCZ’s operating statistics (in
thousands) and average prices per short ton:

Increase (Decrease)
2006 2005 Amount %

Tons melted 1,283 1,101 182 17%

Tons rolled 1,121 871 250 29%

Tons shipped 1,250 1,092 158 14%

Average mill selling price 

(total sales) 1,388 PLN* 1,376 PLN 12 1%

Averaged cost of ferrous 

scrap consumed 728 PLN 790 PLN (62) (8)%

Average metal margin 660 PLN 586 PLN 74 13%

Average ferrous scrap 

purchase price 629 PLN 650 PLN (21) (3)%

Average mill selling price 

(total sales) $ 437 $ 418 $ 19 5%

Average cost of ferrous 

scrap consumed $ 229 $ 240 $(11) (5)%

Average metal margin $ 208 $ 178 $ 30 17%

Average ferrous scrap 

purchase price $ 197 $ 198 $ (1) (1)%

*Polish Zlotys

CMCZ benefited from the improved economic situation in
Central and Western Europe and especially from stepped-up
construction in Poland and Germany. Prices and margins were
improved for the year with metal margins increasing 13%
over 2005 as the cost of ferrous scrap decreased slightly.
Operating levels and shipments were also up compared to
2005, including a 14% increase in shipments. Functional
currency fluctuations did not have a significant impact on
adjusted operating profits. The startup and operation of the
new mega-shredder during the fourth quarter of 2006 was
successful, and the greenfield rebar fabrication plant in
Zawiercie had a successful start in July 2006.

Domestic Fabrication Tons shipped in 2006 were up 23% and
sales were up 20% compared to 2005; however, adjusted
operating profit was down 6% because the cost of steel was
up considerably resulting in some margin squeeze and LIFO
expense increased 204% over 2005. LIFO expense increased
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dramatically because of the higher steel price and more
inventories on hand. During fiscal 2006, we acquired the
operating assets of Concrete Formtek Services, Inc.,
Cherokee Supply, Brost Forming Supply and Hall-Hodges
Company. These acquisitions did not significantly impact our
2006 adjusted operating profit. See Note 2, Acquisitions, to
the consolidated financial statements. The table below
shows our average fabrication selling prices per short ton
(excluding stock and buyout sales) and total fabrication plant
shipments for the years ended August 31:

Increase (Decrease)
Average selling price* 2006 2005 Amount %

Rebar $ 771 $ 738 $ 33 4%

Joist 1,115 1,112 3 0%

Structural 2,058 1,785 273 15%

Post 696 698 (2) 0%

*Excluding stock and buyout sales

Increase
Tons shipped (in thousands) 2006 2005 Amount %

Rebar 1,076 874 202 23%

Joist 357 282 75 27%

Structural 87 85 2 2%

Post 125 101 24 24%

Recycling Gross margins in 2006 were 39% higher as compared
to 2005. The average selling price of ferrous scrap remained
strong with a 9% increase over 2005. The average selling
price of nonferrous for 2006 increased 52% over 2005 prices.
Volume was also up in fiscal 2006 with a 15% increase in ferrous
tons shipped and a 12% increase in nonferrous tons shipped.
LIFO expense for fiscal 2006 had a significant increase of
$9.5 million over 2005 caused primarily by the higher prices.
During July 2006, CMC acquired the operating assets of
Yonack Iron & Metal Co., which operates scrap metal processing
facilities in Texas, Oklahoma and Arkansas. See Note 2,
Acquisitions, to the consolidated financial statements. The
following table reflects our recycling segment’s average selling
prices per short ton and tons shipped (in thousands) for the
year ended August 31: 

Increase
2006 2005 Amount %

Average ferrous selling price $ 203 $ 186 $ 17 9%

Average nonferrous 

selling price $2,476 $ 1,634 $ 842 52%

Ferrous tons shipped 2,147 1,871 276 15%

Nonferrous tons shipped 327 292 35 12%

Total volume processed 

and shipped* 3,697 3,331 366 11%

*Includes all of our domestic processing plants. 

Marketing and Distribution The primary reason for the decrease
in adjusted operating profit was a significant $15 million
LIFO expense increase in fiscal 2006 as compared to 2005.
The increase in LIFO expense was caused mainly by higher
prices for aluminum, copper and stainless steel inventories
and increased prices and inventory levels of long and flat-
rolled steel product. Market conditions varied by product and
geography, but overall were favorable. Steel tonnage was up
in most of our markets, especially sales into the U.S.,
although sales dollars were mixed in various markets.
Aluminum, Copper and stainless semis were characterized by
higher prices but lower volumes, which on balance resulted
in higher gross margins, but higher transaction costs as well.
Sales and margins for industrial materials and products,
though solid, were off the peaks of last year reflecting mostly
weaker market conditions and volatile prices. Our value-
added downstream and processing businesses continued to
perform well. During 2006, we received a dividend of CZK
89.2 million ($4.1 million) from Trinecke Zelezarny, a Czech
steel mill in which we own 11% of the outstanding shares as
compared to a dividend of CZK 62.4 million ($2.6 million)
received in 2005.

Corporate and Eliminations We recognized income of $4.0 million
on investment assets in our segregated trust for our benefit
restoration plan during the year ended August 31, 2006, as
compared to $4.8 million for 2005. See Note 10, Employees’
Retirement Plans, to the consolidated financial statements.
During fiscal 2006, professional services expense increased
$9.6 million over 2005, primarily for information technology.

Consolidated Data On a consolidated basis, the LIFO method of
inventory valuation decreased our net earnings by $50.6 million
and $12.5 million (41 cents and 10 cents per diluted share)
for the years ended August 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Our overall selling, general and administrative expenses
increased by $70.0 million (16%) for the year ended August
31, 2006 as compared to 2005. Most of this increase was
due to higher discretionary incentive compensation and profit
sharing accruals during the year ended August 31, 2006 as
compared to 2005 due to increased earnings. Foreign currency
fluctuations resulted in decreases in selling, general and
administrative expenses of $0.3 million for the year ended
August 31, 2006 as compared to 2005.

Our interest expense decreased by $1.6 million during
2006 as compared to 2005 as our average borrowings
decreased though short-term interest rates increased more
than 1.5% on an annualized basis in 2006.

Our effective tax rate for the year ended August 31, 2006
decreased to 33.9% as compared to 35.7% in 2005 due to
shifts in profitability among tax jurisdictions, the manufacturing
deduction and tax repatriation benefit.
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NEAR-TERM OUTLOOK

The prospects are excellent for another strong year for CMC.
It should exhibit the traditional seasonal pattern of a good
start, seasonal slowdown, and strong pickup in our third and
fourth quarter. If CMCZ can weather the winter in good order,
the year may well approach fiscal 2006 though LIFO’s
impact is always difficult to quantify.

We see solid demand during the first quarter in most of our
global markets and inventories of most products appear in
line with sales. Although some economists point to a slowing
global economy, the overall level of activity remains robust
and broad-based. Worldwide manufacturing activity continues
to expand. While residential construction in the U.S. has
weakened, non-residential construction remains strong in the
U.S., Asia and South America, and has picked up in Europe.
More pointedly, construction materials generally are in strong
demand. Our domestic steel mill markets remain vibrant and
Central Europe has strengthened. While imports of carbon
steel bar products in recent months have increased sharply
into the U.S., strong demand appears to be absorbing the
supply. Our mill shipments in the U.S. and Poland will
remain strong during the first quarter of fiscal 2007, and
realized steel prices should remain high. There is good news
on the energy cost side, especially the fall in natural gas
prices. Ferrous scrap prices will remain at high levels, although
likely to be down for the quarter. Nonferrous markets continue
at historically high levels. Demand for downstream products
and services remains vibrant, and the current short-term
margin compression should abate.

Net income from our domestic steel mills should remain
strong during the first quarter, above the first quarter of last
year although down from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.
In addition, we have scheduled shutdowns at each of our
domestic steel mills during the first two quarters for routine
maintenance or budgeted capital projects. Earnings from the
copper tube business will be lower than the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2006. Results at CMCZ are expected to remain
excellent. Our anticipation is that fabrication profits will
improve as finished goods steel prices remain relatively flat.
Our Recycling segment will again post strong results, both
from ferrous and nonferrous areas, although down from the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. We expect the Marketing and
Distribution segment to have another satisfactory quarter
driven by relatively firm volume and margins in various steel
markets, improved results in nonferrous semis, and steady
performance for industrial materials. Accordingly, we estimate
that our first quarter LIFO diluted earnings per share will be
between $0.65 and $0.75.

We anticipate that our capital spending for 2007 will be
$201 million, including the start of implementing a new wire
rod block line at CMCZ and new mill stands and reheat furnace
at our Alabama mill. We believe that we will derive benefits
from reduced operating costs and increased productivity in
2007 from the new large capacity shredder at CMCZ and the
continuous caster project at our CMC Texas mill which
became operational in the fourth quarter of 2006, and from
other capital projects to be completed in fiscal 2007.

LONG-TERM OUTLOOK

The rapid expansion of a number of emerging economies,
including China and India, has been a major catalyst for the
strong steel and nonferrous markets around the world. The
magnitude of the growth in these economies has been a new
dynamic in the global marketplace. Therefore, we believe
that there is an enhanced prospect of significant long-term
growth in demand for the global materials sector. We believe
that we are well-positioned to exploit long-term opportunities.
We expect strong demand for our products due to demand
throughout the major global economies as well as continued
growth in developing countries. Emerging countries often
have a higher growth rate for steel and nonferrous metals
consumption. We believe that the demand will increase in
Asia, particularly in China and India, as well as in Central
and Eastern Europe.

We believe that there will be further consolidation in our
industries, and we plan to continue to participate in a prudent
way. The reasons for further consolidation include a historically
inadequate return on capital for many companies, a high
degree of fragmentation, the need to eliminate non-competitive
capacity and more effective marketing.

We also believe our aggressive capital expenditure plan will
allow us to improve efficiency and cost effectiveness and help
us meet our customers’ demand for our products currently
and in future years. We are undertaking a 5-year enterprise
resource planning system implementation program to
improve our operating systems.

2005 COMPARED TO 2004

Domestic Mills Net sales and adjusted operating profit were
higher in 2005 due primarily to higher selling prices and
metal margins at our domestic steel mills as compared to
2004. Metal margins for the segment increased significantly
in 2005 as compared to 2004 because increases in selling
prices at our domestic steel mills more than offset the
increases in scrap purchase and other input costs. Although
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our copper tube minimill increased its selling prices during
2005 as compared to 2004, purchase prices of copper scrap
increased even more. As a result, our metal margin declined for
this mill. Also, expenses related to valuing our inventories under
the LIFO method decreased as compared to 2004 primarily
because scrap purchase and other input costs did not
increase as rapidly in 2005 as compared to 2004. During
the year ended August 31, 2005, we recorded $20.1 million
recoveries for the settlement of insurance claims relating to
prior year transformer failures at our steel minimills.

Adjusted operating profit for our four domestic steel minimills
was $227.7 million for the year ended August 31, 2005 as
compared to $85.8 million for 2004. Selling prices and
metal margins increased in 2005 as compared to 2004 due
to strong global demand for steel. Also, the competition from
foreign steel imports was less as a result of the weaker U.S.
dollar and stronger global markets. Average scrap purchase
costs were higher than last year due primarily to increased
world demand for ferrous scrap. Our overall metal margins
increased, resulting in significantly higher total adjusted
operating profits for the four steel minimills in 2005 as
compared to 2004. The table below reflects domestic steel
and ferrous scrap prices per ton for the year ended August 31:

Increase
2005 2004 $ %

Average mill selling price 

(finished goods) $ 489 $ 385 $ 104 27%

Average mill selling price 

(total sales) 473 379 94 25%

Average cost of ferrous 

scrap consumed 199 164 35 21%

Average FIFO metal margin 274 215 59 27%

Average ferrous scrap 

purchase price 171 149 22 15%

The domestic steel minimills’ production and shipment levels
(tons melted, rolled and shipped) for the year ended August 31,
2005 decreased slightly as compared to the at all-time record
levels set in 2004 as our customers worked through excess
inventories. During 2005, we scheduled our maintenance and
lowered our production in order to most effectively manage our
inventory levels. The table below reflects our domestic steel
minimills’ operating statistics for the year ended August 31:

Decrease
(short tons in thousands) 2005 2004 Amount %

Tons melted 2,173 2,265 (92) (4)%

Tons rolled 2,024 2,195 (171) (8)%

Tons shipped 2,266 2,401 (135) (6)%

Overall, our domestic steel minimills recorded $7.7 million
LIFO expense in 2005 as compared to $24.1 million in
2004. Our utility expenses increased by $924 thousand
(1%) in 2005 as compared to 2004. Electricity decreased by
$664 thousand (1%) due to both lower usage from
decreased overall production and rate decreases due to
refunds. Natural gas costs increased by $1.6 million (7%) due
to higher rates which more than offset lower usage. Costs for
ferroalloys increased by $11.6 million in 2005 as compared
to 2004 largely due to more demand from U.S. mills, the
impact of the weaker U.S. dollar and higher ocean freight
costs on these imported items. Also, in 2005, all of our
domestic steel minimills focused on controlling costs and
improving productivity, quality and safety. The Texas highway
building program provided good business opportunities for
CMC Texas. A new scrap yard was established at CMC
Alabama to improve scrap flow and reduce congestion inside
the mill and reduce scrap handling costs. The installation of
a new electric arc furnace transformer and expansion of the
baghouse at CMC South Carolina increased our steel melting
capacity. During the year ended August 31, 2005, CMC
Texas and CMC South Carolina recorded $10.3 million and
$9.8 million, respectively, from insurance recoveries (see
Note 11 - Commitments and Contingencies, to the consolidated
financial statements). 

Our copper tube minimill’s adjusted operating profit was
$5.1 million during the year ended August 31, 2005 as
compared to an adjusted operating profit of $9.0 million for
2004. Although our average selling price for copper tube
increased, our average copper scrap purchase cost increased
more than our average selling price resulting in decreased
metal margins in 2005 as compared to 2004. Copper scrap
purchase prices increased because global demand for copper
scrap exceeded supply. However, we could not increase our
selling prices for copper tube because of pressure from alter-
native competing products such as plastic water tubing and
consolidation among our customers. The table below reflects
our copper tube minimill’s prices per pound and operating
statistics for the year ended August 31:

Increase (Decrease)
(pounds in millions) 2005 2004 Amount %

Pounds shipped 66.6 68.4 (1.8) (3)%

Pounds produced 62.0 66.3 (4.3) (6)%

Average selling price $1.94 $1.69 $ 0.25 15%

Average scrap purchase cost $1.38 $1.08 $ 0.30 28%

Average FIFO metal margin $0.64 $0.72 $(0.08) (11)%

Our copper tube minimill recorded $436 thousand LIFO
expense for the year ended August 31, 2005 as compared to
$5.5 million in 2004.
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CMCZ On December 3, 2003, our Swiss subsidiary acquired
71.1% of the outstanding shares of Huta Zawiercie, S.A.
(CMCZ), a steel minimill in Zawiercie, Poland. The table
below reflects CMCZ’s operating statistics (in thousands) and
average prices per short ton:

Year Ended Nine Months
August 31, Ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2005 2004

Tons melted 1,101 1,159

Tons rolled 871 863

Tons shipped 1,092 1,082

Average mill selling price (total sales) 1,376 PLN* 1,466 PLN

Average cost of ferrous 

scrap consumed 790 PLN 761 PLN

Average metal margin 586 PLN 705 PLN

Average ferrous scrap purchase price 650 PLN 690 PLN

Average mill selling price (total sales) $ 418 $ 380

Average cost of ferrous 

scrap consumed $ 240 $ 179

Average metal margin $ 178 $ 201

Average ferrous scrap purchase price $ 198 $ 179

*Polish Zlotys

Our average selling prices and metal margins decreased signif-
icantly in 2005 as compared to 2004. Weaker markets in
Europe during our 2005 second and third fiscal quarters led
to greater competition in Poland. Also, our ability to export
CMCZ’s products from Poland to other key international markets
was limited in 2005 due to the strong Polish Zloty, especially
relative to the Euro. However, we reported an adjusted operating
profit from CMCZ of $1.85 million during our 2005 fourth
quarter as market conditions improved. Functional currency
fluctuations did not have a significant impact on adjusted
operating profits.

Domestic Fabrication During the year ended August 31,
2005, we acquired the operating assets of J.L. Davidson
Company’s rebar fabricating facility in California and a joist
manufacturing plant in Juarez, Mexico. These acquisitions
did not significantly impact our 2005 adjusted operating
profit. On December 23, 2003, we acquired 100% of the
stock of Lofland Acquisition, Inc. (Lofland) which operates
steel reinforcing bar fabrication and construction-related
product sales facilities in Texas, Arkansas, Louisiana,
Oklahoma, New Mexico and Mississippi. During the first four
months of 2005, this acquisition accounted for $38 million
and $1.6 million in net sales and adjusted operating profit,
respectively, and also accounted for 56 thousand tons
shipped during the same period. See Note 2, Acquisitions, to

the consolidated financial statements. Our domestic fabrication
segment’s overall adjusted operating profit increased in
2005 as compared to 2004 due to our overall higher average
selling prices and higher shipments which more than offset
increases in our steel purchase costs. Market conditions were
favorable, resulting in higher gross margins in all of our product
lines including rebar fabrication, construction-related prod-
ucts, steel fence posts, steel joists, castellated beams and
structural steel fabrication. The table below shows our average
fabrication selling prices per short ton (excluding stock and
buyout sales) and total fabrication plant shipments for the
years ended August 31:

Increase
Average selling price* 2005 2004 Amount %

Rebar $ 738 $ 586 $152 26%

Joist 1,112 871 241 28%

Structural 1,785 1,272 513 40%

Post 698 538 160 30%

*Excluding stock and buyout sales

Increase
Tons shipped (in thousands) 2005 2004 Amount %

Rebar 874 803 71 9%

Joist 282 236 46 19%

Structural 85 85 0%

Post 101 126 (25) (20)%

We recorded $6.6 million of LIFO expense in our domestic
fabrication segment for the year ended August 31, 2005,
due to the higher cost of steel and more inventories on hand.
During the year ended August 31, 2004, we recorded $26.3
million of LIFO expense. During the year ended August 31,
2004, we recorded impairment charges of $6.6 million. See
Note 5, Asset Impairment Charges, to the consolidated
financial statements. 

Recycling Gross margins in 2005 were 5% higher as compared
to 2004. Our ferrous and nonferrous scrap selling prices
increased because demand from Far Eastern buyers, especially
China, and the weaker U.S. dollar resulted in more scrap
exports by our competitors, especially early in fiscal 2005.
The ferrous scrap market was extremely volatile during 2005,
and scrap prices generally decreased after our first quarter.
Our ferrous sales volumes decreased slightly during 2005 as
compared to 2004 due to production cutbacks and cautious
buying by our steel mill customers. However, by the end of
the 2005 fourth quarter, global demand for ferrous scrap
increased which resulted in increased prices. During 2005, our
nonferrous scrap shipments increased as compared to 2004
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due to higher demand for aluminum, copper and stainless steel
scrap, although demand for stainless weakened in our fourth
quarter. The following table reflects our recycling segment’s
average selling prices per short ton and tons shipped (in
thousands) for the year ended August 31:

Increase (Decrease)
2005 2004 Amount %

Average ferrous selling price $ 186 $ 172 $ 14 8%

Average nonferrous 

selling price $1,634 $1,382 $ 252 18%

Ferrous tons shipped 1,871 1,979 (108) (5)%

Nonferrous tons shipped 292 258 34 13%

Total volume processed 

and shipped* 3,331 3,411 (80) (2)%

*Includes all of our domestic processing plants. 

Also, we recorded $3.0 million LIFO expense for the year
ended August 31, 2005 as compared to $5.2 million in
2004, due primarily to increased average material purchase
costs for the fiscal year.

Marketing and Distribution Net sales in our marketing and
distribution segment increased by $1 billion (55%) for the
year ended August 31, 2005 to $2.9 billion as compared to
2004, $55 million of which resulted from functional currency
fluctuations. Our adjusted operating profit for the year
ended August 31, 2005 was $90.4 million as compared to
$39.4 million in 2004, an increase of 129%. Our increased
profitability in marketing and distribution was largely the
result of our strategy in recent years to build up our regional
business around the world and to increase our downstream
presence. The net effect of functional currency fluctuations
on our adjusted operating profit was immaterial. The majority
of the increases in net sales and adjusted operating profit
were due to higher shipments and selling prices in 2005 as
compared to 2004. The effect of these increases was partially
offset by $1.5 million LIFO expense in 2005. LIFO expense of
$13.8 million was recorded in 2004. Markets were favorable
in most geographic regions around the world. We imported more
steel, aluminum, copper and stainless steel semi-finished
products into the United States, and gross margins for these
products were higher in 2005 as compared to 2004. Our net
sales to and within Europe, Asia (including China) and
Australia increased significantly in 2005 as compared to 2004
due mainly to significant selling price increases which more
than offset increases in purchases costs for our products and
higher freight costs. Our 2005 sales and adjusted operating
profits for industrial materials and products (including minerals,

ores, refractories, ferroalloys and various metals and alloys)
were at record levels because of strong global demand from
the metals industry and short supply. Also, we added several
new products. However, during our fourth quarter, prices
decreased for some industrial materials and products, returning
to more historical levels. During 2005, we received a dividend
of CZK 62.4 million ($2.6 million) from our 11% investee,
Trinecke Zelezarny, a Czech steel mill, as compared to a dividend
of CZK 34.1 million ($1.6 million) received in 2004.

Corporate and Eliminations We recognized income of $4.8
million on investment assets in our segregated trust for our
benefit restoration plan during the year ended August 31,
2005. See Note 10, Employees’ Retirement Plans, to the
consolidated financial statements. During the year ended
August 31, 2004, we incurred a $3.1 million charge from
the repurchase of $90 million of our notes payable otherwise
due in 2005.

Consolidated Data On a consolidated basis, the LIFO method of
inventory valuation decreased our net earnings by $12.5 million
and $48.6 million ($0.10 and $0.41 per diluted share) for
the years ended August 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Our overall selling, general and administrative expenses
increased by $57.4 million (16%) for the year ended August
31, 2005 as compared to 2004. Most of this increase was
due to higher discretionary incentive compensation and profit
sharing accruals during the year ended August 31, 2005 as
compared to 2004 due to increased earnings. Our acquisitions
of CMCZ and Lofland accounted for $10.0 million of the
increase for the year ended August 31, 2005. Our selling,
general and administrative expenses for the year ended
August 31, 2004 included asset impairment charges of $6.6
million and losses on reacquisition of debt of $3.1 million.
Foreign currency fluctuations resulted in increases in selling,
general and administrative expenses of $1.3 million for the
year ended August 31, 2005 as compared to 2004.

Our interest expense increased by $3.1 million during 2005
as compared to 2004 due primarily to increased discount
costs on extended term documentary letters of credit. In
addition, short-term interest rates increased more than 1%
on an annualized basis during the year ended August 31,
2005 as compared to 2004.

Our effective tax rate for the year ended August 31, 2005
increased to 35.7% as compared to 30.7% in 2004 due to
a shift in profitability from low tax jurisdictions (Poland) to
those domestic jurisdictions subject to state taxes.
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2006 LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

See Note 6, Credit Arrangements, to the consolidated
financial statements. 

Our sources, facilities and availability of liquidity and capital
resources as of August 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Total Facility Availability

Net cash flows from operating activities $233,383 $ N/A

Commercial paper program* 400,000 375,425

Domestic accounts receivable securitization 130,000 130,000

International accounts receivable 

sales facilities 90,980 29,075

Bank credit facilities – uncommitted 997,980 448,679

Notes due from 2007 to 2013 350,000 **

Trade financing arrangements ** As required

CMC international short-term credit facility 112,000 52,000

CMCZ revolving credit facility 32,573 32,573

CMCZ term note due March 2009 18,322 –

CMCZ & CMC Poland equipment notes 11,898 –

* The commercial paper program is supported by our $400 million unsecured revolving
credit agreement. The availability under the revolving credit agreement is reduced by
$24.6 million of stand-by letters of credit issued as of August 31, 2006.

** With our investment grade credit ratings and current industry conditions we believe we
have access to cost-effective public markets for potential refinancing or the issuance of
additional long-term debt and financial institutions for trade financing arrangements.

Certain of our financing agreements, both domestically and at
CMCZ, include various covenants, of which we were in compliance
at August 31, 2006. There are no guarantees by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries for any of CMCZ’s debt.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements For added flexibility, we may
secure financing through securitization and sales of certain
accounts receivable both in the U.S. and internationally. See
Note 3, Sales of Accounts Receivable, to the consolidated
financial statements. We may continually sell accounts
receivable on an ongoing basis to replace those receivables
that have been collected from our customers. Our domestic
securitization program contains certain cross-default provisions
whereby a termination event could occur should we default
under another credit arrangement, and contains covenants
that conform to the same requirements contained in our
revolving credit agreement.

Cash Flows Our cash flows from operating activities primarily
result from sales of steel and related products, and to a lesser
extent, sales of nonferrous metal products. We also sell and
rent construction-related products and accessories. We have
a diverse and generally stable customer base. We use futures

or forward contracts as needed to mitigate the risks from
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and metals
commodity prices. See Note 7, Financial Instruments, Market
and Credit Risk, to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended August 31, 2006, we generated
$233.4 million of net cash flows from our operating activities
as compared to the $188.4 million of net cash flows provided
by our operating activities for the year ended August 31, 2005.
Significant fluctuations in working capital were as follows:

• Increased accounts receivable – higher selling prices
and increased volume.

• Increased inventories – higher carrying costs, increased
volume and more in-transit inventory, offset by a much
higher LIFO reserve.

• Increased other assets – increase in segregated assets
held in trust related to deferred compensation liability
and higher inventory of construction related rental assets.

• Increased accounts payable and accrued expenses –
higher purchase costs, increased volume and higher
profit sharing and incentive compensation accrued.

We invested $131.2 million in property, plant and equipment
during the year ended August 31, 2006, which was more
than the $110.2 million spent during 2005. During 2006,
we spent $44.4 million for the acquisitions of businesses as
compared to $12.3 million in 2005 and $99.4 million in 2004. 

In May 2006, we paid a two-for-one stock split in the form
of a 100% stock dividend on our common stock and also
increased our quarterly cash dividend to 6 cents per share on the
increased number of shares resulting from the stock dividend.
During the year ended August 31, 2006, we received $23.7
million from stock issued under our employee incentive and
stock purchase plans as compared to $18.7 million in 2005
and $19.5 million in 2004. We purchased 3,469,240
shares of our common stock during the year ended August
31, 2006 at $22.67 per share for a total of $78.7 million.
During 2005 and 2004, we spent $77.1 million and $4.6
million, respectively, to acquire our common stock. We paid
dividends of $20.2 million during the year ended August 31,
2006 as compared to $13.7 million and $9.8 million in
2005 and 2004, respectively.

Our contractual obligations for the next twelve months of
$1.1 billion are typically expenditures to be paid in the ordinary
course of revenue generating activities. We believe our cash
flows from operating activities and debt facilities are adequate
to fund our ongoing operations and planned capital expenditures.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table represents our contractual obligations as of August 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Payments Due By Period*
Less than More than

Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years

Contractual Obligations:

Long-term debt(1) $ 382,248 $ 60,162 $119,150 $ 2,884 $200,052

Notes payable 60,000 60,000 – – –

Interest(2) 103,425 22,744 33,205 22,620 24,856

Operating leases(3) 99,379 25,614 37,415 21,284 15,066

Purchase obligations(4) 1,201,795 922,848 186,504 72,430 20,013

Total contractual cash obligations $ 1,846,847 $1,091,368 $376,274 $119,218 $259,987

* We have not discounted the cash obligations in this table. 

(1) Total amounts are included in the August 31, 2006 consolidated balance sheet. See Note 6, Credit Arrangements, to the consolidated financial statements.
(2) Interest payments related to our short-term debt are not included in the table as they do not represent a significant obligation as of August 31, 2006.
(3) Includes minimum lease payment obligations for non-cancelable equipment and real-estate leases in effect as of August 31, 2006. See Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies,

to the consolidated financial statements.
(4) Approximately 92% of these purchase obligations are for inventory items to be sold in the ordinary course of business. Purchase obligations include all enforceable, legally binding

agreements to purchase goods or services that specify all significant terms, regardless of the duration of the agreement. Agreements with variable terms are excluded because we are
unable to estimate the minimum amounts.

OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

We maintain stand-by letters of credit to provide support for
certain transactions that our customers or suppliers request.
At August 31, 2006, we had committed $32.3 million under
these arrangements. All commitments expire within one year.

In January 2005, we entered into a guarantee agreement to
assist one of our Chinese coke suppliers to obtain pre-production
financing from a bank. In May 2006, we entered into another
guarantee agreement for one of our suppliers’ financing. Our
maximum exposure under the guarantees at August 31,
2006 was $2.9 million. See Note 11, Commitments and
Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of conducting our business, we become
involved in litigation, administrative proceedings and government
investigations, including environmental matters. We may incur
settlements, fines, penalties or judgments because of some
of these matters. While we are unable to estimate precisely
the ultimate dollar amount of exposure or loss in connection
with these matters, we make accruals as warranted. The
amounts we accrue could vary substantially from amounts we
pay due to several factors including the following: evolving
remediation technology, changing regulations, possible third-
party contributions, the inherent shortcomings of the
estimation process, and the uncertainties involved in litigation.
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Accordingly, we cannot always estimate a meaningful range
of possible exposure. We believe that we have adequately
provided in our consolidated financial statements for the
estimable probable impact of these contingencies. We also
believe that the outcomes will not significantly affect the
long-term results of operations or our financial position.
However, they may have a material impact on earnings for a
particular quarter.

Environmental and Other Matters See Note 11, Commitments
and Contingencies, to the consolidated financial statements.

General We are subject to federal, state and local pollution
control laws and regulations. We anticipate that compliance
with these laws and regulations will involve continuing capital
expenditures and operating costs.

Our original business and one of our core businesses for
over nine decades is metals recycling. In the present era of
conservation of natural resources and ecological concerns,
we are committed to sound ecological and business conduct.
Certain governmental regulations regarding environmental
concerns, however well intentioned, are contrary to the goal
of greater recycling. Such regulations expose us and the
industry to potentially significant risks.

We believe that recycled materials are commodities that are
diverted by recyclers, such as us, from the solid waste streams
because of their inherent value. Commodities are materials
that are purchased and sold in public and private markets
and commodities exchanges every day around the world. They are
identified, purchased, sorted, processed and sold in accordance
with carefully established industry specifications.

Environmental agencies at various federal and state levels
classify certain recycled materials as hazardous substances
and subject recyclers to material remediation costs, fines and
penalties. Taken to extremes, such actions could cripple the
recycling industry and undermine any national goal of material
conservation. Enforcement, interpretation, and litigation
involving these regulations are not well developed.

Solid and Hazardous Waste We currently own or lease, and in
the past owned or leased, properties that have been used in
our operations. Although we used operating and disposal
practices that were standard in the industry at the time,
wastes may have been disposed or released on or under the
properties or on or under locations where such wastes have
been taken for disposal. We are currently involved in the
investigation and remediation of several such properties.
State and federal laws applicable to wastes and contaminated

properties have gradually become stricter over time. Under
new laws, we could be required to remediate properties
impacted by previously disposed wastes. We have been
named as a potentially responsible party (PRP) at a number
of contaminated sites.

We generate wastes, including hazardous wastes, that are
subject to the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act (RCRA) and comparable state and/or local statutes where
we operate. These statutes, regulations and laws may have
limited disposal options for certain wastes.

Superfund The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or
an equivalent state agency notified us that we are considered a
PRP at thirteen sites, none owned by us. We may be obligated
under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation,
and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) or a similar state statute to
conduct remedial investigation, feasibility studies, remediation
and/or removal of alleged releases of hazardous substances
or to reimburse the EPA for such activities. We are involved in
litigation or administrative proceedings with regard to several
of these sites in which we are contesting, or at the appropriate
time we may contest, our liability at the sites. In addition, we
have received information requests with regard to other sites
which may be under consideration by the EPA as potential
CERCLA sites. Because of various factors, including the
ambiguity of the regulations, the difficulty of identifying the
responsible parties for any particular site, the complexity of
determining the relative liability among them, the uncertainty
as to the most desirable remediation techniques and the
amount of damages and cleanup costs and the extended time
periods over which such costs may be incurred, we cannot
reasonably estimate our ultimate costs of compliance with
CERCLA. At August 31, 2006, based on currently available
information, which is in many cases preliminary and incomplete,
we believe that our aggregate liability for cleanup and remediation
costs in connection with nine of the thirteen sites will be
between $2.2 million and $2.8 million. We have accrued for
these liabilities based upon our best estimates. We are not
able to estimate the possible range of loss on the other sites.
The amounts paid and the expenses incurred on these thirteen
sites for the year ended August 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were
not material. Historically, the amounts that we have ultimately
paid for such remediation activities have not been material.

Clean Water Act The Clean Water Act (CWA) imposes restrictions
and strict controls regarding the discharge of wastes into
waters of the United States, a term broadly defined. These
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controls have become more stringent over time and it is probable
that additional restrictions will be imposed in the future.
Permits must generally be obtained to discharge pollutants
into federal waters; comparable permits may be required at
the state level. The CWA and many state agencies provide for
civil, criminal and administrative penalties for unauthorized
discharges of pollutants. In addition, the EPA has promulgated
regulations that may require us to obtain permits to discharge
storm water runoff. In the event of an unauthorized discharge,
we may be liable for penalties and costs.

Clean Air Act Our operations are subject to regulations at the
federal, state and local level for the control of emissions from
sources of air pollution. New and modified sources of air pollutants
are often required to obtain permits prior to commencing
construction, modification and/or operations. Major sources
of air pollutants are subject to more stringent requirements,
including the potential need for additional permits and to
increased scrutiny in the context of enforcement. The EPA
has been implementing its stationary emission control program
through expanded enforcement of the New Source Review
Program. Under this program, new or modified sources are
required to construct what is referred to as the Best Available
Control Technology. Additionally, the EPA is implementing
new, more stringent standards for ozone and fine particulate
matter. The EPA recently has promulgated new national emission
standards for hazardous air pollutants for steel mills which will
require all major sources in this category to meet the standards
by reflecting application of maximum achievable control
technology. Compliance with the new standards could
require additional expenditures.

In fiscal 2006, we incurred environmental expenses of $18.6
million. The expenses included the cost of environmental
personnel at various divisions, permit and license fees, accruals
and payments for studies, tests, assessments, remediation,
consultant fees, baghouse dust removal and various other
expenses. Approximately $6.2 million of our capital expenditures
for 2006 related to costs directly associated with environmental
compliance. At August 31, 2006, $6.3 million was accrued for
environmental liabilities of which $3.7 million was classified
as other long-term liabilities.

Business Interruption Insurance Claims and Unclaimed Property
See Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

We have paid quarterly cash dividends in each of the past
168 consecutive quarters. We paid dividends in our fiscal
year 2006 at the rate of 3 cents per share in the first two
quarters, 5 cents for the third quarter and 6 cents for the
fourth quarter.

MARKET RISK

Approach to Minimizing Market Risk See Note 7, Financial
Instruments, Market and Credit Risk, to the consolidated
financial statements for disclosure regarding our approach to
minimizing market risk. Also, see Note 1, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated financial
statements. The following types of derivative instruments
were outstanding at August 31, 2006, in accordance with
our risk management program.

Currency Exchange Forwards We enter into currency exchange
forward contracts as economic hedges of international trade
commitments denominated in currencies other than the United
States dollar, or, if the transaction involves our Australian or
European subsidiaries, their local currency. No single foreign
currency poses a primary risk to us. Fluctuations that cause
temporary disruptions in one market segment tend to open
opportunities in other segments.

Commodity Prices We base pricing in some of our sales and
purchase contracts on forward metal commodity exchange
quotes which we determine at the beginning of the contract.
Due to the volatility of the metal commodity indexes, we
enter into metal commodity forward or futures contracts for
copper, aluminum, nickel and zinc. These forwards or futures
mitigate the risk of unanticipated declines in gross margins on
these contractual commitments. Physical transaction quantities
will not match exactly with standard commodity lot sizes,
leading to small gains and losses from ineffectiveness.

Interest Rates If interest rates increased or decreased by one
percentage point, the effect on interest expense related to our
variable-rate debt and the fair value of our long-term debt would
be approximately $221 thousand and $13 million, respectively.

The following table provides certain information regarding
the foreign exchange and commodity financial instruments
discussed above.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Contract Commitments as of August 31, 2006: 

Functional Currency Foreign Currency U.S. $
Amount Amount Range of Equivalent

Type (in thousands) Type (in thousands) Hedge Rates* (in thousands)

AUD 149,666 USD 113,068 0.7152–0.7740 $113,068
PLN 84,262 EUR 21,367 0.2461–0.2573 26,154
EUR 46,679 USD 60,132 1.2580–1.2942 60,132
GBP 23,859 USD 41,456 1.8775–1.9096 41,456
GBP 116 EUR 172 1.4837 211
AUD 845 JPY** 72,385 82.55–89.06 627
AUD 1,271 EUR 754 0.5698–0.5966 923
AUD 269 GBP 109 0.4033–0.4082 61
USD 10,725 PLN 33,000 3.0659–3.0750 10,725
USD 287 EUR 225 0.7753–0.7907 287

253,644
Revaluation as of August 31, 2006, at quoted market 253,367
Unrealized loss $ 277

* Substantially all foreign currency exchange contracts mature within one year. The range of hedge rates represents functional to foreign currency conversion rates.
** Japanese Yen 

As of August 31, 2005 (in thousands):
Revaluation at quoted market $204,727
Unrealized gain $ 165

Metal Commodity Contract Commitments as of August 31, 2006:
Total Contract

Range or Amount Value at 
# of Standard of Hedge Rates Inception

Terminal Exchange Metal Long/Short Lots Lot Size Total Weight Per MT/lb. (in thousands)

London Metal 
Exchange (LME) Aluminum Long 643 25 MT 16,075 MT $ 2,139.00–2,803.00 $ 15,659

Aluminum Short 357 25 MT 8,925 MT 2,390.50–2,940.00 22,901
Copper Long 58 25 MT 1,450 MT 6,725.00–7,898.00 10,982
Copper Short 111 25 MT 2,775 MT 6,800.00–7,903.50 21,288
Nickel Long 20 6 MT 120 MT 30,743.64 3,689
Nickel Short 170 6 MT 1,020 MT 19,450.00–29,525.00 25,054

Zinc Short 3 55,000 lbs. 165,000 lbs. 2,880.00–3,405.00 241
New York Mercantile Exchange Copper Long 522 25,000 lbs. 14.0 MM lbs. 136.00–365.85 43,778
Commodities Division (Comex) Copper Short 319 25,000 lbs. 8.0 MM lbs. 309.50–371.00 27,728

171,320
Revaluation as of August 31, 2006, at quoted market 168,259
Unrealized gain $ 3,061
• MT = Metric Ton 
• MM = Millions 
• lbs. = Pounds 

As of August 31, 2005 (in thousands):
Revaluation at quoted market $ 72,069
Unrealized gain $ 261
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL 

CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company.
Internal control over financial reporting is a process to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial
reporting for external purposes in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Internal control over financial reporting includes
maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and
fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of
our financial statements; providing reasonable assurance
that receipts and expenditures of company assets are made
in accordance with management authorization; and providing
reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of company assets that could have a material
effect on our financial statements would be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting is not intended to
provide absolute assurance that a misstatement of our financial
statements would be prevented or detected.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded
that the company’s internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of August 31, 2006. Deloitte & Touche LLP
has audited this assessment of our internal control over
financial reporting; their report is included on page 40 of the
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2006. A copy of this report follows on
page 62.
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Commercial Metals Company and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of August 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended August 31, 2006. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company at August 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended August 31, 2006, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company changed its method of accounting
for stock-based compensation with the adoption of Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004)
Share Based Payment, effective September 1, 2005.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of August 31, 2006, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated November 6,
2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dallas, Texas
November 6, 2006

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Commercial Metals Company
Irving, Texas
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We have audited management’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, that Commercial Metals Company
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2006, based
on criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control
over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation
of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the
Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of August 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control–Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
August 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control–Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for
the year ended August 31, 2006 of the Company and our
report dated November 6, 2006 expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements with an explanatory
paragraph related to the Company’s adoption of Statement of
Financial Standards No. 123 (revised 2004) Share Based
Payment, effective September 1, 2005.

Dallas, Texas
November 6, 2006

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Commercial Metals Company
Irving, Texas
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Financial Ratios and Statistics

Year ended August 31,
2006 2005 2004

Liquidity
Current ratio 1.8 1.9 1.8

Acid test ratio 1.1 1.1 0.9

Turnover
Average day’s sales $ 20.8 $18.1 $13.1

million million million

Accounts receivable 

No. of days’ sales outstanding 54.4 45.8 49.4

Inventories

No. of days’ sales on hand 42.4 44.7 55.8

Leverage
Long-term debt as a percent 

of total capitalization* 20.4% 29.0% 36.4%

Total debt to total capitalization*

plus short-term debt 26.1% 29.5% 37.6%

Ratio of total debt to tangible

net worth 0.4 0.5 0.7

Ratio of total liabilities to 

total assets 0.6 0.6 0.6

Short-term borrowings as a 

percent of total borrowings 13.6% 0.4% 2.4%

Coverage
Times interest earned pre-tax 19.8 15.2 8.5

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 14.8 12.4 7.3

Taxes
Effective tax rate 33.9% 35.7% 30.7%

Profitability
Earnings before taxes/net sales** 7.4% 6.8% 4.5%

Net earnings/net sales 4.7% 4.4% 2.8%

Return on beginning 

stockholders’ equity 39.6% 43.3% 26.0%

* Total capitalization = long-term debt + deferred income taxes + total stockholders’ equity
** Before minority interests

Dividend Data and Price Range of Common Stock*

2006 Price Range of 

Fiscal Common Stock Cash
Quarter High Low Dividends

1st $17.63 $13.54 3¢

2nd 24.59 17.11 3¢

3rd 31.69 21.72 5¢

4th 26.39 20.04 6¢

2005 Price Range of 

Fiscal Common Stock Cash
Quarter High Low Dividends

1st $11.46 $ 8.17 3¢

2nd 18.08 10.03 3¢

3rd 19.50 11.37 3¢

4th 15.35 11.50 3¢

*Adjusted for May 2006 stock split
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Year ended August 31,
(in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $7,555,924 $6,592,697 $4,768,327

Costs and expenses:
Cost of goods sold 6,476,832 5,693,483 4,160,726
Selling, general and administrative expenses 495,030 424,994 367,550
Interest expense 29,569 31,187 28,104

7,001,431 6,149,664 4,556,380

Earnings before income taxes and minority interests 554,493 443,033 211,947
Income taxes 187,937 157,996 65,055

Earnings before minority interests 366,556 285,037 146,892
Minority interests (benefit) 10,209 (744) 14,871

Net earnings $ 356,347 $ 285,781 $ 132,021

Basic earnings per share $ 3.02 $ 2.42 $ 1.15
Diluted earnings per share $ 2.89 $ 2.32 $ 1.11

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries
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August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 180,719 $ 119,404
Accounts receivable (less allowance for collection losses of $16,075 and $17,167) 1,134,823 829,192
Inventories 762,635 706,951
Other 66,615 45,370

Total current assets 2,144,792 1,700,917

Property, plant and equipment:
Land 44,702 41,887
Buildings and improvements 268,755 245,924
Equipment 970,973 863,748
Construction in process 51,184 49,183

1,335,614 1,200,742
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (746,928) (695,158)

588,686 505,584
Goodwill 35,749 30,542
Other assets 129,641 95,879

$2,898,868 $2,332,922
See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries
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August 31,
(in thousands, except share data) 2006 2005

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable-trade $ 526,408 $ 408,342
Accounts payable-documentary letters of credit 141,713 140,986
Accrued expenses and other payables 379,764 293,598
Income taxes payable and deferred income taxes 14,258 40,126
Short-term trade financing arrangements – 1,667
Notes payable – CMC International 60,000 –
Current maturities of long-term debt 60,162 7,223

Total current liabilities 1,182,305 891,942

Deferred income taxes 34,550 45,629
Other long-term liabilities 78,789 58,627
Long-term debt 322,086 386,741

Total liabilities 1,617,730 1,382,939

Minority interests 61,034 50,422
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Capital stock:
Preferred stock – –
Common stock, par value $0.01and $5.00 per share: 
authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued 129,060,664 
and 64,530,332 shares; outstanding 117,881,160 and 
58,130,723 shares 1,290 322,652

Additional paid-in capital 346,994 14,813
Accumulated other comprehensive income 33,239 24,594
Unearned stock compensation – (5,901)
Retained earnings 980,454 644,319

1,361,977 1,000,477

Less treasury stock 11,179,504 and 6,399,609 shares at cost (141,873) (100,916)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,220,104 899,561

$2,898,868 $2,332,922
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Cash Flows From (Used By) Operating Activities:

Net earnings $ 356,347 $ 285,781 $ 132,021
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 85,378 76,610 71,044
Minority interests (benefit) 10,209 (744) 14,871
Asset impairment charges – 300 6,583
Provision for losses on receivables 2,676 6,604 6,154
Share-based compensation 9,526 1,115 –
Loss on reacquisition of debt – – 3,072
Net gain on sale of assets (2,518) (877) (1,319)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (297,924) (217,398) (223,845)
Accounts receivable sold – – 77,925
Inventories (36,196) (49,313) (290,474)
Other assets (48,498) (6,997) 10,001
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, other payables 

and income taxes 171,045 83,757 223,968
Deferred income taxes (34,459) (8,934) 2,142
Other long-term liabilities 17,797 18,499 11,403

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 233,383 188,403 43,546

Cash Flows From (Used By) Investing Activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (131,235) (110,214) (51,889)
Purchase of interests in CMC Zawiercie and subsidiaries (1,165) – –
Sales of property, plant and equipment and other 11,290 5,034 3,192
Acquisitions of CMC Zawiercie and Lofland, net of cash acquired – – (99,401)
Acquisitions of other businesses, net of cash acquired (44,391) (12,310) (2,110)

Net Cash Used By Investing Activities (165,501) (117,490) (150,208)

Cash Flows From (Used By) Financing Activities:

Increase in documentary letters of credit 727 24,288 41,916
Proceeds from trade financing arrangements – – 35,307
Payments on trade financing arrangements (1,667) (22,322) (34,343)
Short-term borrowings, net change 60,000 (586) (702)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 14,495 – 238,400
Payments on long-term debt (28,800) (17,222) (132,680)
Stock issued under incentive and purchase plans 23,659 18,703 19,530
Tax benefits from stock plans 21,240 12,183 6,148
Treasury stock acquired (78,662) (77,077) (4,586)
Dividends paid (20,212) (13,652) (9,764)
Debt reacquisition and issuance costs – – (4,989)

Net Cash From (Used By) Financing Activities (9,220) (75,685) 154,237

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,653 617 926

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 61,315 (4,155) 48,501

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 119,404 123,559 75,058

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 180,719 $ 119,404 $ 123,559

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries
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Common Stock Accumulated Treasury Stock
Additional Other Unearned

Number of Paid-In Comprehensive Stock Retained Number of
(in thousands, except share data) Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Compensation Earnings Shares Amount Total

Balance, September 1, 2003 32,265,166 $ 161,326 $ 863 $ 2,368 $ $ 401,869 (4,270,476) $ (59,493) $ 506,933

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 132,021 132,021
Other comprehensive income –

Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of taxes of $4,996 9,279 9,279

Unrealized gain on derivatives,
net of taxes of $574 1,066 1,066

Comprehensive income 142,366

Cash dividends (9,764) (9,764)
Treasury stock acquired (143,847) (4,586) (4,586)
Stock issued under incentive 

and purchase plans 921 1,427,121 18,609 19,530
Tax benefits from stock plans 6,148 6,148

Balance, August 31, 2004 32,265,166 161,326 7,932 12,713 524,126 (2,987,202) (45,470) 660,627

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 285,781 285,781
Other comprehensive income (loss)–

Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of taxes of $240 12,778 12,778

Unrealized loss on derivatives,
net of taxes of $(257) (897) (897)

Comprehensive income 297,662

Cash dividends (13,652) ( 13,652)
Treasury stock acquired (3,039,110) ( 77,077) (77,077)
Restricted stock awarded 2,600 (6,737) 272,000 4,137 –
Stock-based compensation 279 836 1,115
Stock issued under incentive 

and purchase plans 1,209 2,174,293 17,494 18,703
Tax benefits from stock plans 12,183 12,183
Two-for-one stock split 32,265,166 161,326 (9,390) (151,936) (2,819,590) –

Balance, August 31, 2005 64,530,332 322,652 14,813 24,594 (5,901) 644,319 (6,399,609) (100,916) 899,561

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 356,347 356,347
Other comprehensive income (loss)–

Foreign currency translation
adjustment, net of taxes of $1,506 13,404 13,404

Unrealized loss on derivatives,
net of taxes of $(2,412) (4,759) ( 4,759)

Comprehensive income 364,992

Cash dividends (20,212) ( 20,212)
Change in par value of common stock (322,007) 322,007
Treasury stock acquired (3,469,240) (78,662) (78,662)
Restricted stock awarded (2,429) 280,150 2,429 –
Stock-based compensation 3,764 5,901 (9,100) (139) 9,526
Stock issued under incentive 

and purchase plans (11,756) 2,688,617 35,415 23,659
Tax benefits from stock plans 21,240 21,240
Two-for-one stock split 64,530,332 645 (645) (4,270,322) –

Balance, August 31, 2006 129,060,664 $ 1,290 $346,994 $33,239 $ – $980,454 (11,179,504) $(141,873) $1,220,104

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries
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1.
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations The Company manufactures, recycles
and markets steel and metal products and related materials. Its
domestic mills, recycling facilities and markets are primarily
located in the Sunbelt from the mid-Atlantic area through
the West. Also, the Company operates a steel minimill in
Poland and processing facilities in Australia. Through its
global marketing offices, the Company markets and distributes
steel and nonferrous metal products and other industrial products
worldwide. See Note 14, Business Segments.

Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated.

Investments in 20% to 50% owned affiliates are accounted
for on the equity method. All investments under 20% are
accounted for under the cost method.

The Company owns a 72.5% interest in CMC Zawiercie
(CMCZ). The accounts of CMCZ are consolidated beginning
December 1, 2003. See Note 2, Acquisitions.

Revenue Recognition Sales are recognized when title passes
to the customer either when goods are shipped or when they
are received based upon the terms of the sale. When the
Company estimates that a contract with a customer will
result in a loss, the entire loss is accrued as soon as it is
probable and estimable.

Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers temporary
investments that are short term (with original maturities of
three months or less) and highly liquid to be cash equivalents.

Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.
Inventory cost for most domestic inventories is determined
by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method; cost of international
and remaining inventories is determined by the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) method.

Elements of cost in finished goods inventory in addition to
the cost of material include depreciation, amortization, utilities,
consumable production supplies, maintenance, production
wages and transportation costs. Also, the costs of departments
that support production including materials management
and quality control, are allocated to inventory.

In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 151, Inventory Costs, which specifies
that certain abnormal costs must be recognized as current
period charges. This Statement, which was effective for
inventory costs incurred after September 1, 2005, did not
materially affect the Company’s results of operations or
financial position.

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment
is recorded at cost and is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Provision for
amortization of leasehold improvements is made at annual
rates based upon the estimated useful lives of the assets or
terms of the leases, whichever is shorter. At August 31, 2006,
the useful lives used for depreciation and amortization were
as follows:

Buildings 7 to 40 years
Land improvements 3 to 25 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 15 years
Equipment 2 to 25 years
The Company evaluates the carrying value of property,

plant and equipment whenever a change in circumstances
indicates that the carrying value may not be recoverable from
the undiscounted future cash flows from operations. If an
impairment exists, the net book values are reduced to fair values
as warranted. Major maintenance is expensed as incurred.

Intangible Assets The following intangible assets subject to
amortization are included within other assets on the consolidated
balance sheets as of August 31:

1

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries

2006 2005
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(in thousands) Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Non-competition agreements $ 6,467 $1,480 $ 4,987 $ 1,572 $ 709 $ 863
Production backlog 211 158 53 63 – 63
Customer base 6,272 1,778 4,494 5,655 1,102 4,553
Favorable land leases 4,467 168 4,299 4,096 86 4,010
Brand name 4,438 1,821 2,617 4,233 810 3,423
Other 156 114 42 113 54 59

Total $22,011 $5,519 $16,492 $ 15,732 $ 2,761 $12,971
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Excluding goodwill, there are no other significant intangible
assets with indefinite lives. Goodwill represents the difference
between the purchase price of acquired businesses and the
fair value of their net assets. The Company has elected to test
annually for goodwill impairment in the fourth quarter of the
fiscal year or if a triggering event occurs. Aggregate amortization
expense for intangible assets for the years ended August 31,
2006, 2005, and 2004 was $2.9 million, $1.9 million and
$2.1 million, respectively. At August 31, 2006, the weighted
average remaining useful lives of these intangible assets,
excluding the favorable land leases in Poland, was 6 years.
The weighted average lives of the favorable land leases were
83 years. Estimated amounts of amortization expense for the
next five years are as follows (in thousands):

Year

2007 $ 2,992

2008 2,622

2009 2,152

2010 1,945

2011 1,043

Environmental Costs The Company accrues liabilities for
environmental investigation and remediation costs based
upon estimates regarding the sites for which the Company
will be responsible, the scope and cost of work to be performed
at each site, the portion of costs that will be shared with other
parties and the timing of remediation. Where amounts and
timing can be reliably estimated, amounts are discounted.
Where timing and amounts cannot be reasonably determined,
a range is estimated and the lower end of the range is recognized
on an undiscounted basis.

Asset Retirement Obligations In March 2005, the FASB issued
Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations-an interpretation of SFAS No. 143
(FIN 47). FIN 47 clarifies that an asset retirement obligation
for which the timing and (or) the method of settlement are
conditional on a future event that may or may not be within
the Company’s control must be recognized as a liability when
incurred or acquired if it can be reasonably estimated. FIN 47
also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information
to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement
obligation. FIN 47 was effective for the Company’s fiscal year
ending August 31, 2006 and its implementation did not have
a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and
financial position.

Stock-Based Compensation In December 2004, the FASB
issued 123(R), requiring that the compensation cost relating
to share-based compensation transactions be recognized at
fair value in financial statements. The Company adopted
123(R) effective September 1, 2005 using the modified
prospective method. As a result, compensation expense was

recorded for the unvested portion of previously issued awards
that were outstanding at September 1, 2005. The Black-Scholes
pricing model was used to calculate total compensation cost
which is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining
vesting period of previously issued awards.

The Company recognized after-tax stock-based compensation
expense of $6.2 million ($.05 per diluted share) and $0.7
million ($.01 per diluted share) as a component of selling,
general and administrative expenses for the twelve months ended
August 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The cumulative
effect of adoption (primarily arising from the recognition of
anticipated forfeitures) was not material. At August 31,
2006, the Company had $11.1 million of total unrecognized
pre-tax compensation cost related to non-vested share-
based compensation arrangements. This cost is expected to
be recognized over the next 34 months.

The following weighted average assumptions were required
for grants in the years ended August 31:

2006 2005 2004

Risk-free interest rate 4.79% 3.93% 2.94%

Expected life 4.57 years 4.94 years 4.36 years

Expected volatility 0.328 0.305 0.260

Expected dividend yield 1.1% 1.3% 1.0%

The weighted-average per share fair value of the awards
granted in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $7.78, $3.60, and
$1.84, respectively.

See Note 9, Capital Stock, for share information on options
and SARs at August 31, 2006.

Prior to the adoption of 123(R), the Company accounted
for stock options and stock appreciation rights (SARs) granted
to employees and directors using the intrinsic value-based
method of accounting. If the Company had used the fair
value-based method of accounting, net earnings and earnings
per share for the years ended August 31, 2005 and 2004
would have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts listed in
the table below.

(in thousands,
except per share amounts) 2005 2004

Net earnings, as reported $285,781 $132,021

Add: Stock-based compensation 

expense recognized 715 –

Less: Pro forma stock-based 

compensation cost net of tax (3,025) (2,829)

Net earnings–pro forma $283,471 $129,192

Net earnings per share–as reported:

Basic $ 2.42 $ 1.15

Diluted $ 2.32 $ 1.11

Net earnings per share–pro forma:

Basic $ 2.40 $ 1.12

Diluted $ 2.30 $ 1.08
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Accounts Payable – Documentary Letters of Credit In order to
facilitate certain trade transactions, the Company utilizes
documentary letters of credit to provide assurance of payment
to its suppliers. These letters of credit may be for prompt
payment or for payment at a future date conditional upon the
bank finding the documentation presented to be in strict
compliance with all terms and conditions of the letter of credit.
The banks issue these letters of credit under informal,
uncommitted lines of credit which are in addition to the
Company’s contractually committed revolving credit agree-
ment. In some cases, if the Company’s suppliers choose to
discount the future dated obligation, the Company may pay
the discount cost. 

Income Taxes The Company and its U.S. subsidiaries file a
consolidated federal income tax return, and federal income
taxes are allocated to subsidiaries based upon their respective
taxable income or loss. Deferred income taxes are provided
for temporary differences between financial and tax reporting.
The principal differences are described in Note 8, Income Taxes.
Benefits from tax credits are reflected currently in earnings.
The Company provides for taxes on unremitted earnings of
foreign subsidiaries, except for CMCZ and its operations in
Australia, which it considers to be permanently invested.

Foreign Currencies The functional currency of most of the
Company’s European marketing and distribution operations is
the Euro. The functional currencies of the Company’s Australian,
United Kingdom, CMCZ, and certain Chinese operations are the
local currencies. The remaining international subsidiaries’
functional currency is the United States dollar. Translation
adjustments are reported as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). Transaction gains from
transactions denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies were $0.8 million, $1.5 million and
$2.8 million for the years ended August 31, 2006, 2005,
and 2004, respectively.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make significant estimates regarding
assets and liabilities and associated revenues and expenses.
Management believes these estimates to be reasonable;
however, actual results may vary.

Derivatives The Company records derivatives on the balance
sheet as assets or liabilities, measured at fair value. Gains or
losses from the changes in the values of the derivatives are
recorded in the statement of earnings, or are deferred if they
are designated and are highly effective in achieving offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items
during the term of the hedge.

Statements of Cash Flows – Non-Cash Investing and Financing
Activity The Company purchased computer software for oper-
ations in 2006 for $10.7 million. At August 31, 2006, it was
financed by a trade account payable.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) The Company reports
comprehensive income (loss) in its consolidated statement
of stockholders’ equity. Comprehensive income (loss) consists
of net earnings plus gains and losses affecting stockholders’
equity that, under generally accepted accounting principles,
are excluded from net earnings, such as gains and losses
related to certain derivative instruments and translation
effect of foreign currency assets and liabilities net of tax. 

Reclassifications Certain immaterial reclassifications have
been made in the 2005 and 2004 financial statements to
conform to the classifications used in 2006.

ACQUISITIONS

Fiscal 2006
During the twelve months ended August 31, 2006, the
Company acquired the following businesses:

• On August 8, 2006, the Company acquired substantially
all of the operating assets of Concrete Formtek Services,
Inc. (CFS), located in Riverside, California. CFS specializes
in the rental of forming and shoring equipment to the
California construction market.

• On July 17, 2006, the Company acquired substantially
all of the operating assets of Cherokee Supply, with facilities
in Tulsa, Oklahoma and Little Rock, Arkansas. Cherokee
Supply specializes in highway and commercial construction-
related products supply.

• On June 7, 2006, the Company purchased substantially
all of the operating assets of Yonack Iron & Metal Co.
and related companies, which operate scrap and metal
processing facilities in Dallas and Forney, Texas; Stroud,
Oklahoma and Lonoke, Arkansas and a plastic scrap
recycling facility in Grand Prairie, Texas.

• On March 6, 2006, the Company acquired 100% of the
shares of Southmet Pty Ltd, a plate and long products
processor, in Adelaide, Australia.

• On March 1, 2006, the Company acquired substantially
all of the operating assets of Brost Forming Supply, Inc.,
with facilities in Tucson and Phoenix, Arizona. Brost
Forming Supply, Inc. specializes in concrete framework,
tilt-up and concrete-related products. 

• On November 14, 2005, the Company acquired substan-
tially all of the operating assets of Hall-Hodges Company,
a reinforcing steel fabricator in Norfolk, Virginia. 

These acquisitions are expected to strengthen the
Company’s marketing position in the respective regions and
product lines. The total purchase price of $46.0 million
($44.4 million in cash and $1.6 million in notes payable) for
these acquisitions was allocated to the acquired assets and
assumed liabilities based on estimates of their respective fair
values. The following is a summary of the preliminary allocation
of the total purchase price as of the date of the respective

2
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acquisitions (in thousands), subject to change following
management’s final evaluation of the fair value assumptions:

Total

Accounts receivable $ 4,255

Inventories 13,895

Other current assets 125

Property, plant and equipment 24,297

Intangible assets 4,857

Goodwill 5,149

Other assets 36

Liabilities (6,643)

Net assets acquired $45,971

The intangible assets acquired include customer base, trade
name and non-compete agreements, which will be amortized
over 5 years and a backlog, which will be amortized over 12
months.

The pro forma impact of these acquisitions on consolidated
net earnings would not have materially changed reported net
earnings.

Fiscal 2005
During the twelve months ended August 31, 2005, the
Company acquired the following businesses:

• On August 16, 2005, the Company acquired substantially
all of the operating assets of a Juarez, Mexico joist man-
ufacturing facility from a subsidiary of Canam Group, Inc.
of Quebec, Canada. This facility will operate as part of
the Company’s domestic fabrication segment and allow the
Company to achieve production synergies with its existing
plants and expand the territory for its joist operations in
the southwestern United States and northern Mexico.

• On November 4, 2004, the Company acquired substantially
all of the operating assets of the J.L. Davidson Company’s
rebar fabricating facility located in Rialto, California. The
acquisition will allow the Company to expand its supply
of fabricated rebar to fab customers and to expand its
supply of niche specialty and accessory products.

The total purchase price of $14.6 million ($12.3 million
in cash and $2.3 million in notes payable) for these acquisitions
was allocated to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities
based on estimates of their respective fair values. The following
is a summary of the allocation of the total purchase price as of
the date of the respective acquisitions (in thousands) presented
in conformity with U.S. GAAP:

Total

Inventories $ 3,041

Property, plant and equipment 11,478

Backlog 63

Other assets 113

Liabilities (104)

Net assets acquired $14,591

The pro forma impact of these acquisitions on consolidated
net earnings would not have materially changed reported net
earnings.

Fiscal 2004
During the twelve months ended August 31, 2004, the
Company acquired the following significant businesses:

• On December 23, 2003, the Company acquired 100%
of the stock of Lofland Acquisition, Inc. (Lofland). Lofland
was the sole stockholder of the Lofland Company and
subsidiaries which operate steel reinforcing bar fabrication
and construction-related product sales facilities. 

• On December 3, 2003, the Company’s Swiss subsidiary
acquired 71.1% of the outstanding shares of Huta Zawiercie,
S.A. (CMCZ), of Zawiercie, Poland. In connection with the
acquisition, the Company also assumed debt of 176 million
PLN ($45.7 million) and acquired $3.8 million in cash.
CMCZ operates a steel minimill which manufactures
rebar, wire rod and merchant bar products.

The total purchase price of $99.4 million ($96.6 million
in net cash and $2.8 million in external costs incurred) for
these acquisitions was allocated to the acquired assets and
assumed liabilities based on estimates of their respective fair
values. The following is a summary of the allocation of the total
purchase price as of the date of the respective acquisitions
(in thousands) presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP (the
minority interest in CMCZ was recorded at historical cost):

Total

Accounts receivable $61,249

Inventories 35,499

Property, plant and equipment 95,249

Goodwill 23,405

Intangible assets 13,251

Other assets 9,660

Liabilities (64,094)

Debt (45,717)

Minority Interest (29,101)

Net assets acquired $99,401

The results of operations from these acquisitions are included
in the consolidated statement of earnings from the dates of
their acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma financial
information reflects the consolidated results of operations of
the Company as if the acquisitions of CMCZ and Lofland had
taken place at the beginning of the period. The pro forma
information includes primarily adjustments for amortization
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of acquired intangible assets, depreciation expense based
upon the new basis of property, plant and equipment, and
interest expense for new and assumed debt. The pro forma
financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results
of operations as they would have been had the transactions
been effected on the assumed dates.

(Unaudited)
Year ended August 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2004

Net sales $4,882,421

Net earnings 133,007

Diluted earnings per share 1.12

SALES OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Company has an accounts receivable securitization program
which it utilizes as a cost-effective, short-term financing
alternative. Under this program, the Company and several of
its subsidiaries periodically sell certain eligible trade accounts
receivable to the Company’s wholly-owned consolidated special
purpose subsidiary (CMCRV). CMCRV is structured to be a
bankruptcy-remote entity and was formed for the sole purpose
of buying and selling receivables generated by the Company.
The Company, irrevocably and without recourse, transfers all
applicable trade accounts receivable to CMCRV. CMCRV, in
turn, sells an undivided percentage ownership interest in the
pool of receivables to affiliates of two third party financial
institutions. On April 20, 2006, the agreement with the
financial institution affiliates was extended to April 14,
2007. CMCRV may sell undivided interests of up to $130
million, depending on the Company’s level of financing needs.

The Company accounts for its transfers of receivables to
CMCRV together with CMCRV’s sales of undivided interests
in these receivables to the financial institutions as sales. At
the time an undivided interest in the pool of receivables is
sold, the amount is removed from the consolidated balance
sheet and the proceeds from the sale are reflected as cash
provided by operating activities.

At August 31, 2006 and 2005, uncollected accounts
receivable of $351 million and $275 million, respectively,
had been sold to CMCRV. The Company’s undivided interest
in these receivables (representing the Company’s retained
interest) was 100% at August 31, 2006 and 2005. The
average monthly amounts of undivided interests owned by
the financial institution buyers were $833 thousand, $32.8
million and $22.1 million for the years ended August 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The carrying amount of the
Company’s retained interest in the receivables approximated
fair value due to the short-term nature of the collection period.
The retained interest is determined reflecting 100% of any
allowance for collection losses on the entire receivables pool.
No other material assumptions are made in determining the
fair value of the retained interest. This retained interest is

subordinate to, and provides credit enhancement for, the
financial institution buyers’ ownership interest in CMCRV’s
receivables, and is available to the financial institution buyers
to pay any fees or expenses due to them and to absorb all
credit losses incurred on any of the receivables. The Company
is responsible for servicing the entire pool of receivables. This
U.S. securitization program contains certain cross-default
provisions whereby a termination event could occur if the
Company defaulted under one of its credit arrangements.

In addition to the securitization program described above,
the Company’s international subsidiaries in Europe and
Australia periodically sell accounts receivable. These
arrangements also constitute true sales and, once the
accounts are sold, they are no longer available to satisfy the
Company’s creditors in the event of bankruptcy. In August
2004, the Company’s Australian subsidiary entered into an
agreement with a financial institution to periodically sell certain
trade accounts receivable up to a maximum of 50 million
AUD ($38.1 million). This Australian program contains
covenants in which our subsidiary must meet certain coverage
and tangible net worth levels (as defined). At August 31,
2006, our Australian subsidiary was in compliance with
these covenants. Uncollected accounts receivable that had
been sold under these international arrangements and
removed from the consolidated balance sheets were $61.9
million and $63.2 million at August 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The average monthly amounts of international
accounts receivable sold were $61.8 million, $65.3 million
and $27.7 million for the years ended August 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Discounts (losses) on domestic and international sales of
accounts receivable were $3.2 million, $4.1 million and
$1.6 million for the years ended August 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. These losses primarily represented the
costs of funds and were included in selling, general and
administrative expenses.

INVENTORIES

Before deduction of last-in, first-out (LIFO) inventory valuation
reserves of $189.3 million and $111.4 million at August 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, inventories valued under the
first-in, first-out method (FIFO) approximated market value.

At August 31, 2006 and 2005, 69% and 56%, respectively,
of total inventories were valued at LIFO. The remainder of
inventories, valued at FIFO, consisted mainly of material
dedicated to CMCZ and certain marketing and distribution
businesses.

The majority of the Company’s inventories are in the form
of finished goods, with minimal work in process.
Approximately $54.6 million and $39.9 million were in raw
materials at August 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

3
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ASSET IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

The Company recognized non-cash asset impairment charges
of $6.6 million in its domestic fabrication segment during
the year ended August 31, 2004. These impairment charges
were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.
Asset impairment charges during the years ended August 31,
2006 and 2005 were not material.

CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

The Company’s commercial paper program permits maximum
borrowings of up to $400 million. The program’s capacity is
reduced by outstanding standby letters of credit which
totaled $24.6 million at August 31, 2006. It is the Company’s
policy to maintain contractual bank credit lines equal to
100% of the amount of the commercial paper program. The
$400 million unsecured revolving credit agreement matures
on May 23, 2010, has a minimum interest coverage ratio
(as defined) requirement of two and one-half times and a
maximum debt capitalization (as defined) requirement of 60%.
The agreement provides for interest based on Bank of America’s
prime rate and facility fees of 12.5 basis points per annum.
No compensating balances are required. The Company was in
compliance with these requirements at August 31, 2006. At
August 31, 2006 and 2005, no borrowings were outstanding
under the commercial paper program or the related revolving
credit agreements.

The Company has numerous informal credit facilities
available from domestic and international banks. These credit
facilities are priced at bankers’ acceptance rates or on a cost of
funds basis. No compensating balances or commitment fees
are required under these credit facilities. Amounts outstanding
on these facilities relate to accounts payable settled under
bankers’ acceptances as described in Note 1, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies.

At August 31, 2005, the Company had $1.7 million (1.4
million Euro) of related-party debt recorded as short-term
trade financing arrangements. The outstanding balance on
the financing arrangement was paid in September 2005.

Long-term debt and amounts due within one year are as
follows, as of August 31: 

(in thousands) 2006 2005

6.80% notes due August 2007 $ 50,000 $ 50,000

6.75% notes due February 2009 100,000 100,000

CMCZ term note due March 2009 18,322 39,773

5.625% notes due November 2013 200,000 200,000

Other, including equipment notes 13,926 4,191

382,248 393,964

Less current maturities 60,162 7,223

$322,086 $ 386,741

At August 31, 2006 the Company was in compliance with all
debt requirements for these notes. Interest on these notes is
payable semiannually, excluding CMCZ which is paid quarterly.

Interest on CMCZ’s term note is accrued at the Warsaw
Interbank Offered Rate (WIBOR) plus 1.1% and the average
effective annual rate was 5.46% for the year ended August 31,
2006. The term note has scheduled semi-annual payments
and is collateralized by CMCZ’s property, plant and equipment.
On May 12, 2006 CMCZ entered into a revolving credit facility
agreement with maximum borrowings of 100 million PLN
($32.6 million) and secured by CMCZ receivables. It has an
expiration date of May 11, 2007 and interest is accrued at
the WIBOR plus 0.55%. At August 31, 2006 no amounts
were outstanding under this credit agreement. The term note
and the revolving credit facility contain certain financial
covenants for CMCZ. CMCZ was in compliance with these
covenants at August 31, 2006. There are no guarantees by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries for any of CMCZ’s debt.

CMC Poland, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, owns
and operates equipment at the CMCZ mill site. In connection
with the equipment purchase, CMC Poland issued equipment
notes under a term agreement dated September 2005 with
34 million PLN ($11.1 million) outstanding at August 31,
2006. Installment payments under these notes are due from
2006 through 2010. Interest rates are variable based on the
Poland Monetary Policy Council’s rediscount rate, plus an
applicable margin. The weighted average rate as of August
31, 2006 was 4.25%. The notes are substantially secured by
the shredder equipment.

On August 29, 2006, CMC International, a subsidiary of
CMC, borrowed $60 million under five short-term notes
maturing in December 2006. The interest rate on the notes
ranges from 5.8% to 6.0%. The notes are not collateralized
and do not contain any financial covenants.

The aggregate amounts of all long-term debt maturities for
the five years following August 31, 2006 are (in thousands):
2007-$60,162; 2008-$16,057; 2009-$103,088; 2010-
$2,888; 2011 and thereafter-$200,063.

Interest of $2.3 million, $1.3 million, and $372 thousand
was capitalized in the cost of property, plant and equipment
constructed in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Interest
of $29.9 million, $31.7 million, and $25.1 million was paid
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, 

MARKET AND CREDIT RISK

Due to near-term maturities, allowances for collection losses,
investment grade ratings and security provided, the following
financial instruments’ carrying amounts are considered equivalent
to fair value:

• Cash and cash equivalents 
• Accounts receivable/payable 
• Notes payable - CMCZ 
• Trade financing arrangements 

5
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The Company’s long-term debt is predominantly publicly
held. Fair value was determined by indicated market values.

August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005

Long-Term Debt:

Carrying amount $322,085 $ 386,741

Estimated fair value 319,261 396,351

The Company maintains both corporate and divisional credit
departments. Credit limits are set for customers. Credit
insurance is used for some of the Company’s divisions. Letters
of credit issued or confirmed by sound financial institutions are
obtained to further ensure prompt payment in accordance
with terms of sale; generally, collateral is not required.
Approximately $471 million and $260 million of the
Company’s accounts receivable at August 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively, were secured by credit insurance and/or
letters of credit.

In the normal course of its marketing activities, the
Company transacts business with substantially all sectors of
the metals industry. Customers are internationally dispersed,
cover the spectrum of manufacturing and distribution, deal
with various types and grades of metal and have a variety of
end markets in which they sell. The Company’s historical
experience in collection of accounts receivable falls within
the recorded allowances. Due to these factors, no additional
credit risk, beyond amounts provided for collection losses, is
believed inherent in the Company’s accounts receivable.

The Company’s worldwide operations and product lines
expose it to risks from fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates and metals commodity prices. The objective
of the Company’s risk management program is to mitigate these
risks using futures or forward contracts (derivative instruments).
The Company enters into metal commodity forward contracts
to mitigate the risk of unanticipated declines in gross margin
due to the volatility of the commodities’ prices, and enters
into foreign currency forward contracts which match the
expected settlements for purchases and sales denominated
in foreign currencies. Also, when its sales commitments to
customers include a fixed price freight component, the
Company occasionally enters into freight forward contracts to
minimize the effect of the volatility of ocean freight rates.
The Company designates only those contracts which closely
match the terms of the underlying transaction as hedges for
accounting purposes. These hedges resulted in substantially
no ineffectiveness in the statements of earnings, and there
were no components excluded from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness for the years ended August 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004.

Certain of the foreign currency and all of the commodity
and freight contracts were not designated as hedges for
accounting purposes, although management believes they
are essential economic hedges. All of the instruments are
highly liquid and none are entered into for trading purposes.

The following chart shows the impact on the consolidated
statements of earnings of the changes in fair value of these
economic hedges included in determining net earnings (in
thousands) for the year ended August 31. Settlements are
recorded within the same line item as the related unrealized
gains (losses).

Earnings (Expense) 2006 2005 2004

Net sales 

(foreign currency instruments) $ (30) $ (293) $ 377

Cost of goods sold 

(commodity instruments) 2,261 (400) 670

The Company’s derivative instruments were recorded as follows
on the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands) at August 31:

2006 2005

Derivative assets (other current assets) $5,633 $2,563

Derivative liabilities (other payables) 8,323 2,151

The following table summarizes activities in other comprehensive
income (losses) related to derivatives classified as cash flow
hedges held by the Company during the years ended August
31 (in thousands):

2006 2005 2004

Change in market value 

(net of taxes) $ (4,689) $ (785) $1,164

(Gain) reclassified into net 

earnings, net (70) (112) (98)

Other comprehensive income (loss)–

unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives $ (4,759) $ (897) $1,066

During the twelve months following August 31, 2006, $4.3
million in losses related to commodity hedges and capital
expenditures are anticipated to be reclassified into net earnings
as the related transactions mature and the assets are placed
into service, respectively. Also, an additional $112 thousand
in gains will be reclassified as interest expense related to an
interest rate lock.

All of the instruments are highly liquid and none are entered
into for trading purposes. 

The FASB has issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value
Measurements,” which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosure about fair
value measurements. We are required to adopt the provisions
of this statement in the first quarter of fiscal 2008.
Management is reviewing the potential effects of this statement;
however, it does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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INCOME TAXES

The provisions for income taxes include the following: 

Year ended August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Current:

United States $178,259 $137,118 $41,005

Foreign 22,875 3,196 18,050

State and local 18,960 9,257 4,317

220,094 149,571 63,372

Deferred (32,157) 8,425 1,683

$187,937 $157,996 $65,055

Taxes of $204.6 million, $118.8 million and $33.9 million
were paid in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Deferred taxes arise from temporary differences between
the tax basis of an asset or liability and its reported amount in
the financial statements. The sources and deferred tax liabilities
(assets) associated with these differences are:

August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred compensation $ 32,088 $ 19,907

Net operating losses (less 

allowances of $2,549 and $720) 1,092 3,885

Reserves and other accrued expenses 7,707 9,381

Impaired assets 2,326 2,361

Allowance for doubtful accounts 5,059 5,594

Other 7,437 4,341

Deferred tax assets $ 55,709 $ 45,469

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred revenue $ 4,421 $ 2,010

Tax on difference between tax 

and book depreciation 42,851 45,144

U.S. taxes provided on foreign 

income and foreign taxes 22,811 20,841

Inventory 8,158 36,260

Other 5,860 4,091

Deferred tax liabilities $ 84,101 $108,346

Net deferred tax liability $ 28,392 $ 62,877

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets con-
sist of: 

August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005

Deferred tax asset – current $ 5,187 $ 2,895

Deferred tax asset – long term 8,718 6,947

Deferred liability – current 7,747 27,090

Deferred tax liability – long term 34,550 45,629

Net deferred tax liability $ 28,392 $ 62,877

The Company uses substantially the same depreciable lives
for tax and book purposes. Changes in deferred taxes relating
to depreciation are mainly attributable to differences in the
basis of underlying assets recorded under the purchase
method of accounting. The Company provides United States
taxes on unremitted foreign earnings except for its operations
in CMCZ and Australia, which it considers to be permanently
invested. The amounts of these permanently invested earnings
at August 31, 2006 were $88.0 million and $54.1 million
for CMCZ and Australia, respectively. In the event that the
Company repatriated these earnings, incremental U.S. taxes
may be incurred. The Company has determined that it is not
practicable to determine the amount of these incremental
U.S. taxes. Net operating losses consist of $42.3 million of
state net operating losses that expire during the tax years
ending from 2008 to 2026. These assets will be reduced as
tax expense is recognized in future periods.

Reconciliations of the United States statutory rates to the
effective rates are as follows:

Year ended August 31,
2006 2005 2004

Statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and local taxes 2.5 1.4 1.3

Manufacturing deduction (0.7) – –

Extraterritorial income deduction (0.4) (0.4) (1.3)

Foreign rate differential (1.5) (0.3) (4.4)

Tax repatriation charge (benefit) (0.7) – –

Other (0.3) – 0.1

Effective tax rate 33.9% 35.7% 30.7%

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of
2004 (“the AJCA”) was signed into law. The AJCA created a
temporary incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate
accumulated income earned abroad by providing an 85%
dividends received deduction for certain dividends from
controlled foreign corporations. On August 28, 2006, our
Chief Executive Officer approved our domestic reinvestment
plan pursuant to the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision
of the AJCA which was ratified by the Board of Directors on
August 31, 2006. As a result, we repatriated $18.7 million
in unremitted foreign earnings net of Swiss withholding tax
from a Swiss subsidiary during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006,
the majority of which was eligible to be taxed at a reduced
effective tax rate (as reflected in the statutory rate reconciliation
table above). Accordingly, the Company recognized a related
income tax expense for federal and state taxes of $1.4 million.
Moreover, there was a $1.0 million foreign withholding tax
expense pursuant to the dividend payment. In adopting the plan,
which was implemented in fiscal year 2006, we considered
the goals of the AJCA, and we have invested the repatriated
funds consistent with the requirements of the AJCA and in a
manner that we believe will achieve the benefits intended
under the AJCA. Among the types of permissible investments

8
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of these repatriated funds are capital expenditures, worker
hiring, training and non-executive compensation in the US.

On May 18, 2006 the State of Texas passed a bill to
replace the current franchise tax with a new margin tax to be
effective January 1, 2008. The Company estimates the new
margin tax will not have a significant impact on tax expense
for deferred tax assets and liabilities.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation of FASB
Statement 109,” which clarifies the accounting for uncer-
tainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with FAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition
and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of FIN 48 on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL STOCK

On April 24, 2006, the Company declared a two-for-one stock
split in the form of a 100% stock dividend on the Company’s
common stock payable May 22, 2006 to shareholders of
record on May 8, 2006. The stock dividend resulted in the
issuance of 64,530,332 additional shares of common stock
and a transfer of $0.6 million from additional paid-in capital
at the record date. All per share and weighted average share
amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been restated to reflect the stock split. The Company
also instituted a quarterly cash dividend of $0.06 cents per
share on the increased number of shares resulting from the
stock dividend effective with the July, 2006 dividend payment.

On January 26, 2006, the shareholders of the Company voted
to increase the authorized shares of common stock from
100,000,000 to 200,000,000 shares. The shareholders also
voted to change the par value of the Company’s common stock
from $5.00 to $0.01 per share. As a result, $322 million was
transferred from common stock to additional paid-in capital.

On July 19, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors
authorized the purchase of up to 5,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock. During fiscal 2006, the Company
purchased 1,658,240 common shares for treasury under
this authorization and 1,811,000 common shares under a
prior authorization. At August 31, 2006, the company had
remaining authorization to purchase 3,341,760 of its com-
mon shares.

Stock Purchase Plan Almost all U.S. resident employees with
a year of service at the beginning of each calendar year may
participate in the Company’s employee stock purchase plan.
Each eligible employee may purchase up to 400 shares
annually. The Board of Directors establishes the purchase
discount from the market price. The discount was 25% for each
of the three years ended August 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.
Yearly activity of the stock purchase plan was as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Shares subscribed 761,620 1,454,520 1,191,480

Price per share $13.44 $7.94 $5.03

Shares purchased 1,316,720 1,048,080 909,360

Price per share $ 7.97 $5.04 $3.09

Shares available 1,563,384

The Company recorded compensation expense for this plan
of $3.2 million, $3.0 million and $1.5 million in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively.

Stock Incentive Plans The 1986 Stock Incentive Plan (1986
Plan) terminated November 23, 1996, except for awards
then outstanding. Under the 1986 Plan, stock options were
awarded to full-time salaried employees. The option price
was the fair market value of the Company’s stock at the date
of grant, and the options are exercisable two years from date
of grant. There are no outstanding awards under this plan as
of August 31, 2006.

The 1996 Long-Term Incentive Plan (1996 Plan) was
approved in December 1996. Under the 1996 Plan, stock
options, SARs, and restricted stock may be awarded to
employees. The option price for both the stock options and
the SARs will not be less than the fair market value of the
Company’s stock at the date of grant. The outstanding option
awards under the 1996 Plan vest 50% after one year and
50% after two years from date of grant and will expire seven
years after grant. The terms of the 1996 Plan resulted in
additional shares being reserved for issuance of 2,632,656
in 2005 and 3,739,880 in 2004. During fiscal year 2006,
the Company issued 264,150 shares of restricted stock to
employees and issued SARs relating to the appreciation in
639,030 shares of its common stock at a weighted average
exercise price of $24.53 per share (the exercise price equaled
the market price on the date of grant). These SARs and the
restricted stock vest over a three-year period in increments of
one-third. The Company’s Board of Directors voted to terminate
the 1996 Plan effective August 31, 2006, except for awards
then outstanding. As a result of this action, no additional
shares will be available for grants under this plan.

9
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In January 2000, the Company’s stockholders approved
the 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan and
authorized 800,000 shares to be made available for grant.
The price of these options is the fair market value of the
Company’s stock at the date of the grant. The options granted
vest 50% after one year and 50% after two years from the
grant date. Under this Plan, any outside director could elect
to receive all or part of fees otherwise payable in the form of
a stock option. Options granted in lieu of fees are immediately
vested. All options expire seven years from the date of grant.
The 1999 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan was amended
with stockholder approval in January 2005 in order to provide
annual grants of either options or restricted stock to non-
employee directors. This annual award can either be in the
form of a nonqualified stock option grant for 24,000 shares
or a restricted stock award of 4,000 shares. On January 26,
2006, the Company issued an aggregate of 32,000 shares of
common stock to eight non-employee directors. Restricted
stock award vests over a two-year period.

Prior to vesting, restricted stock award recipients receive
an amount equivalent to any dividend declared on the
Company’s common stock.

Combined information for shares subject to options and
SARs for the three plans was as follows:

Weighted
Average Price
Exercise Range

Number Price Per Share

September 1, 2003

Outstanding 15,379,672 $ 3.65 $ 2.75–5.36

Exercisable 10,623,212 3.56 2.75–5.36

Granted 3,570,288 7.77 7.53–7.79

Exercised (5,155,580) 3.58 2.94–4.30

Forfeited (117,320) 4.05 2.95–7.79

Increase authorized 3,739,880

August 31, 2004

Outstanding 13,677,060 $ 4.75 $ 2.75–7.79

Exercisable 8,557,496 3.72 2.75–7.53

Granted 1,056,990 12.33 12.31–13.58

Exercised (3,929,792) 3.86 2.75–7.78

Forfeited (56,000) 4.35 2.94–7.78

Increase authorized 2,632,656

August 31, 2005

Outstanding 10,748,258 $ 5.82 $ 2.74–13.58

Exercisable 7,959,758 4.54 2.74–13.58

Granted 639,030 24.53 21.81–24.71

Exercised (3,834,740) 4.50 2.74–7.78

Forfeited (67,200) 9.51 3.41–12.31

August 31, 2006

Outstanding 7,485,348 $ 8.06 $ 2.75–24.71

Exercisable 6,178,200 5.90 2.75–13.58

Available for grant* 677,434

* Includes shares available for options, SARs and restricted stock grants.
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Information for restricted stock awards as of August 31,
2006 and 2005, and changes during each of the two years
then ended (no restricted stock awards were outstanding as
of August 31, 2004 or issued during the year then ended):

Weighted Average
Grant - Date

Restricted Stock Awards Shares Fair Value

At September 1, 2004

Granted 544,000 $12.38

Vested – –

Forfeited (400) 12.31

At August 31, 2005 543,600 $12.38

At September 1, 2005 543,600 $12.38

Granted 296,150 24.17

Vested (184,983) 12.42

Forfeited (17,800) 12.31

At August 31, 2006 636,967 $17.86

Preferred Stock Preferred stock has a par value of $1.00 a
share, with 2,000,000 shares authorized. It may be issued
in series, and the shares of each series shall have such rights
and preferences as fixed by the Board of Directors when
authorizing the issuance of that particular series. There are
no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Stockholder Rights Plan On July 28, 1999, the Company’s
Board of Directors adopted a stockholder rights plan pursuant
to which stockholders were granted preferred stock rights
(Rights) to purchase one one-thousandth of a share of the
Company’s Series A Preferred Stock for each share of common
stock held. In connection with the adoption of such plan, the
Company designated and reserved 100,000 shares of preferred
stock as Series A Preferred Stock and declared a dividend of
one Right on each outstanding share of the Company’s common
stock. Rights were distributed to stockholders of record as of
August 9, 1999. The Rights Agreement provides that the
number of Rights associated with each share of common
stock shall be adjusted in the event of a stock split. After giving
effect to subsequent stock splits, each share of common
stock now carries with it one-eighth of a Right.

The Rights are represented by and traded with the
Company’s common stock. The Rights do not become exercisable

or trade separately from the common stock unless at least
one of the following conditions are met: a public announcement
that a person has acquired 15% or more of the common
stock of the Company or a tender or exchange offer is made
for 15% or more of the common stock of the Company. Should
either of these conditions be met and the Rights become
exercisable, each Right will entitle the holder (other than the
acquiring person or group) to buy one one-thousandth of a
share of the Series A Preferred Stock at an exercise price of
$150.00. Each fractional share of the Series A Preferred
Stock will essentially be the economic equivalent of one
share of common stock. Under certain circumstances, each
Right would entitle its holder to purchase the Company’s
stock or shares of the acquirer’s stock at a 50% discount.
The Company’s Board of Directors may choose to redeem the
Rights (before they become exercisable) at $0.001 per Right.
The Rights expire July 28, 2009.

EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT PLANS

Substantially all employees in the U.S. are covered by a
defined contribution profit sharing and savings plan. This tax
qualified plan is maintained and contributions made in
accordance with ERISA. The Company also provides certain
eligible executives benefits pursuant to a nonqualified benefit
restoration plan (BRP Plan) equal to amounts that would
have been available under the tax qualified ERISA plans,
save for limitations of ERISA, tax laws and regulations.
Company contributions, which are discretionary, to all plans
were $62.5 million, $47.0 million and $32.8 million for
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These costs were
recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses.

The deferred compensation liability under the BRP Plan
was $53.0 million and $37.4 million at August 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively, and recorded in other long-term liabilities.
Though under no obligation to fund the plan, the Company
has segregated assets in a trust with a current value at August
31, 2006 and 2005 of $51.2 million and $34.5 million,
respectively, and recorded in other long-term assets. The net
unrealized holding gain on these segregated assets was $4.0
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Share information for options and SARs at August 31, 2006:

Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted

Range of Number Remaining Contractual Average Aggregate Number Weighted Average Aggregate
Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Yrs) Exercise Price Intrinsic Value Outstanding Exercise Price Intrinsic Value

$ 2.75–3.99 2,142,548 2.6 $ 3.48 2,142,548 $ 3.48

4.29–5.36 1,177,788 2.4 4.34 1,177,788 4.34

7.53–7.78 2,496,992 4.5 7.77 2,496,992 7.77

12.31–13.58 1,028,990 5.8 12.33 360,872 12.37

21.81–24.71 639,030 6.7 24.53

$ 2.75–24.71 7,485,348 4.0 $ 8.06 $103,146,561 6,178,200 $ 5.90 $96,946,426
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million and $4.8 million for the years ended August 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively. The amount recognized in
earnings for 2004 was not material.

A certain number of employees outside of the U.S. participate
in defined contribution plans maintained in accordance with
local regulations. Company contributions to these international
plans were $2.8 million, $2.7 million and $1.4 million for the
years ended August 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

The Company has no significant postretirement obligations.
The Company’s historical costs for postemployment benefits
have not been significant and are not expected to be in the future.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Minimum lease commitments payable by the Company and
its consolidated subsidiaries for noncancelable operating
leases in effect at August 31, 2006, are as follows for the
fiscal periods specified:

(in thousands) Equipment Real Estate

2007 $ 12,928 $12,686

2008 11,186 10,373

2009 10,105 5,752

2010 8,224 4,111

2011 and thereafter 13,754 10,260

$ 56,197 $43,182

Total rental expense was $24.9 million, $18.8 million and
$16.0 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Environmental and Other Matters In the ordinary course of
conducting its business, the Company becomes involved in
litigation, administrative proceedings and governmental
investigations, including environmental matters.

The Company has received notices from the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or equivalent state
agency that it is considered a potentially responsible party
(PRP) at thirteen sites, none owned by the Company, and
may be obligated under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA)
or similar state statute to conduct remedial investigations,
feasibility studies, remediation and/or removal of alleged
releases of hazardous substances or to reimburse the EPA for
such activities. The Company is involved in litigation or
administrative proceedings with regard to several of these
sites in which the Company is contesting, or at the appropriate
time may contest, its liability at the sites. In addition, the
Company has received information requests with regard to
other sites which may be under consideration by the EPA as
potential CERCLA sites. Some of these environmental matters
or other proceedings may result in fines, penalties or judgments
being assessed against the Company. At August 31, 2006,
based on currently available information, which is in many

cases preliminary and incomplete, management estimates that
the Company’s aggregate liability for cleanup and remediation
costs in connection with nine of the thirteen sites will be
between $2.2 million and $2.8 million. The Company has
accrued for these liabilities based upon management’s best
estimates. At August 31, 2006, $6.2 million was accrued for
environmental liabilities of which $3.7 million was classified
as other long-term liabilities. Due to evolving remediation
technology, changing regulations, possible third-party contri-
butions, the inherent shortcomings of the estimation process
and other factors, amounts accrued could vary significantly
from amounts paid. Accordingly, it is not possible to estimate
a meaningful range of possible exposure. Historically, the
amounts that we have ultimately paid for such remediation
activities have not been material.

In general, state escheat statutes allow the examination for
unclaimed property to extend back ten or more years.
Although no audits are currently in process, the Company
has recorded liabilities for the estimated minimum potential
unclaimed property. The Company is unable to estimate a
meaningful range for such exposure.

Management believes that adequate provision has been
made in the financial statements for the potential impact of
these issues, and that the outcomes will not significantly
impact the results of operations or the financial position of
the Company, although they may have a material impact on
earnings for a particular quarter.

Insurance Claims On August 18, 2003, the Company’s new
electric arc furnace transformer failed at its CMC Steel South
Carolina melt shop after only six days in operation. After the
failure of the new transformer, the Company’s former transformer
was reinstalled. Costs for repairing the transformer were covered
by the equipment manufacturer. In May and June 2004, the
Company’s primary and secondary transformers at CMC Steel
Texas’ melt shop failed. In August 2005, the Company settled
all of its insurance claims (primarily for business interruption)
relating to these transformer failures. Total settlement
amounts (net of deductibles) were $10.3 million and $9.8
million for the CMC Steel Texas and CMC Steel South
Carolina claims, respectively. These amounts were recorded
in net sales for the year ended August 31, 2005.

Guarantees In January 2005, one of the Company’s interna-
tional subsidiaries entered into a guarantee agreement with a
bank in connection with a $30 million advance by an affiliate
of the bank to one of the subsidiary’s suppliers. The subsidiary
has entered into an offtake agreement with the supplier with
a total purchase commitment of $45 million. As of August
31, 2006, the subsidiary’s maximum exposure under the
guarantee is $1.5 million (except in an event of default by
the subsidiary under the offtake agreement). The fair value
of the guarantee is negligible.

In May 2006, one of the Company’s international sub-
sidiaries entered into a guarantee agreement with a bank in
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connection with a maximum $15 million credit facility
extended to one of the subsidiary’s suppliers. As of August 31,
2006, the subsidiary’s maximum exposure under the guarantee
is $1.4 million The fair value of the guarantee is negligible.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

In calculating earnings per share, there were no adjustments
to net earnings to arrive at earnings for any years presented.
The reconciliation of the denominators of the earnings per
share calculations are as follows at August 31:

2006 2005 2004

Shares outstanding for basic 

earnings per share 117,989,877 118,048,880 115,071,828

Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock-based incentive/

purchase plans 5,469,192 5,331,294 4,305,528

Shares outstanding for 

diluted earnings 

per share 123,459,069 123,380,174 119,377,356

SARs with total share commitments of 637,673 were anti-
dilutive at August 31, 2006 based on the average share price
of $23.65. All of the Company’s outstanding stock options,
restricted stock and SARs were dilutive at August 31, 2005 and
2004 based on the average share prices of $13.58 and $8.26,
respectively. All stock options and SARs expire by 2013.

The Company’s restricted stock is included in the number of
shares of common stock issued and outstanding, but omitted
from the basic earnings per share calculation until the shares
vest as required by Financial Accounting Standards.

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES
August 31,

(in thousands) 2006 2005

Salaries, bonuses and commissions $148,137 $117,615

Employees’ retirement plans 58,087 44,282

Freight 33,419 20,034

Advance billings on contracts 29,907 22,966

Taxes other than income taxes 18,397 14,644

Insurance 15,089 11,779

Software purchases 10,745 –

Litigation accruals 6,650 6,650

Interest 4,759 5,047

Contract losses 4,095 4,222

Environmental 2,494 2,807

Other 47,985 43,552

$379,764 $293,598

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company’s reportable segments are based on strategic
business areas, which offer different products and services.
These segments have different lines of management respon-
sibility as each business requires different marketing strategies
and management expertise.

The Company has five reportable segments: domestic
mills, CMCZ, domestic fabrication, recycling and marketing
and distribution.

The domestic mills segment includes the Company’s
domestic steel minimills (including the scrap metal processing
facilities which directly support these mills) and the copper
tube minimill. The copper tube minimill is aggregated with
the Company’s steel minimills because it has similar economic
characteristics. The CMCZ minimill and subsidiaries in
Poland have been presented as a separate segment because the
economic characteristics of their markets and the regulatory
environment in which they operate are different from that of
the Company’s domestic minimills. The domestic fabrication
segment consists of the Company’s rebar and joist fabrication
operations, fence post manufacturing plants, construction-
related and other products facilities. The recycling segment
consists of the CMC Recycling division’s scrap metal processing
and sales operations primarily in Texas, Florida and the southern
United States. Marketing and distribution includes both
domestic and international operations for the sales, distribution
and processing of both ferrous and nonferrous metals and
other industrial products. The segment’s activities consist only
of physical transactions and not position taking for speculation.
The corporate segment contains expenses of the Company’s
corporate headquarters and interest expense relating to its
long-term public debt and commercial paper program.

The Company uses adjusted operating profit to measure
segment performance. Intersegment sales are generally priced
at prevailing market prices. Certain corporate administrative
expenses are allocated to segments based upon the nature of
the expense. The accounting policies of the segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies.

The Company has refined its method of overhead allocation
for fiscal 2006 as compared to 2005 and 2004. Overhead
costs of $15.9 million and $10.7 million were reclassified in
fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, from the domestic mills
to the domestic fabrication segment to ensure comparability
with current year amounts reported.

13

14

12



[ 82 ]

The following is a summary of certain financial information by reportable segment (in thousands): 

Marketing
Domestic Domestic and

Mills CMCZ Fabrication Recycling Distribution Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

2006

Net sales–unaffiliated customers $1,149,714 $553,576 $1,770,310 $1,253,059 $2,824,640 $ 4,625 $ – $ 7,555,924

Intersegment sales 450,541 20,144 1,480 107,398 128,937 19,684 (728,184) –

Net sales 1,600,255 573,720 1,771,790 1,360,457 2,953,577 24,309 (728,184) 7,555,924

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 301,113 52,791 95,999 99,963 69,755 (32,367) – 587,254

Interest expense* (7,112) 1,658 13,234 (2,070) 15,433 9,870 (1,444) 29,569

Capital expenditures 47,942 36,508 27,045 13,230 5,735 775 – 131,235

Depreciation and amortization 34,702 24,113 15,257 8,176 2,252 878 – 85,378

Goodwill 306 – 27,006 6,669 1,768 – – 35,749

Total assets 503,605 315,384 703,127 293,779 872,808 210,165 – 2,898,868

2005

Net sales-unaffiliated customers $1,014,021 $466,529 $1,472,858 $ 820,984 $2,813,462 $ 4,843 $ – $ 6,592,697

Intersegment sales 284,400 11,726 828 75,962 112,863 – (485,779) –

Net sales 1,298,421 478,255 1,473,686 896,946 2,926,325 4,843 (485,779) 6,592,697

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 232,812 (188) 101,919 70,828 90,417 (17,463) – 478,325

Interest expense* 1,622 3,602 9,993 (1,738) 9,330 9,379 (1,001) 31,187

Capital expenditures 52,041 25,730 17,487 12,021 2,331 604 – 110,214

Depreciation and amortization 33,669 17,808 13,383 7,858 2,810 1,082 – 76,610

Goodwill 306 – 27,006 3,230 – – – 30,542

Total assets 468,532 276,219 594,000 146,620 746,951 100,600 – 2,332,922

2004

Net sales-unaffiliated customers $ 845,348 $354,328 $1,041,690 $ 717,557 $1,809,276 $ 128 $ – $ 4,768,327

Intersegment sales 263,888 72,813 5,631 56,618 72,507 – (471,457) –

Net sales 1,109,236 427,141 1,047,321 774,175 1,881,783 128 (471,457) 4,768,327

Adjusted operating profit (loss) 94,856 69,318 (3,412) 67,887 39,427 (26,394) – 241,682

Interest expense* 2,370 3,175 5,135 (93) 4,056 13,833 (372) 28,104

Capital expenditures 25,734 7,913 7,954 8,688 1,214 386 – 51,889

Depreciation and amortization 36,324 10,098 13,369 7,705 2,665 883 – 71,044

Goodwill 306 – 27,006 3,230 – – – 30,542

Total assets 421,517 242,547 497,044 143,504 569,220 114,214 – 1,988,046

* Includes intercompany interest expense (income) in the segments. 
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The following table provides a reconciliation of consolidated
adjusted operating profit to net earnings: 

Year ended August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Net earnings $ 356,347 $ 285,781 $ 132,021

Minority interests (benefit) 10,209 (744) 14,871

Income taxes 187,937 157,996 65,055

Interest expense 29,569 31,187 28,104

Discounts on sales of 

accounts receivable 3,192 4,105 1,631

Adjusted operating profit $ 587,254 $ 478,325 $ 241,682

The following represents the Company’s external net sales
by major product and geographic area: 

Year ended August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Major product information:

Steel products $4,457,707 $4,276,086 $2,959,208

Nonferrous scrap 840,870 427,652 328,357

Industrial materials 831,726 816,322 519,967

Nonferrous products 572,746 455,043 361,721

Ferrous scrap 406,113 387,963 384,196

Construction materials 390,294 192,167 155,881

Other 56,468 37,464 58,997

Net sales $7,555,924 $6,592,697 $4,768,327

Geographic area:

United States $4,803,220 $3,876,683 $2,989,554

Europe 1,221,589 1,237,551 827,249

Asia 809,501 853,317 493,609

Australia/New Zealand 446,481 403,696 315,442

Other 275,133 221,450 142,473

Net sales $7,555,924 $6,592,697 $4,768,327

The following represents long-lived assets by geographic area: 

Year ended August 31,
(in thousands) 2006 2005 2004

United States $ 586,068 $ 491,528 $ 437,170

Europe 139,270 119,378 95,057

Australia 12,068 13,199 11,346

Other 16,670 7,900 20,241

Total long-lived assets $ 754,076 $ 632,005 $ 563,814

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Summarized quarterly financial data for fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004 are as follows (in thousands except per share data):

Three Months Ended 2006
Nov. 30 Feb. 28 May 31 Aug. 31

Net sales $1,645,698 $1,639,487 $2,021,299 $2,249,440

Gross profit 220,968 250,604 264,565 342,954

Net earnings 69,624 80,103 77,960 128,660

Basic EPS 0.60 0.68 0.65 1.08

Diluted EPS 0.57 0.65 0.62 1.04

Three Months Ended 2005
Nov. 30 Feb. 28 May 31 Aug. 31

Net sales $1,529,072 $1,597,313 $1,726,251 $1,740,061

Gross profit 232,964 208,521 229,532 228,196

Net earnings 73,725 56,575 71,741 83,740

Basic EPS 0.63 0.48 0.60 0.72

Diluted EPS 0.61 0.45 0.57 0.69

Three Months Ended 2004
Nov. 30 Feb. 29 May 31 Aug. 31

Net sales $ 830,007 $1,068,060 $1,407,206 $1,463,054

Gross profit 92,519 128,615 202,169 184,298

Net earnings 12,628 21,155 50,884 47,354

Basic EPS 0.11 0.18 0.44 0.40

Diluted EPS 0.11 0.18 0.42 0.39

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company reached a
formal settlement with its insurance carrier and recorded
$11.6 million representing the final settlement of its insurance
claims for property damage and business interruption relating
to its prior year transformer failures at CMC Steel Texas and CMC
South Carolina. All funds were received in September 2005.

Also, during the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company
reduced its accrued discretionary incentive compensation
accrual by $6.9 million following finalization and approval by
its Board of Directors.

The final determination of LIFO inventory quantities and
prices (after tax) resulted in $10.5 million expense, $10.8
million income and $25.3 million expense in the fourth
quarters of 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Also, during
the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company incurred charges of
$6.5 million to write-down its FIFO inventories to current
market value.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

One of the Company’s international subsidiaries has an
agreement for steel purchases with a key supplier of which
the Company owns an 11% interest. The total amounts of
purchases from this supplier were $286 million, $251 million
and $146 million for the years ended August 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

top row (L to R)

Robert D. Neary
Retired Co-Chairman of Ernst & Young,
Cleveland, Ohio; Chairman of Audit
Committee; 1, 2, 3

Murray R. McClean 
President & Chief Executive Officer

Anthony A. Massaro
Retired Chairman of the Board, The
Lincoln Electric Company, Cleveland,
Ohio; Lead Director; Chairman of
Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee; 1, 2, 3

Harold L. Adams
Chairman-Emeritus, RTKL Associates
Inc., Baltimore, Maryland; 1, 3

J. David Smith
Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer, Euramax International, Inc.,
Norcross, Georgia; 1,3 

Moses Feldman

President, AeroMed, Inc.,
Hatfield, Pennsylvania; 2, 3

bottom row (L to R)

Stanley A. Rabin
Chairman of the Board

Robert R. Womack
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Zurn Industries, Inc., 
Addison, Texas; Chairman of
Compensation Committee; 1, 2, 3

Dorothy G. Owen
Chairman-Emeritus, 
Owen Steel Company, Inc., 
Columbia, South Carolina; 2, 3

Ralph E. Loewenberg
President, R.E. Loewenberg 
Capital Management Corporation, 
New York, NY; 2, 3

COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries

CORPORATE OFFICERS

top row (L to R)

Malinda G. Passmore
Vice President and
Chief Information Officer

Louis A. Federle
Treasurer

Leon K. Rusch
Controller

David M. Sudbury
Vice President, 
Secretary and General Counsel

Manny Rosenfeld
Vice President and
Director, Internal Audit

bottom row (L to R)

William B. Larson
Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer

James B. Alleman
Vice President,
Human Resources

Sharon L. Campbell
Assistant Treasurer

[not pictured]

Jim Hodges
Assistant Controller

1 Member of the Audit Committee    2 Member of the Compensation Committee  
3 Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
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OPERATIONS Commercial Metals Company and Subsidiaries

Domestic Mills

STEEL MANUFACTURING

CMC Steel Alabama
101 South 50th Street
Birmingham, AL 35212

CMC Steel Arkansas
P. O. Box 1147
Magnolia, AR 71754

CMC Steel South Carolina
310 New State Road
Cayce, SC 29033

CMC Steel Texas
P. O. Box 911
Seguin, TX 78156

SCRAP PROCESSING

CMC Metal Recycling
3431 27th Ave. North
Birmingham, AL 35202

CMC Metal Recycling
1890 Old Savannah Road
Augusta, GA 30901

CMC Metal Recycling
603 Godley Street
Cayce, SC 29033

CMC Metal Recycling
5308 Liberty Chapel Road
Florence, SC 29501

CMC Metal Recycling
4908 Hwy. 321 South
Gaston, SC 29053

CMC Metal Recycling
2308 Two Notch Road
Lexington, SC 29072

CMC Metal Recycling
1119 Atomic Road
North Augusta, SC 29841

CMC Metal Recycling
7931 Valley Falls Road
Spartanburg, SC 29303

CMC Metal Recycling
1704 Howard Lane
Austin, TX 78728

CMC Metal Recycling
710 Industrial Boulevard
Austin, TX 78745

CMC Metal Recycling
1558 N. Austin Street
Seguin, TX 78155

CMC Metal Recycling
P. O. Box 911
Seguin, TX 78156

RAIL SALVAGE

CMC Rail
P. O. Box 1147
Magnolia, AR 71754

COPPER TUBE 
MANUFACTURING

CMC Howell Metal
574 Depot Rd.
New Market, VA 22844

CMCZ

STEEL MANUFACTURING

CMC Zawiercie S.A.
ul. Pilsudskiego 82
42-400 Zawiercie
Poland

SCRAP PROCESSING

CMC Centrozlom-Katowice
ul. Surowcow 30
40-431 Katowice
Poland

CMC Poland S.A.
ul. Pilsudskiego 82
42-400 Zawiercie
Poland

Scrapena S.A.
ul. Lubliniecka 41
42-284 Herby
Poland

STEEL FABRICATION

CMC Poland S.A.
ul. Pilsudskiego 82
42-400 Zawiercie
Poland

Domestic Fabrication

STEEL FABRICATION
AND WAREHOUSING

ABC Coating of North Carolina
2528 N. Chester
Gastonia, NC 28053

CMC Airport Steel Supply
251 Hosea Rd.
Lawrenceville, GA  30045

CMC Alamo Steel
2784 Old Dallas Road
Waco, TX 76705

CMC Capitol City Steel
900 North IH 35
Buda, TX 78610

CMC Capitol Steel
2655 N. Foster Drive
Baton Rouge, LA 70805

CMC Capitol Steel Lumberton
18 Lavelle Ladner Rd.
Lumberton, MS 39455

CMC Capitol Steel Slidell
38324 Haas Rd.
Pearl River, LA 70452

CMC Cary Engineering
534 Old Howell Road, #100
Greenville, SC 29615

CMC Commercial Metals
de Mexico
Carratera Panamericana 9920
Colonia Puente Alto
Ciudad Juarez, Chih.
Mexico 32695

CMC Construction Services
700 Dixie Street
N. Little Rock, AR 72114

CMC Construction Services
11507 Old Mansfield Road
Keithville, LA 71047

CMC Construction Services
2300 First Street N.W.
Albuquerque, NM 87102

CMC Construction Services
2101 South Villa Avenue
Oklahoma City, OK 73108

CMC Construction Services
1925 South 33rd West Avenue
Tulsa, OK 74108

CMC Construction Services
4846 Singleton Boulevard
Dallas, TX 75212

CMC Construction Services
2400 N.E. 36th Street
Fort Worth, TX 76111

CMC Construction Services
2202 McKinney Street
Melissa, TX 75454

CMC Construction Services
4100 North I-35E
Waxahachie, TX 75165

CMC Fontana Steel
12451 Arrow Route
Etiwanda, CA 91739

CMC Fontana Steel
2375 West March Lane
Stockton, CA 95207

CMC Houston Steel
7077 Fairbanks North Houston
Houston, TX 77040

CMC Impact Metals
7127 Gadsden Highway, #207
Trussville, AL 35173

CMC Impact Metals
15 Union Street, Bldg. 3
Struthers, OH 44471

CMC Impact Metals
P. O. Box U
Chicora, PA 16235

CMC Joist
3565 U.S. Hwy. 32N
Hope, AR 71801

CMC Joist
14099 S.E. 44th Avenue
Starke, FL 32091

CMC Joist
1120 Commercial Street
Iowa Falls, IA 50126

CMC Joist
8200 Woolery Way
Fallon, NV 89406

CMC Joist
2059 Congaree Rd.
Eastover, SC 29044

CMC Kilroy Steel
8500 Union Avenue
Cleveland, OH 44105

CMC Rebar Arizona
353 S. Washington
Chandler, AZ 85225

CMC Rebar Carolinas
2105 S. Beltline Boulevard
Columbia, SC 29201

CMC Rebar Carolinas
2528 N. Chester Street
Gastonia, NC 28052

CMC Rebar Corpus Christi
6802 Safety Steel Drive
Corpus Christi, TX 78414

CMC Rebar Fabricators
2755 South Willow Avenue
Bloomington, CA 92316

CMC Rebar Florida
2665 Prince Street
Ft. Myers, FL 33916

CMC Rebar Florida
10483 General Avenue
Jacksonville, FL 32220

CMC Rebar Fresno
2914 N. Argyle
Fresno, CA 93727

CMC Rebar Georgia
6031 LaGrange Boulevard S.W.
Atlanta, GA 30336

CMC Rebar Georgia
251 Hosea Road
Lawrenceville, GA 30045

CMC Rebar Golden Gate
6425 Christie Avenue, #110
Emeryville, CA 94608

CMC Rebar San Antonio
10792 Leslie Road
San Antonio, TX 78254

CMC Rebar Virginia
300 SMI Way
Farmville, VA 23901

CMC Rebar Virginia
9434 Crossroads Parkway
Fredericksburg, VA 22408

CMC Rebar Virginia
1344 Ballentine Boulevard
Norfolk, VA 23504

CMC Safety Steel Service
255 Skytop Road
Victoria, TX 77905

CMC South Carolina Steel
113 East Warehouse Court
Taylors, SC 29687

CMC Southern Post
P. O. Box 1147
Magnolia, AR 71754

CMC Southern Post
1540 Pine Ridge Drive
West Columbia, SC 29172

CMC Southern Post
440 Wonder World Drive
San Marcos, TX 78666
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CMC Southern Post
920 W. 600 North
Brigham City, UT 84302

CMC Southern States Steel
9675 Walden Road
Beaumont, TX 77707

CMC Spray Forming International
310 New State Road
Cayce, SC 29033

CMC Steel Fabricators, Inc.
P. O. Box 911
Seguin, TX 78156

CMC Steel Products
P. O. Box 2099
Hope, AR 71802

CMC Sterling Steel
2001 Brittmoore Road
Houston, TX 77043

CMC Texas Cold FinishedSteel
235 Portwall Street
Houston, TX 77029

CMC Valley Steel
2120 Industrial Crossways
Harlingen, TX 78550

CONSTRUCTION-RELATED 
PRODUCTS

CMC Construction Services
2214 S. City Lake Road
Fayetteville, AR 72701

CMC Construction Services
700 Dixie Street
N. Little Rock, AR 72114

CMC Construction Services
601 South 19th Avenue
Phoenix, AZ 85009

CMC Construction Services
3114 E. District
Tucson, AZ 85714

CMC Construction Services
6665 N. Washington Street
Denver, CO 80229

CMC Construction Services
3923 Forrestal
Orlando, FL 32839

CMC Construction Services
1201 N. 34th Street
Tampa, FL 33605

CMC Construction Services
4212 N. Bolton Avenue
Alexandria, LA 71303

CMC Construction Services
18909 Highland Road
Baton Rouge, LA 70809

CMC Construction Services
600 St. George St.
Jefferson, LA 70121

CMC Construction Services
2135 McClellan Street
Shreveport, LA 71103

CMC Construction Services
3310 East Napoleon
Sulphur, LA 70664

CMC Construction Services
10380 Auto Mall Pkwy.
D’Iberville, MS 39540

CMC Construction Services
1851 Country Club Drive
Jackson, MS 39209

CMC Construction Services
2300 First Street N.W.
Albuquerque, NM 87102

CMC Construction Services
1801 West Detroit
Broken Arrow, OK 74012

CMC Construction Services
2740 Azalea Drive
Charleston, SC 29405

CMC Construction Services
500 Huger Street
Columbia, SC 29201

CMC Construction Services
2420 South Hwy. 14
Greer, SC 29650

CMC Construction Services
99 North Tyler
Amarillo, TX 79101

CMC Construction Services
4123 Todd Lane
Austin, TX 78744

CMC Construction Services
10650 SH 30
College Station, TX 77845

CMC Construction Services
2309 N. Frazier
Conroe, TX 77303

CMC Construction Services
301 45th Street
Corpus Christi, TX 78405

CMC Construction Services
2323 Irving Boulevard
Dallas, TX 75207

CMC Construction Services
1000 Penedale
El Paso, TX 79907

CMC Construction Services
2400 N.E. 36th Street
Fort Worth, TX 76111

CMC Construction Services
8901 E. Almeda Rd.
Houston, TX 77054

CMC Construction Services
9103 E. Almeda Rd.
Houston, TX 77054

CMC Construction Services
2001 Brittmoore Road
Houston, TX 77043

CMC Construction Services
777 N. Eldridge Pkwy, #500
Houston, TX 77079

CMC Construction Services
7063 Fairbanks No. Houston
Houston, TX 77040

CMC Construction Services
513 32nd Street
Lubbock, TX 79404

CMC Construction Services
2202 McKinney Street
Melissa, TX 75454

CMC Construction Services
16709 Central Commerce Drive
Round Rock, TX 78664

CMC Construction Services
4911 Whirlwind Drive
San Antonio, TX 78217

CMC Construction Services
3430 First Avenue South
Texas City, TX 77590

CMC Construction Services
4100 North I-35E
Waxahachie, TX 75165

CMC Formtek
2849 Orange St.
Riverside, CA 92501

Recycling

CMC China
CMC Recycling China
China World Tower 2
Suite 2020
1 Jianguomenwai Avenue
Beijing 100004, P.R. China

CMC Recycling
305 Yonack Dr.
Lonoke, AR 72086

CMC Recycling
2038 North Lane Avenue
Jacksonville, FL 32254

Feeder Yards: Gainesville, FL
Lake City, FL

CMC Recycling
4351 W. Hwy. 40
Ocala, FL 34482

Feeder Yard: Ocala, FL

CMC Recycling
3000 Gamson Rd.
Apopka, FL 32703

Feeder Yard: Palm Bay, FL

CMC Recycling
1900 N. 62nd Street
Tampa, FL 33619

CMC Recycling
3647 Hollywood
Shreveport, LA 71109

CMC Recycling
12th & Iowa Streets
Joplin, MO 64801

Feeder Yards: Independence, KS
Miami, OK

CMC Recycling
634 E. Phelps
Springfield, MO 65806

CMC Recycling
2600 Park Road Extension 
Burlington, NC 27215

CMC Recycling
2001-A N. 170th East Avenue
Tulsa, OK 74116

Feeder Yard: Stroud, OK

CMC Recycling
400 E. 20th Street
Chattanooga, TN 37408

Feeder Yard: Chattanooga, TN

CMC Recycling
5250 College Street
Beaumont, TX 77707

Feeder Yard: Lufkin, TX

CMC Recycling
215 Mockingbird
Clute, TX 77531

CMC Recycling
4614 Agnes Street
Corpus Christi, TX 78405

CMC Recycling
11485 County Road 212
Forney, TX 75126

CMC Recycling
601 North Throckmorton
Fort Worth, TX 76106

CMC Recycling
71st and Broadway Streets
Galveston, TX 77551

CMC Recycling
2160 Harbor Street
Houston, TX 77020

CMC Recycling
2015 Quitman Street
Houston, TX 77026

CMC Recycling
217 Chihuahua St.
Laredo, TX 78040

CMC Recycling
212 County Road 5800
Lubbock, TX 79403

CMC Recycling
3501 West Second Street
Odessa, TX 79763

CMC Recycling
398 Industrial Park Drive
Victoria, TX 77905

CMC Recycling
8230 Doniphan Drive
Vinton, TX 79821

CMC Recycling American
2215 South Good-Latimer
Dallas, TX 75226

Feeder Yards: Dallas, TX
Waco, TX

CMC Recycling Liberty
1729 North Westmoreland Road
Dallas, TX 75212

Feeder Yards: Arlington, TX
Forney, TX

Marketing & Distribution

NORTH AMERICA

CMC Cometals
2050 Center Avenue
Suite 250
Fort Lee, NJ 07024

CMC Commonwealth Metals
2200 Fletcher Avenue
Fort Lee, NJ 07024

CMC Dallas Trading
690 W. Fremont Avenue, #7
Sunnyvale, CA 94087
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CMC Dallas Trading
6565 N. MacArthur Boulevard
Suite 800
Irving, TX 75039

CMC Mexico City
Monte Pelvoux 220 of. 405/406
Col. Lomas de Chapultepec
Mexico, D.F. 11000

EUROPE

CMC Europe AG
Lindenstrasse 14
CH-6340 Baar
Switzerland

CMC International AG
Lindenstrasse 14
CH-6340 Baar
Switzerland

CMC UK Limited
Somerton,
Ballyboden Road,
Rathfarnham,
Dublin 14
Ireland

CMC UK Limited
Unit 1, Bradwall Court
Bradwall Road
Sandbach, Cheshire CW11 1GE
United Kingdom

Commercial Metals 
Deutschland GmbH
Theodorstr. 42-90
Loft 623
D-22761 Hamburg
Germany

Commercial Metals 
Deutschland GmbH
Cliev 19
51515 Kuerten-Herweg
Germany

Commercial Metals
International AG
Lindenstrasse 14
CH-6340 Baar
Switzerland

ASIA

CMC China
CMC Cometals China
China World Tower 2
Suite 2020
1 Jianguomenwai Avenue
Beijing 100004, P.R. China

CMC China (Guangzhou)
CMC Steel China
Room 3105, 31/F, Metro Plaza
183 Tian He Bei Road
Guangzhou, Guangdong
China 510073

CMC China (Shanghai)
CMC Commonwealth 
Metals China
Lippo Plaza, Suite 2212-13
222 Huaihai Road (Mid.)
Shanghai 200021, China

CMC Fareast Limited
Unit C, 12th Floor
128 Gloucester Road
Hong Kong

CMC S.E. Asia
#03-03 Central Plaza
298 Tiong Bahru Road
Singapore 168730

AUSTRALIA

CMC Australia
Suite 47
223 Calam Road
Sunnybank Hills
Queensland 4109
Australia

CMC Australia
Level 5, 4-8 Woodville Street
Hurstville, Sydney N.S.W. 2220
Australia

CMC Australia
Level 6, 697 Burke Road
Camberwell, Victoria 3124 
Australia

CMC Australia
2 Draper Place
Kewdale, Perth WA 6105
Australia

CMC Cometals Australia
Unit 1, Building B
174 Barrington Street
Bibra Lake, Perth WA 6163
Australia

Coil Steels Group
Pty Limited
L8 18-20 Orion Road
Lane Cove, NSW 2066
Australia

Coil Steels Group
Darwin Office
Lot No. 1036
Berrimah Rd.
Berrimah NT 0828
Australia

Coil Steels Group
Toowoomba Office
CNR Enterprise & Carroll St.
Wilsonton Industrial Estate
Queensland 4350
Australia

Coil Steels Group
Townsville Office
Unit 7-8, 25 Keane Street
Currajong, Queensland 4812
Australia

Coil Steels Plate & Long
Products Sydney
Bldg. 2, 13 Bessemer St.
Blacktown, NSW 2148
Australia

Coil Steels Plate & Long
Products Queensland
124 Compton Road
Woodbridge, 
Brisbane, Queensland 4114
Australia

Coil Steels Plate & Long
Products Perth
2 Draper Place
Kewdale, Perth WA 6105
Australia

Coil Steels Processing
73-90 Lenore Lane
Erskine Park, NSW 2761
Australia

Coil Steels Processing
32 Howleys Road
Notting Hill, Victoria 3168
Australia

Coil Steels Processing
121 Evans Road
Salisbury
Brisbane, Queensland 4107
Australia

Coil Steels Sheet & Coil
32 Howleys Road
Notting Hill
Victoria 3168
Australia

Coil Steels Sheet & Coil
121 Evans Road
Salisbury
Brisbane, Queensland 4107
Australia

Coil Steels Sheet & Coil
73-90 Lenore Lane
Erskine Park, NSW 2761
Australia

Coil Steels Sheet & Coil
2 Draper Place
Kewdale, Perth WA 6105
Australia

Coil Steels Southmet Long Products
13 Martin Avenue
Gillman, SA 5013
Australia

Coil Steels Sheet & Coil
13 Martin Avenue
Gillman, SA 5013
Australia

REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE

CMC Cometals Russia
Room 500
27 B. Kommunisticheskaya Str.
Moscow 109004 Russia

JOINT VENTURE OFFICES

CMC-Trinec Stahlhandel GmbH
Cliev 19
51515 Kuerten-Herweg
Germany

CMC-Trinec Stahlhandel GmbH 
(Rail Division)
Oberbau
Kardinal-Hengsbach-Strasse 4
D-46236 Bottrop
Germany

Europickling N.V.
I.Z. Durmakker
B-9940 Evergem
Belgium

Trinec-CMC Limited
5, Bradwall Court, 
Bradwall Road
Sandbach, Cheshire
CW11 1GE
United Kingdom

AGENTS

Athens, Greece
Auckland, New Zealand
Bangkok, Thailand
Bucharest, Romania
Buenos Aires, Argentina
Cairo, Egypt
Caracas, Venezuela
Delhi, India
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam
Istanbul, Turkey
Jakarta, Indonesia
Kaohsiung, Taiwan
Lisbon, Portugal
Manila, Philippines
Milan, Italy
Mumbai, India
Sao Paulo, Brazil
Seoul, Korea
Shanghai, China
Sosnowiec, Poland
Temse, Belgium
Tokyo, Japan
Zaragoza, Spain

Divisions and Subsidiaries

Domestic Mills

CMC STEEL GROUP

Russell Rinn
President &
Chief Executive Officer

Bob Unfried
EVP, Finance & Administration

Jim Fritsch
EVP, Strategic Planning

Gary Liebeskind
EVP, Training & Development

Kyle K. Kraft
VP & Controller

H. Avery Hilton, Jr.
EVP & Mills Division Manager

Dale Schmelzle
EVP & General Manager
CMC Steel Alabama

Phil Seidenberger
EVP & General Manager
CMC Steel Texas

Steve Henderson
VP & General Manager
CMC Steel Arkansas

Dennis Malatek
VP & General Manager
CMC Steel South Carolina

CMC HOWELL METAL

James K. Forkovitch
President

John Brower
Vice President

Willard G. Williams
Controller
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CMCZ

Hanns Zöllner
Chairman, Supervisory Board

Ludovit Gajdos
Chairman of the Management 
Board and CEO

Ned Leyendecker
Member of the Management
Board and Operations Director

Peter Weyermann
Member of the Management 
Board and Marketing Director

Dorota Apostel
Scrap Purchasing Director

Kazimierz Jeziorski
Sales Director

Justyna Miciak
Director Controlling

Dorota Pieszczoch
Finance Director

Tomasz Skudlik
Human Resources Director

Domestic Fabrication

Russell Rinn
President &
Chief Executive Officer
CMC Steel Group

Binh K. Huynh
EVP & Divisional Manager
Rebar and CRP

Karl Schoenleber
EVP & Divisional Manager
Joist and East Structural

Ed Hall
EVP & Regional Manager
Rebar Fab Gulf Coast 
and West Structural

Rick Jenkins
EVP & Regional Manager
Rebar Fab Central Texas

Tracy Porter
EVP & Regional Manager
CMC Construction Services -
Rebar

John Richey
EVP & Regional Manager
CMC Construction Services -
CRP

Jeff H. Selig
EVP & Regional Manager
Rebar Fab East

Recycling

CMC RECYCLING

Alan Postel
President

Rocky Adams
Vice President, Southwest USA

Brian Halloran
Vice President
Nonferrous Marketing

Ellen Lasser
Vice President
Strategic Sourcing

Robert J. Melendi
Vice President
Ferrous Marketing

Carl J. Nastoupil
Vice President & Controller

Larry Olschwanger
Vice President
National Accounts

Jim Vermillion
Vice President, Central U.S.A.

Stan Young
Vice President, Southeast USA

Marketing & Distribution

Hanns Zöllner
President

CMC COMETALS

Eliezer Skornicki
President

Weston Liu
Vice President, CMC Cometals;
General Manager,
CMC Cometals China

Dennis C. Gates
Vice President

Joel D. Kahn
Vice President

Jeffrey L. Kofsky
Vice President

Manfred R. Roeschel
Vice President

Matthew Lionetti
Vice President & Controller

CMC COMMONWEALTH METALS

Eugene L. Vastola
President

Greg Barczy
Vice President, Development
and Technical Director

Richard Conk
Vice President, Finance
and Administration

Charles J. Schaffer
Vice President, Aluminum

Steven E. Shur
Vice President, Copper &
Stainless Steel

Julio Pelletier
Controller

CMC DALLAS TRADING

J. Matthew Kramer
President

Joseph D. McNamara
General Manager, Steel Trading

Albert Lee
Manager, Steel Trading

Michael Jackson
Manager, Nonferrous Products

Michael Malone
Operations Manager/Controller

Tom Cargill
Manager, Traffic Department

Catharine Foote
Customs Compliance Manager

Timothy A. Bergan
Credit & Collections Manager

Ricardo Mendoza
Manager, CMC Mexico City

INTERNATIONAL DIVISION
ASIA AND AUSTRALIA

Kevin S. Aitken
President

Kevin Forbes
Finance Director
CMC Australia

Mark Morrison
General Manager - Steel
CMC Australia

Matthew Stedman
General Manager, Operations
& Business Development
CMC Australia

Colin Iles
General Manager
CMC Cometals Australia

Peter Muller
Managing Director
Coil Steels Group

Mike Minihan
National Distribution Manager 
Coil Steels Group

Ashley Smith
National Operations Manager
Coil Steels Group

Jimmy Dee
Managing Director
CMC Fareast Ltd.

Kai Leung Chan
Managing Director
CMC S.E. Asia

INTERNATIONAL DIVISION EUROPE

Ruedi Auf der Maur
President

Hans-Ruedi Meuwly
Controller, International Division

Roland Wismer
Treasurer

Peter Weyermann
General Manager
CMC Europe AG
CMC International AG

Richard Adams
Managing Director
CMC UK Ltd.

Klaus Marschall
General Manager
Commercial Metals 
Deutschland GmbH

CENTRAL EASTERN EUROPE/CMCZ

Ludovit Gajdos
President

STRUCTURED FINANCE GROUP

Kai Leung Chan
Asia

Ludovit Gajdos
Central & Eastern Europe

Jose Puente
Americas

Roland Wismer
Europe
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Corporate Information

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Commercial Metals Company
6565 N. MacArthur Blvd.
Suite 800
Irving, Texas 75039
Telephone: 214.689.4300

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Shareholder inquiries should be addressed to Commercial Metals Company
Shareholder Services at Mellon Investor Services LLC, Commercial Metals’
transfer agent:

Mellon Investor Services, LLC
480 Washington Blvd.
Jersey City, New Jersey 07310
800.303.4931

An automated voice response system is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week. Service representatives are available during normal business hours.

As a CMC shareholder, you are invited to take advantage of our convenient
shareholder services or request more information about CMC.

Mellon Investor Services, our transfer agent, maintains the records for our
registered shareholders and can help you with a variety of shareholder-related
services at no charge, including:

• Change of name or address
• Consolidation of accounts
• Duplicate mailings
• Lost stock certificates
• Transfer of stock to another person

Access your account online 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. 
For more information, go to www.melloninvestor.com/isd.

DIVIDEND DIRECT DEPOSIT

For information about direct deposit of dividends to your bank account at no
charge to you, visit www.melloninvestor.com/isd 
or contact Mellon Investor Services at 800.303.4931.

ELECTRONIC ACCOUNT ACCESS AND EMAIL DELIVERY
OF SHAREHOLDER MATERIALS VIA MLINKSM

Electronic access to your financial statements and shareholder communications
is now available with MLinkSM, a new program from Mellon Investor Services.
Access your important shareholder communications online 24 hours a day,
7 days a week within a secure, customized mailbox. You can view and print
your 1099 tax documents, notification of ACH transmissions, transaction
activities, annual meeting materials and other selected correspondence.

Here are just some of the benefits of online access:

• Email notifications of account activity
• Secure access to your documents in a customized, online mailbox
• Convenient, flexible access to your mailbox 24 hours a day, 7 days a week
• Convenient management of your shareholder documents 

(download and print)

Enrollment in MLinkSM is quick and easy! Just log on to Investor Service
Direct at www.melloninvestor.com/isd and follow the step-by-step instructions.

COMMERCIAL METALS COMPANY ON THE INTERNET

Commercial Metals Company publications and important shareholder 
information are available on the internet at:
www.cmc.com

• Annual Reports
• SEC Filings
• Press Releases
• Corporate Governance Information
• Current Stock Price
• Dividend Information
• Management Presentations
• Contact Information

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our corporate governance materials are available by selecting About the
Company on our website at www.cmc.com, including:

• Governance Guidelines
• Board Committee Charters
• Policy of Business Conduct and Ethics
• Financial Code of Ethics
• Policy on Insider Trading
• Accounting Complaint Procedure & Policy

EXECUTIVE CERTIFICATIONS

Commercial Metals Company has included as Exhibit 31 to its 2006 Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities & Exchange Commission 
certificates of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer
of the Company regarding the quality of the Company’s public disclosure as
required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company has also
submitted to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) a certificate of the CEO
certifying that he is not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE 
corporate governance listing standards.

AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Dallas, Texas

ANNUAL MEETING

January 25, 2007
10:00 A.M. C.S.T.
Four Seasons Conference Facility
4150 N. MacArthur Blvd.
Irving, Texas

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

New York Stock Exchange
Symbol: CMC

FORM 10-K

Copies of the Corporation’s Form 10-K are available from:

Secretary
Commercial Metals Company
P. O. Box 1046
Dallas, Texas 75221-1046

WEB SITE

www.cmc.com
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SCULPTURES FROM CMC’S 28TH ANNUAL “SCRAP CAN BE BEAUTIFUL” CONTEST.

Students created the artwork using metal collected at a CMC scrap processing facility.
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